

RIDING MY BROTHER'S BEST FRIEND

AN AGE GAP, CURVY GIRL ROMANCE

A MAN WHO KNOWS WHAT HE WANTS, 333 FLORA FERRARI

CONTENTS

NEWSLETTER Chapter 1 Chapter 2 Chapter 3 Chapter 4 Chapter 5 Chapter 6 Chapter 7 Chapter 8 Chapter 9 Chapter 10 Chapter 11 Chapter 12 Chapter 13 Chapter 14 Chapter 15 Chapter 16 Chapter 17 Chapter 18 Chapter 19 Chapter 20 Chapter 21 Chapter 22 Chapter 23 Chapter 24 Chapter 25 Chapter 26 **Epilogue Epilogue Epilogue** Top Reads

Kidnapped By My Mom's Ex

Riding My Brother's Best Friend

NEWSLETTER

A MAN WHO KNOWS WHAT HE WANTS

BRATVA BEAR SHIFTERS

LAIRDS & LADIES

RUSSIAN UNDERWORLD

IRISH WOLF SHIFTERS

INKED BY LOVE

TEXT ME YOU LOVE ME

Collaborations

About the Author

Copyright © 2023 by Flora Ferrari

All rights reserved.

No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means, including information storage and retrieval systems, without written permission from the author, except for the use of brief quotations in a book review.

This book is a work of fiction. Names, characters, places, and incidents are either the product of the author's imagination or are used fictitiously, and any resemblance to actual persons, living or dead, events or locales is entirely coincidental.

The following story contains mature themes, strong language and sexual situations. It is intended for mature readers.

RIDING MY BROTHER'S BEST FRIEND

He used to read bedtime stories to me. It was just a silly crush, but now we're speeding across the country together.

I've always been the dorky kid sister. Kai is eleven years older than me, ripped, rugged, and so intense every girl in town wants him, but he's never had eyes for anyone. So there's no way he would look twice at me.

The last time he was here, I was seventeen. Now, at nineteen, he looks at me differently. At first, I think his broody, intense energy is anger, but then he offers to take me on a trip. I think he's just trying to be nice. I don't guess he's hiding a secret until it's too late—until my brother is already in danger.

Ryan and Kai have been friends since before I was born. They're inseparable. They run the Titans together. Nothing is supposed to be able to come between them except me, apparently.

What isn't Kai telling me? And why, when I say I want to go home, does he tell me he'll keep me prisoner if he has to?

- "You belong to me, firecracker. You're not going anywhere."
- * Riding My Brother's Best Friend is an insta-everything standalone romance with a HEA, no cheating, and no cliffhanger.

NEWSLETTER

Get a free, new, original story NOW by joining my mailing list and staying subscribed.

CLICK HERE >> Get a FREE book now

CHAPTER ONE

K ayla

"You knew he was sick?"

My voice is torn with agony and disbelief.

Ryan stands at the window of our kitchen. It's the same one Mom used to bake apple pies in, the room smelling so homely. It's the same place we've had countless family scenes and so much happiness. We never worried that Mom would die in a bus crash and Dad, a few years later, would get an incurable illness—the big C. I hate even thinking of its name.

Since I was sixteen, it's just been me and Ryan, and now he won't look at me, gazing out over the dusty hill that leads to our small corner of California. He's wearing his Titan's MC jacket, the motorcycle club my dad started.

Ryan glances at me, his mop of black hair falling over his eyes. I'm nineteen. He's thirty-two. He's always been just as much of a father figure to me as Dad, and that was doubly true when Dad passed.

"Talk to me," I snap, hurrying across the room.

Ryan sighs and stuffs his hands in his pockets. He's tall and lean, with sharp cheekbones. He has Mom's eyes. It always makes me sad when I think about that.

He's watching the hill as if expecting an army of motorbikes to surge over it any second. He's been tense lately, maybe because he recently split with his girlfriend, or perhaps it's something else. He won't talk to me.

I grab his arm, spin him roughly, and force him to look at me. "Did you know Dad was sick?"

Dad hid his illness for a year, spending most of his time at the motorcycle club, not telling me and, I thought, Ryan.

"I thought we were *both* in the dark, but you knew?"

He swallows and nods shortly. "I'm sorry. He told me soon after they diagnosed him."

"Did he make you promise not to tell?" I demand.

This could be the saving grace. If Dad, dying, had *begged* Ryan not to tell me, then I can understand. I can forgive him.

"No," Ryan says. "I made that decision myself."

I take a step back, shaking my head.

"It's the anniversary tomorrow." What an upbeat word for what it is the day my dad died. "I'm ready, and you drop this on me *now?*"

Ryan's eyes flit to my duffle bag. We have a tradition of camping on the peak that overlooks our small town. It's where Dad used to take us when we were kids. Just me and Ryan, remembering the good times. This will be our third year. Or it would've been if Ryan hadn't thrown this news at me.

"I don't understand why you didn't tell me. We've always told each other *everything*."

"There's no excuse," he says darkly.

"Aren't you going to defend yourself, at least?"

"I don't think I can."

"Jesus, Ryan."

He bows his head and nods, his teeth gritted. "I never wanted to lie to you, but you must know."

"You have to give me a reason."

He folds his arms, turning fully to me now. A thousand versions of him flutter across my memory. My wannabe poet's mind starts composing some probably terrible lines.

A titan, staring,

But I'm not lost.

The ocean glaring

And now we sail together.

Just us, only us,

We can do it.

We can do anything.

God, how dramatic, and now I'm almost crying. I feel so immature as I walk across the room and grab the kitchen towel, roughly pawing at my cheeks. Memories of Dad attack me: bobbing up and down on his knee, his voice as he read bedtime stories to me.

But *that* leads me to the other man who used to read me stories: his husky voice and dark eyes. The calm concealed a world of fire, heat, and potential violence—

Kai. I won't think about him. He's been gone for two years. When I was seventeen, he left to work with the European branch of the Titans. I sometimes hear him and Ryan talking on the phone, my entire body tingling at Kai's voice, but I lock that away. I lock it down deep.

Ryan and Kai have been best friends for as long as I can remember. Hell, when Kai *started* reading stories to me, we were both kids. I was four, and he was seventeen. Mom and Dad loved Kai so much and treated him like family, which helped because he never had one of his own.

"I'm going to stay at the apartment," I say, not looking at Ryan. I'm not sure if that comes from guilt or rage.

The apartment is the two-bedroom Ryan bought in town a couple of years ago. Sometimes, he'll stay there when handling business, or I'll stay there if I'm spending time with friends or working late at the diner.

I've taken some holiday time, just like last year when working at the diner as a summer job. Now, there's no more high school, just the diner and the wild, weird dreams of being a poet—the most unsustainable and unlikely profession.

"I understand," Ryan says, walking over and wrapping his arms around me. I almost yell at him to take his hands off, but the feeling is too familiar. Falling into his arms, holding him, and letting him hold me. "I love you."

There are more tears in my eyes. "I have to go."

He's about to say *Kayla*, but I only hear the first part. It's almost like he says *Kai*, and that reminds me of when I was a kid, writing *Kai & Kay* in notebooks, knowing I could never act on these feelings. It would've been a betrayal, just like Ryan betrayed me.

I leave the room and almost run down the hallway. I've got my sneakers on, so I push the door open and walk down the windy, dusty road leading to town. I could've taken the pickup, but the keys are on a hook in the kitchen. Anyway, I want to walk. Maybe the motion will clear my head, though I've never been the biggest fan of exercise.

I walk with my head raised. If I stare at the ground, my thoughts will collapse inward like a sinkhole. I won't be able to do anything except think about all the moments I missed. Ryan supported Dad, caring for him, but I didn't even know anything was wrong.

Only toward the end, when he collapsed, I finally saw past what I expected him to be to what he had become—shrunken, half of the man he was. I hated myself for not noticing sooner. Maybe I still do. How could I miss that?

After five minutes of walking, the town is in sight, lying in a natural dip in the terrain. Everything is tinted yellow. As the midday sun blazes, I hear a bike engine roaring behind me. I turn to find a cloud of dust swirling in the air, so I can only see Ryan's silhouette. He must want to talk about what just happened, though I don't know if I can, don't know if I've got

any more words in me. Maybe some bad poetry. Maybe some lines of pain.

I turn and walk quicker, though obviously, that's a fool's game. It's not like I've got bionic legs. I'm not outrunning him. The bike gets closer, and I clench my fists. The sound of bikes usually brings a smile to my face. It means my brother or his friends, who are all friendly and respectful to me, are here. It means comradery and warmth.

Once, it even meant Kai. *That* didn't make me smile. That rumbling made my insides quiver and my soul hurt. It made me think of a life where this huge, handsome, hot-as-hell man and I could be together.

The bike pulls around in front of me. The driver comes to a clean stop. He handles the bike even better than Ryan, which says a lot. It's not my brother. I bite down, stepping back, wondering if I've got a heatstroke. A light layer of sweat covers my body, so maybe that's what's happening here. Perhaps I'm losing my mind.

Kai steps off the bike. I know it's him even before he takes his helmet off and lays it on the ground. He's the same age as Kai, thirty-two, with dark black hair grown a little wild, swept to the side to keep it out of his eyes. A few specks of silver glisten in the sun, giving him a more mature look than the last time I saw him.

He wears his leather, which outlines his broad shoulders and muscular arms. His face is perfect from every angle. I should know. I studied it a *lot* growing up. His eyes are bright green. Maybe that's it, but the green becomes a raging fire in other lights—ready for violence and prepared to do what has to be done for the club. He's not just Kai's best friend. He's his right-hand man.

If I acted on these feelings, I'd ruin a friendship *and* put the club at risk. It's a good thing he'd never want me.

CHAPTER TWO

K ai

I don't want her. I *need* her. This wasn't part of the plan.

My manhood is pushing against the inside of my jeans, and my heart is pounding against my leather-clad chest. I clench my fists as I walk across the dusty, sunbaked ground and stand over her.

Before I left for Europe, she was a shy kid in braces. The days of the bright-eyed, confident girl listening to me read bedtime stories are long gone. She was a bookish, withdrawn teenager, nodding hello when I visited and waving goodbye but never anything more.

Now, her braces are gone. Her smile is different, more *womanly*, her full features highlighted by her wavy brown hair framing her face. Her body is delightfully curvy, triggering things deep inside of me. My shaft throbs as if begging for her hand.

She's wearing a light fabric dress that rests against her body, subtly outlining her shape. Suddenly, I imagine somebody else noticing this. I'd kill them.

She's mine. What the *fuck?* But she is, that's the thing. I don't have to question it. Somehow, I know my best friend's baby sister is my girl. I know she belongs to me, and she always will.

I think about grabbing her hips, wide and perfect for childbearing. This is serious. I don't understand what's happening to me. I've never hungered for anybody like this. I'm starving for her.

"K-Kai?" she whispers, as though she's seeing things.

I take a moment to steady myself. If I'm going to do this, I need to stay solid. I can't give in to these thoughts crashing around my head. I can't slowly pull her dress up, revealing her thick, creamy thighs. I can't slide my hand between her legs and palm her pussy.

She'll look at me wide-eyed, nervous, knowing we must stop, knowing we're betraying Ryan. Then her beautiful features will crumple into lust. She'll start moving her hips, driving closer to the pleasure, unable to fight it. Neither of us will be able to, and those tits, dammit.

"Hey, Kayla," I say, breezy and easy somehow. "How have you been?"

"Uh... yeah, good. I'm working at Joe's Diner now. Sorry. You don't need to know that."

I step forward, close enough to smell her perfume. Or is it just her? Whatever it is, it's a tempting scent that has my tip throbbing, roaring out for her touch. The engine inside me rumbles to life, growling as it tells me to guide my woman onto her back and open her legs. Drive my rock-hard dick inside her, claim, and thrust until I explode inside her. Then she'll give me a child.

I've gone from a man content to die alone to a man who can't imagine the rest of my life without my best friend's sister. How have you done this, Kayla? How are you so perfect? I imagine brushing my hand along her cheek, telling her she never has to be sorry.

"I just spoke to Ryan," I say instead. "He told me what happened. I'm only in town for the afternoon. Then I'm heading east. I've got a package to drop off in Illinois. Sort of cargo I can't put on a plane."

I feel bad telling her this. I never expected to feel that way, to care. When I agreed to this, I thought of her as Ryan's baby sister. Now she's all woman, but I can't back out. I made a promise.

"Oh," she murmurs, biting her lip as if stopping herself from asking what the package is. She's known bikers long enough to know I won't tell her. "Okay, well... nice seeing you."

"Actually..."

I step closer, aware there's no one around, just us, and there are plenty of spots I could take her around here. The savage in me wants to lay my jacket in the dust and tell her to kneel on it. I'd push that big sexy ass out, begging me to slam into her from behind and make her pussy cream.

There's another part—the future father of her children, her future husband—who wants to get her the best bed with the best sheets money can buy. I'd treat her like a queen and fuck her like a princess.

"I was wondering if you wanted to come with me," I say.

"To Illinois?"

I knew this wouldn't work. Now, half of me doesn't want it to work. If she agrees, it means riding with her across the country. It means having her arms wrapped around me, trying not to get hard, or letting my mind spin into savage, hungry places.

"Yeah. Ryan told me about the argument. I figured you could use some time away from Melusine."

"Ryan told you? When? It just happened."

"He called and told me I might see you on the road." This part is true, at least.

"So Ryan asked you to make this offer?"

She sounds bitter. She might disagree if she doesn't think I want her to come. I promised Ryan I'd make this happen. It's the first thing he's asked me to do since I returned to the States.

"I could use the company, too," I tell her, knowing this is probably a mistake, knowing we should find another way.

"Hmm," she says, looking at the ground. "You've never needed the company before. People call you a lone wolf. Did you know that?"

"Maybe I'm getting tired of it. Are you going to make me beg?"

Her cheeks turn a pretty shade of red. She glances at me, then looks away as if she can't stare for too long. It's just how I can't look at her for too long without thinking a thousand steamy thoughts. All of them would make me a traitor—the lowest of the low. I'd be a man who hits on his friend's sister, but Ryan's more than a friend. He's the leader of the Titans. I'd be betraying the club, too.

People may call me a lone wolf, but they know I'll be there when they need me. They know I put the club above everything. They know I'm a solid man. They can rely on me. Can't they?

"I should be here for Dad," she murmurs, but a twitch in her voice tells me she's thinking about it.

Or maybe I just think I can read her far better than I can.

"I could read you a story just like old times," I say, smirking.

"I'm not a kid anymore," she snaps, suddenly sassy as hell.

I hold my hands up, chuckling. I have to keep this shield up. The smirk. The casualness. The same old Kai. Nothing about how I really feel can shine through.

Not for a second.

"It could be fun," I say, shrugging like it doesn't matter. "And just think, you'll have plenty of inspiration for your poetry. Are you still interested in that?"

She stands a little straighter, a note of dignity in her posture. "I won an online competition a few months ago."

"Well done. You should be proud."

"I don't mean to brag."

"I didn't think you were bragging."

She sighs, shaking her head and then nodding. "Oh, I don't know. To be honest, I'd love to get away for a few days, but I don't want to be a tagalong. You're only asking me because Ryan asked you to, right?"

"I'm asking because—"

"No." She steps forward, looking up at me with a mixed expression, one part confident, with several spoonfuls of shyness. She pushes past the nerves. "Tell me the truth. Please, Kai. I've been lied to enough today."

She's asking for the impossible. I can't tell her the truth, at least not all of it.

"Ryan asked me to ask you," I say, "but that doesn't mean it's inconvenient. I meant what I said. I could do with the company."

Say yes, Kayla, or I'll have to take you anyway.

"Are you sure you're sure?"

"I'm sure, I'm sure. I'm goddamn sure," I grin. "Come on. We'll pack a bag for you."

She smiles shakily. "On the b-bike?"

"Since when did you develop a stutter?"

"I haven't. I guess I'm just... It's hot. I just learned something pretty messed up. Do you need any more reasons?"

I smirk. I can't help it. "Since when did you get so feisty?"

"I'm not feisty."

She marches over to my Harley, the beautiful, sexy liar. She definitely is feisty.

Joining her, I climb onto the bike and look over my shoulder.

"Well, are you coming or not?"

She nods and climbs onto the back of the bike. Thank God my jacket is zipped up, but I still feel her push against my back.

"Don't you have any grips?" she murmurs.

"Never had any need," I say.

"So should I..."

I swallow. My dick is almost hurting. There's so much tension in me, so much hunger.

"It's fine," I tell her.

She wraps her arms around me, my heart thudding so hard I'm sure she must be able to feel it.

"Wait"

I step off the bike, knowing I can't do this and have to find a way to back out, but wouldn't that mean putting her in danger?

"Is something wrong?" she murmurs, stepping off the bike, her cheeks even redder than before.

"N-no..."

Now *I've* developed a sudden stutter. I lean down, pick up my helmet, and dust it off. I'd never normally place it on the ground, but seeing her, I lost my mind.

"We forgot this."

I carefully place the helmet over her head. When she raises her hand to adjust it, our hands touch, electricity sparking up my arm. Hunger, as I've never felt. Her hand needs a ring on it. It needs to be wrapped around my dick. It needs, needs, needs...

Need. That's what I've become, right down to my bones.

"Let's go."

We drive back toward the house, her hands pressing against me tightly.

CHAPTER THREE

K ayla

As he rides back the way I just walked, I have to remind myself that this isn't a dream. This is actually happening. My hands are wrapped around him. The bike thrums beneath us, the engine vibrating like he's doing it on purpose, trying to add to the pleasure.

Is this real?

This destiny-touched feeling,

Being so close to my man,

Has my soul reeling.

Not my best work, but I don't think anybody could blame me. My mouth feels dry. I'm relieved I'm wearing the helmet. Not for any safety concerns, but because I know I'd be tempted to lean up and bite down on his neck. All those bedtime stories, all that hard crushing, and now I'm crushing his jacket in my hands, squeezing tightly.

He doesn't drive up the road to the house straightaway. Instead, he takes a turn toward our family's private cemetery. It's where Mom's buried, too. I want to ask him what he's doing, but I feel like I can't speak. Anyway, I doubt he would hear with the engine and the helmet covering my mouth.

I squeeze my hands tighter against his jacket. What would he do if I reached up and unzipped it, felt his chest, his muscles

pushing through his shirt? The rumbling of the engine makes my sex ache and my belly sizzle.

My belly *sizzle?* What am I, a prime cut of sausage? I need to get a grip on my sanity, not Kai's body.

Finally, he stops on the gravel path. The private cemetery sits a few yards away, surrounded by a small wooden fence. I still remember Kai and Ryan building this fence together. I sat nearby, sadness warring with the hunger I felt—and still feel—every time I looked at Kai. Taking the hint, I step off the bike and remove my helmet.

Kai steps off a moment later, turning to me, his eyes hard. "I'm not doing anything until I pay my respects."

"I understand," I tell him, finding it difficult to look him in the face. Am I really going to be able to go on a road trip with him? What if I completely lose my mind and go into full dork mode?

"The next part might seem a little strange," Kai says in his usual gruff voice.

It's difficult to tell if he's pissed at me for some reason or if this is just his regular tone. Either way, I want to be close to him, find out how he really feels—claw beneath that rough exterior and see the man underneath.

"Okay..."

He laughs gruffly, sounding somehow savage. "It's a club tradition. Your old man brought me and Ryan into the mountains when we were kids. We howled at the moon like animals. He taught us that when the time came, we should be able to let the Titan in us out, but we also had to have control." He looks at me with meaning, though maybe I'm imagining it. "Total control."

An overactive part of my mind wonders if he's hinting at the fact that he finds it difficult to keep control with me, or maybe he wants total control *over* me.

He walks to the small cemetery, opens the wooden gate, and kneels beside Dad's headstone. I walk into the cemetery behind him, swallowing as grief touches me. Kai bows his head like he's praying. He mutters something.

I inch closer, hearing his low, urgent tone. The huskiness in his voice almost has me screaming. He's saying the Titan's pledge, reaffirming his loyalty to the club. "... I am a Titan down to my bones, down to my blood, and I'll bleed if I have to..."

Then, suddenly, he throws his head back and roars at the sky. I take a few steps back; the sound is so animalistic. He roars again, then turns it into a howl, standing and beating his hands against his chest. I can hear the grief, rage, and pain in his voice. He hammers his powerful fists against his muscular body. Slowly, he lets the howl turn quiet, then turns to me.

"I told you it would seem strange."

I shake my head, my mind full of inappropriate thoughts, especially considering where we are. I should be thinking of Dad, of him and Ryan and Kai out here howling together. Yet when I heard Kai turn full beast, I only wanted to cling to him and for him to hold me and tell me I'm his.

"Uh, it's okay," I murmur.

He approaches me. I take another step back. It's instinct. It's not like I do it on purpose. Something deep inside me knows that if I don't move away, I'll lose any semblance of control and throw myself at him.

"Did I scare you?" he says. It's difficult to tell if he sees this as good or bad.

"No," I say, honestly.

This isn't fear in my heart,

Longing like I've never dreamed.

Maybe this is only the start,

Or maybe...

I can't think of any more lines. He's standing so close, staring down at me, *into* me. For a crazy second, I think he might kiss

me. There's no way life would be this perfect. Of course not... He turns away.

"We should get going," Kai grunts. "Ryan's waiting for me, but I had to pay my respects. Always. Your old man saved me."

We return to the bike. I take the helmet from the back seat and pull it on. When Ryan climbs onto the bike, I focus on not losing my cool. If we're traveling together, I need to get used to touching him, but I know each time will feel like the first. At least he's got that leather on, meaning I'm not touching his muscles, feeling his heat, strength, and protectiveness. No, *stop*. He's not protective of me. I'm just his friend's dorky kid sister. That's all he'll ever see me as.

"They're downstairs now," I tell Natasha, my best friend and the only person who knows about my crush on Kai.

Natasha and I have been friends since middle school. I try to imagine how I'd feel if Ryan had a crush on her. I know I'd hate it. It would make me feel so betrayed and wronged like the universe doesn't make sense. The Hypocrite of the Year award goes to...

I'm in my bedroom packing a small bag, nothing extravagant. Natasha is on speakerphone, though I have to listen closely to hear her past the radio. I turned it on the second I called her like we're in a spy flick, and I can't risk being overheard.

"You sound drunk," Natasha says. "Are you?"

"No, I don't drink. You know that." I'm still reeling from the scene at the cemetery and the ride over here. If I sound intoxicated, *that's* why.

She laughs softly. "I *know*, but seriously, you sound giddy. You can tell me you're nervous and unsure if you should do this, but you can't deny you *want* to."

"If it wasn't for the argument, there's no way I'd leave right now. I'd normally be here for the anniversary, but I don't know. I just can't."

"You don't have to justify it to me. Honestly, I think you should enjoy it."

"Enjoy it?" I try to laugh as if I can pretend the thought of finding pleasure in this hasn't crossed my mind. "I'm not sure I'll be able to."

"Think of the sights, the experiences, at least. Isn't that what Miss Poet would want?"

"That's what Kai said," I murmur. "It would be a good inspiration for poetry. I was a little surprised he even remembered I liked poetry. Maybe Ryan mentioned it to him or something."

"Or maybe you made more of an impression than you think."

"Ew, Nat," I say. "I wasn't even eighteen the last time he saw me."

"I don't mean like *that*. I think you're a special person. It's not surprising to me he remembered something about you. Anyway, you're his best friend's little sister."

"Like I need reminding of that."

"Sorry. I'm not helping, am I?"

I stuff a T-shirt into my bag, knowing I have to preserve space. "No, *I'm* sorry. You're right. I should try to enjoy it for what it is. It's not like *he* has any of the same feelings."

Natalie doesn't disagree with this. Instead, she tells me she has dance practice in a few hours. After graduating, she moved out of town and joined a dance troupe in LA. She's bussing tables and cleaning offices to make it financially viable. It's hard, but she's doing it. I respect her so much for that.

"Remember what I said," she says toward the end of the phone call. "Try to *enjoy* it."

"I will"

It's crazy, but there's a big, big part of me that blames Ryan for this. If he'd never told me about Dad, the secret, I know I could find the willpower to stay. I'd have to for my and Ryan's

tradition for Dad, but clearly, Ryan doesn't care. He's the one who asked Kai to take me. Ryan never would've done that if he knew the truth, but he did. He asked him. He wants me gone.

I zip up my bag, taking a moment to summon my resolve. I'll ignore all the ways Kai tempts me. I won't cave to the desire inside. He's a lone wolf, but maybe he could exempt me. No, I need to let this love die.

Wait, am I writing poetry by accident? It's rhyming in my head. I've always been mentally linguistic, thinking in words more than images. I imagine Kai's mind all hunger, scents, and primal impulses, and then his voice calls over it all when *he* feels like it, a God's voice, husky and strong.

I pick up my bag and take a breath. I think I'm ready. I hope.

I stop outside the living room, knowing this is wrong but that they haven't heard me yet. The door is slightly open, but not enough for them to see me.

Their voices come through the walls like when I was a kid. Back then, they talked about fighting and bikes. Sometimes, Ryan would talk about girls, but not Kai. He'd just grunt or stay silent.

I used to tell myself it was because he was waiting for me. Like I said to Natasha, that's *ew*, but it's what I used to think. Now, I step close and push my ear against the wall.

Kai sounds even more pissed than I *guessed* he would be. He sounds like he's just been tasked with entertaining the boss's annoying tagalong sister.

"I mean it," Ryan replies. "She needs to get away for a few days, clear her head, forget about Mom and Dad and all that crap."

[&]quot;Thanks for doing this," Ryan says.

[&]quot;You don't have to keep saying that."

"You've had it tough. Both of you."

Ryan laughs quietly as I adjust my position against the wall. I was about to step on the notoriously squeaky floorboard by mistake.

"We haven't experienced anything compared to you."

Kai's laugh turns into more of a grunt, just like the old days. "That old stuff? It's ancient history."

"You were a kid."

"I said it's ancient history."

There's an edge to Kai's voice. It's common knowledge that *something* terrible happened to Kai as a teenager before he moved to Melusine to live with his aunt at eleven. Then his aunt up and left, leaving Kai with her ex-boyfriend. Then the boyfriend left, and Kai lived in that house alone with help from the Titans. He showed right away he was born to the life.

I don't know the specifics, only that he must've been one hell of a kid to hang with the club at such a young age. Dad once told me they never had him do anything bad, but he proved his worth every single day.

What happened to you, Kai, before you moved here? Where did that darkness come from?

"Fair enough," Ryan says. "Have you got the package?"

"Safe and sound."

"Try not to lose it."

Kai laughs gruffly. "Really? I was going to swing by the Grand Canyon and drop it in."

"Ha, ha, ha."

"You'll take the fifteen, then the seventy?"

"Most likely."

"Don't be afraid to go on a few detours. No need to rush back. The longer she's gone..." His voice gets grim. "The better."

I tell myself I don't care. He's the liar. He can get as cocky and cruel as he wants, but hearing so much anger in his voice still

hurts, like it's somehow my fault.

"I wish I could stay here."

Another stab to the heart. Kai sounds like he'd rather be doing anything else than taking me. Should I call this off? But I can't hang around town when Ryan's being such a dick. Or is that an excuse? Maybe I really want to go with Kai, even if he's doing it reluctantly. I can tell myself it's inspiration for poetry or to get away from my brother. Maybe it's just this feeling, this ache, this desire.

I packed my notebook—one of my old ones, with *Kai & Kay* written in it. Why would I do that? What's wrong with me?

When I hear footsteps approaching the door, I hurry into the kitchen and put my bag on the table. Kai enters a moment later, green eyes narrowed.

"Everything okay?"

"Yeah, why?"

He nods, but he's still looking at me perceptively. "Are you ready?"

"Yeah, just let me grab my helmet."

I rarely use it now that I have a license, but I used to ride with Ryan fairly often. He hardly ever uses cars, so if I wanted a ride, it was the bike.

As I walk out the front door, I'm sure I can *feel* Ryan watching me from the front window, but I don't look back.

CHAPTER FOUR

K ai

I can't tell if Kayla overheard us. When I found her in the kitchen, she looked mischievous as hell, trying to hide it with her wide, innocent eyes and those flushed cheeks. Her hair was a little tousled, like she'd moved quickly.

I tried to note it all distantly as if it didn't matter. As if just looking at her wasn't making my shaft swell, precome leak, and hunger burn—everything roaring at me to claim, own, and take her.

She made an excuse and hurried upstairs. I'm wary about following her. There's a beast in me, more than a Titan. It's a hungry, savage impulse to strip off her clothes and indulge endlessly in her curvy body. Lick and bite and kiss and spank and *own*.

I take the stairs slowly, my heart pounding so damn hard. Pausing outside her bedroom, I remember the last time I was here when she was a kid, and I had one of those silly storybooks in my hands. This is that *same* girl. I've got to remember that—my best friend's little sister. Just because she's got curves and kissable lips and...

She looks startled when she opens the door and sees me standing here. My manhood aches. My balls are way too damn full.

"Uh, you okay?" she asks, cheeks flushing a deep, tempting red, making her look even more youthful.

"I was going to ask you the same thing," I say gruffly.

She flinches. I need to work on speaking more respectfully, but it's difficult to speak to her at all. If I let out how I really feel for a moment, there's a danger I'll let it *all* out. I'll tell her she better get in that bedroom and bend over right away, show me her curvy ass, and get ready for me to turn it red with possessive spanks.

"I'm fine," she replies. "I just wanted to know if you're cool with me tagging along. That's all."

Truthfully, no. Hell no. I know that traveling with my woman is a high-risk scenario. If I let my defenses lapse for a second, it's over. My hands will be all over her. I'll kiss her like I mean it. I'll tell her she's mine, only mine. She'll never belong to anybody else. It'll be bad news, but I made a promise.

"I wouldn't have offered otherwise," I say. "Are you having second thoughts?"

She arches an eyebrow at me like she's trying to imply something. Maybe she *did* overhear. It doesn't matter. I have to take her.

"N-no," she says after a pause. "Not if you're not."

I step forward, aware Ryan is downstairs. I could reach forward right this second, place my hands on her hips, squeeze, and feel her thickness. She has no idea how wild she's making me. My body hungers for her touch again, even through the leather jacket. To feel her against me, naked, skin on skin... Fuck, I'm getting hard.

"Good," I grunt. "Then let's get going. We're wasting time."

"This must be a really important package," she says.

I turn away. I can't lie to her again. Though, I should get used to it. It's not as if I can tell her the truth. This road trip is going to be full of lies. It's a damn shame, but it's how it must be.

"I'll be outside," I say, heading for the stairs.

"Okay," she replies. Then, in a quieter voice, she says, "Rude."

I almost turn and start bantering with her, but it's better if she sees me as distant, even mean. It's better than the reality of what's happening here.

Now, we're driving across the dusty plains out of Melusine. The horizon shimmers in the heat. My body is sweaty in my leather, but not from the layers. It's from her, my Kayla. *My* Kayla? Jesus. That's how I think of her now. My Kayla, her arms wrapped around me, squeezing tight.

Every few seconds, I imagine pulling over to the side of the road, pulling her helmet off, kissing her, feeling her, massaging those thick, perfect hips. I have to push these fantasies away, let them thrum at some distant point in the back of my head.

I try to think of her as the little kid lying in bed as I read from one of her books. Mostly, it was to pay the Lewis family back for everything they'd done for me. They liked me reading to her, and I didn't mind, but I can't connect the woman clutching onto me with that kid. I know they're the same person, but it doesn't feel that way. She seems so different.

Am I a good man? I try to be as much as this life will let me.

I ride for a while, then pull into a gas station just off Route 15. My woman climbs off, stretching her arms above her head. She changed into denim overalls with a leather jacket at the house. Now, she's a gorgeous, messy-haired biker chick, making her even more attractive than earlier.

"Do you want anything from inside?" she asks.

"I'm fine."

"Okay."

Things are tense between us, far more than I want them to be. I have to keep reminding myself that this awkwardness is the

best situation. It's better than showing how I really feel.

Still, as she walks toward the gas station, I can't help but stare at her. Her hips move provocatively. She's not purposefully putting on a show, but in my mind, she is just for me. My fingers twitch like I'm practicing what it will be like, grabbing and massaging her ass.

After I fill the bike, I head into the gas station, the AC blasting me with icy air. Kayla is at the counter, finishing up.

She turns with a bottle of water in her hand, giving me some seriously evil eyes. She must've overheard us. Or maybe she was listening intentionally. If that's the case, I bet she misinterpreted a lot of things.

She walks right by me, her arms folded. The leather jacket is open, showing the top of her overalls. She's wearing a light T-shirt underneath, and I can just about make out one of her pink bra straps. I'm torn between tearing off her clothes and telling her to zip up the jacket.

At the counter, the cashier smiles. He's a friendly older man.

"Just the gas," I say, nodding outside as I reach into my jacket for my wallet.

"For the bike?" the man asks.

"Yessir."

"Your friend already paid," he said.

"She..."

I look outside to find Kayla leaning against the bike, her arms still folded, glaring at me like she's trying to win a prize for the world's prettiest pout. I can't help but smirk, then chuckle.

"Well, all right then. Have a good day."

"And you."

I leave the gas station, the air immediately furnace-like. It's different from England, where I spent most of my time these past couple of years doing predictable and easy work for the club. It was important work, too, helping the Titans over there become self-sufficient.

"Why the long face?" Kayla says when I approach.

She thinks she's so clever. She is clever and beautiful. She's going to make the best babies. I shouldn't let myself flirt, but I can't let her win this, as petty as that is. Clearly, *I'm* not the mature one here.

"I think he might've overcharged me."

She pushes away from my bike and looks me up and down. "For what? You haven't got anything."

"For the gas."

"Wait... what? He charged you for the gas?"

"Yeah, I think he overcharged me by ten dollars."

"But..."

Her eyes narrow, righteous rage filling her. This was supposed to be a subtle way to one-up me. Not a chance for a gas station to make some quick, shameless cash.

"I, uh, forgot something," she says.

I smirk and wave a hand. "Go ahead. I'll be here."

I sit on the bike, whistling a tune. The whole time, I'm telling myself that this *isn't* flirting. It's just me being friendly with Ryan's sister by playing a prank on her. It's not something we'll tell our kids about. It's *not*.

She talks with the cashier, then turns and looks at me. I grin over at her.

"Not funny," she says once she's back. "You just made me look like one heck of a doofus."

"I hate to be childish, but you started it."

"Are you going to be this annoying the entire trip?" she huffs, so beautifully flustered.

It makes me want to take her somewhere cooler. Maybe find a pool, or a lake, a private place just for us. Strip her naked and watch the water glisten through her wavy brown hair, over her shy, sassy smile, down her curvy body, clinging to her full nipples.

"Think of all the poems you could write about it," I say, my voice husky as I struggle to suppress these thoughts—thoughts that never end, not even for a second.

"Here's a poem. Kai is a jerk, but his antics won't work. And, uh, my interest, you haven't perked. Shut up."

I laugh at her playful tone. She can't help it. We can't help it. If this is flirting, I don't think it's one-sided.

"I'm not saying anything."

"Let's just go before I die of embarrassment."

"Sounds good to me."

I'd never let her die, though, of embarrassment or anything else. I'd never let anything happen to her.

"Where's our first stop?" she asks, climbing onto the bike.

Her hands wrap around my middle, jolting me back to reality and my duty.

There's too much hunger in me. My dick is getting hard at the slightest touch. If there wasn't leather between us, would I be able to stop?

"We can overnight in Vegas," I tell her. "I'm sure there's lots of inspiration there."

"Isn't your package important? Shouldn't we get it delivered as soon as possible?"

Now, I'm sure she overheard. She must've listened as Ryan told me not to rush back.

"We've got some wiggle room," I say gruffly.

"Okay. Vegas it is."

"From now on," I tell her, "I pay."

"You're not my babysitter. I've got my own money."

We're just sitting near the pump as if we don't want to stop talking or raise our voices over the rushing wind.

"Working at Joe's Diner," I say. "I know. That's good, honest work."

"And the poetry competition paid one thousand dollars. I don't need you to pay my way."

"What if I want to?" I snap.

"Why?"

"It's called being polite."

"Because you're so polite, Kai."

Am I dreaming, or did she playfully press down on my stomach when she said *so?*

"Hey, I try to be. Anyway, you need your money. You're young. I'm an old man. Nothing to spend my cash on."

"That is the craziest thing I've ever heard. You're not *old*. You're in your early thirties. That's your prime."

"It's old compared to a kid like you."

"Is that how you see me, huh? A kid? Just because you outsmarted me once."

I could tell her *yes*. She's a kid in my eyes, but it would be a downright lie. She's all woman, and even if I should, I can't let her think I don't see it.

"No, Kay, I don't."

"Kay?"

"Yeah?"

"No, Kay?"

"Why are you pronouncing my name like that?" I ask.

She laughs, hugging me tighter. I'm not sure she even means to. This bike is letting us get way closer than we otherwise would. I know the risks, but I have to keep going.

"What's so funny?"

"I'm saying, *Kay*, not *Kai*. That's the first time you've called me Kay."

"Is it? It sounds right."

"I... I think I like it, too."

"Good."

I bring the Harley to life. Enough talking. Enough flirting. From now on, I have to be good. We put on our helmets, and we ride.

CHAPTER FIVE

K ayla

Our arrival in Vegas isn't the spectacular light show that it's been the other times I've visited. Mainly because it's only four thirty p.m., the sun is still blazing, and the Strip's not shining into the desert as it does at night.

My body is sore from the riding, so I'm relieved when Kai stops at a diner just outside the city. He pulls into the parking lot, and we both step off the bike. Despite the soreness, part of me wants to stay on the bike with him. It's the perfect excuse to press myself against his body, to feel his heat, to feel something deep within us both communicating, starving for each other.

No, I can't think about that. We had some fun at the gas station and a few laughs. That doesn't erase what I heard. He doesn't want me to be here. He's just making the best of it.

"Hungry?" he asks.

"I could eat."

He looks down at me, his black hair messily swept to the side when he removes his helmet. His jaw is tight like he's holding back all that fire, the raging infernos I used to write poems about.

Kai, burning.

My soul, yearning,

My desire churning.

That was a juvenile attempt. I can't remember the rest. It was a little sloppy but also true.

We go into the diner, a few truckers sitting at one end, a family at the other. The floor and surfaces gleam as the sun shines through the window walls.

"Let's sit over here."

Kai walks quickly to the opposite corner, a booth with its back to the kitchen, most of the diner in sight. He does it instinctively as if he's always expecting something to go down and wants the best vantage point. I imagine him thinking, *I'll* see the fight coming. If we need to run, we can go through the kitchen and out the back.

We sit opposite each other, Kai seeming even bigger in the tight confines of the booth. When he removes his jacket, I try to look anywhere except for his arms. He's wearing a gray tank, his muscled shoulders on display, the red, roaring Titan tattoo shifting on his shoulder as he changes his position. Each muscle is massive, hard, and outlined like a rock, as if touching him could snap a fingernail.

If I notice it—big time—I can't be surprised when the waitress does, too. She's blond and wears a short skirt, her athletic legs on display. She's got a full face of expertly applied makeup, blending and sculpting as I could only dream of. Her nipples are poking through her shirt. There's nothing wrong with any of this. It's her choice. Maybe it helps her get more tips. Perhaps she feels more confident.

However, I don't like the way she eyes Kai. She doesn't glance at me as she asks what we'd like to order. Her voice is bright, bubbly, and inviting. I can't hate an innocent waitress just because she looks at Kai as if she'd devour him here and now. It's not *her* fault I've crushed and am *still* crushing hard on him.

"I'll take three burgers, no bun, no sauce, with a side of scrambled egg and five rashers of bacon. Kay?"

He looks up at me, eyebrow raised. I might be imagining it, but I think he's a little uncomfortable with the waitress ogling him. She's not even being subtle about it, staring at his arms, still not looking at me even when Kai says my name.

"Uh, is this dinner or a late lunch?"

"Late lunch. We'll eat later, too, but get whatever you want."

He says this like he's reading my thoughts. He knows I'm hungry and want to eat, but I don't want him to think I'm greedy. When I hesitate for a moment, he narrows his eyes at me.

I always wished he'd look at me with this level of attention, as though nothing else mattered or existed, as if it was only us, not this waitress, not my big brother, not the guilt. Now that he is, I feel spotlighted, and it's worse when the waitress turns to me with a subtly mocking twist to her lips. Or maybe I'm just being paranoid.

Screw it. Nothing's going on here. Nothing ever will. Let the waitress ogle him.

What do I care?

"I'll take pancakes with chocolate chips," I say, "and a milkshake."

"What's wrong?" Kai asks once the waitress is gone.

I look out the window at the dusty landscape of Vegas, at the Strip just about visible in the hazy, shimmering sun. "Nothing."

He opens his mouth, then thinks better of it, closes his mouth and shrugs. "Okay then."

"I won't be mad," I tell him.

This is going to be seriously immature, but hey, I'm less than half his age. If I can't act a little immature occasionally, what's the point? It's not like he's above that sort of thing, hence his payback prank at the gas station.

"Mad?"

"If you want to, you know, try your luck."

I nod over to the waitress.

Kai glances at her standing at the counter. She leans against it, kicking one leg up, drawing the gazes of the truckers. Even the father of the family in the corner looks over before his wife scowls at him.

Kai looks at me. "I'm not interested."

I lower my voice. "She's clearly interested. Seriously, I won't mind."

He picks up the menu and places it down. It's more like he slams it down, honestly. "Why do you want me to hit on her so badly?"

There's no way I can answer this honestly. Maybe I should reach into my bag, take out the notebook, and shove the *Kai & Kay* in his face so he can understand.

"No reason"

"Hmm"

"What's *hmm* about that?"

He smirks, then laughs as he shakes his head. "Are you always so damn suspicious? A man can say *hmm* without going through an inquisition."

"Maybe we should just sit here quietly."

He shrugs and looks out the window. I fold my arms and stare out the window, too, feeling like I've played this completely wrong. It doesn't matter anyway. I have to remind myself—over and over, it seems—that this is a favor for him. He's performing his duty to my big bro as his right-hand man, nothing more.

"Here you go, honey," the waitress says, putting Kai's plate down. "And your *pancakes*."

She raises her eyebrow at me, puts my plate down, and smiles. Then she turns and walks away, swaying her hips as if waiting for Kai to watch her, but he just falls upon his food like a starving man. He doesn't have poor manners, though. It's

more like he's a machine, methodically consuming the meat, drinking a glass of water, and doing it again.

We don't talk as we eat. When we finish, he puts some bills down, just enough to cover the cost of the food and drinks.

"Why can I feel you looking at me, Kay?" he says as we walk out of the diner.

"You just, uh, didn't leave a tip."

"No," he grunts, "I didn't."

He strides across the lot toward his Harley, gleaming in the sun.

"Why?"

"For all that waitress knew, you could've been my girlfriend or fiancée."

I'm glad he's not looking at me as he says this. He stands next to his bike, adjusting his leather jacket. He'll be able to see it on my face—how badly I want that to be true.

"But she flirted with me anyway, and I saw how she looked at you. I heard the way she talked to you. Some people think they can get away with anything because they're conventionally attractive."

"So, you think she's attractive?"

He finally turns to me. His green eyes flare like he's going to grab me, pull me closer, and become even more intimate than we are when we're riding.

"I said *conventionally*," he snaps. "I've never been a conventional man."

He climbs onto the bike, pulls his helmet on, then lifts the visor. "Come on, sassy. We should get moving."

"Sassy? Really?"

He laughs, kicking the bike to life, the engine grumbling.

"If you've proven anything since we started this trip, it's that you're sassy, Kay."

"Am not," I say, climbing onto the bike.

"Mature, too."

"I could be mature in the right circumstances," I say, trying to make it a joke. However, it sounds so serious, like I'm trying to convince him of something—that I'll be ready when he wants me.

"Hmm," he replies, giving me no hint of how he feels.

I pull on my helmet, wrap my arms around him, and hold tight as we ride together.

Is it petty to want payback? Even thinking of it as *payback* is a little messed up because it's not like anything happened at the diner. As pitiful as it might seem, I can't get the thought of Kai and that waitress out of my head. I keep replaying the scene in the diner, wondering if Kai would've done something with her if I wasn't there.

I want to *scream* thinking about that. I want to howl. I want to hurl something or just plain hurl. As Kai brings the bike to a stop in the motel's parking lot, I wish I could reach into his mind and thoughts. Maybe he's wondering how fast I'll fall asleep tonight, thinking he could head back to that diner and see if that waitress is still working.

God, this jealousy is twisted. He's nothing to me. I should crush this crush.

A girlish dream, nothing more,

If love is wealth, I am poor,

But when our bodies touch, oh-so sore,

He leaves me trembling to my very core.

I may have to quiet my poetry because it's hard to compose a decent line when Kai dominates my thoughts, my feelings, my everything. Or maybe I'm just being harsh on myself because it's what I always do when it comes to my own work.

I follow Kai into the motel's main office, seeing my chance for some payback when I spot the man behind the counter. He looks in his mid-twenties, on the leaner side, with a skin-fade haircut. I can imagine Natasha being attracted to him. I'm not, but that's not saying much. The only person I want—or have ever wanted—is a brooding biker named Kai.

Before Kai can say anything, I approach the desk. An instinct deep inside screams at me not to do this, to *never* flirt with anybody who isn't Kai. I should be able to push this feeling aside with relative ease. After all, it's not like Kai and I are together... or even close.

"Hey," I say, trying to seem as friendly and flirty as possible, even though it feels so wrong.

The man looks up and smiles. "Hello..."

"We'd like two rooms, please."

I look at Kai to see if he'll correct me. Imagine that... My body aches just thinking about it. I can see him stepping forward, laying his strong hands on the desk, and shaking his head. *She's wrong. We're sharing a room and a bed*, but he just stands there like he's carved of stone.

"Sure," the man says.

I want a reaction out of Kai so badly. It's immature. It's a reason that he would never want to be with me, this neediness. *His* women are probably oh-so mature, never stooping to games like these.

"What are you reading?" I ask the man, gesturing to his book.

Another smile. Maybe this is working. I feel bad. It's unfair to this random stranger, making him think he has a chance. Nobody has a chance with me unless they're called Kai.

"The Great Gatsby," he says. "I've read it three times already. I return to it every few years."

"I'm ashamed. I've never read it."

"What?" the man laughs. "If you like literature, you have to try it."

I lean against the desk. "Is it a love story?"

"Sort of..." The man stares at me. Behind me, I *feel* Kai take a step forward. I hear the floorboards creak. It's like he's getting ready for violence. "But it's more a tragedy and, in my opinion, a lesson."

"A lesson?"

"Love can be dangerous. It can turn to obsession way too easily."

Oh, universe, come *on*. It's like fate or some other force planted this man in our lives to give me a wake-up call. "It sounds like a good read—"

Kai places his wallet on the desk. Or perhaps *places* is an understatement. He slams it down and then leans over the man. He's not trying to intimidate him—I don't think so, at least—but he's just so gruff, serious, and intense. The man flinches slightly.

"Two rooms," he says. "Adjoining."

A shiver moves over my body. Adjoining, meaning there will only be a door between us. It would be so easy for him to open it, sneak into my bedroom, move his hands over my body, and...

"Uh..." The man swallows. "Sure."

As the man types into his computer, Kai rolls his shoulders. He seems restless like he wants to ride or fight. When the man gives Kai the price, Kai puts twice as much down on the desk. Maybe he feels bad for making the man flinch.

"Keep the change," he says. "Consider it a tip. Come on, Kay."

His gruff, commanding tone leaves me with little choice. He strides from the office, pushing the door open so hard it's a miracle it doesn't swing right off the hinges. In the parking lot, he turns to me and glares down.

"What's wrong?" I ask.

He opens his mouth. His eyes are as wild as they were after he howled at Dad's grave. He raises his hands like he's going to grab me. I really think this is the moment he's going to wrap his arms around me, pull me close against him, and push hard so I can feel his manhood, his need.

Instead, he says, "Here you go." He hands me the keys.

I take them, our hands touching, heat and lust sparking between us, or maybe just *from* me—a one-sided surge of lust. He's not jealous and doesn't care if I flirt with a man right in front of him. He's just tired and wants to get some rest.

CHAPTER SIX

K ai

I sit at the window of my motel room, my gun in pieces on the table in front of me. Cleaning it brings me peace. If anything goes down, I've got a spare in my bag. Luckily, I didn't have a gun drawn as we booked the rooms. When I saw Kay talking with that man, I almost lost it. I almost went full Titan. I have to remember that, as far as she's concerned, as far as Ryan is concerned, as far as the *world* is concerned, she's nothing to me. She can talk to and flirt with anybody she damn well pleases.

I can't hear Kay in the adjoining room, but I know she's there. I wonder if she's in the shower, which makes my body hard—not just my manhood, but all of me. My muscles swell as if getting ready for what I will do. The passion I'm going to claim.

Was she *jealous* in the diner? I was pissed, honestly. The waitress probably earns more tips by being just a little flirtatious. I get that, but I hated that Kay thought I was attracted to the waitress or anybody who wasn't *her*.

The smell of the oil and the gunmetal... I'll focus on that, but I can't stop thinking about the passion in Kay's expression. Or the beautiful flush spreading over her cheeks when she ordered her pancakes. She hesitated as if she was ashamed of herself with her curvy, perfect body. She'll need her appetite if she's going to carry my children.

I place the rag down, watching somebody stroll over to my Harley. He's a tall, built man, taller and more muscular than me. He's wearing a vest that shows off frankly *insane* arms, veins bulging as if he's dehydrated himself for hours. Maybe he's on roids. Or perhaps he's used to his muscles being enough to intimidate people.

I grab my cut and leave my gun. The last thing I need is a shootout in a motel parking lot. As I get closer, I see the man's probably a few years younger than me. His round, puffy face makes me think of roids again. His eyes are dark and beady, set above swollen cheeks, his hair blond and combed back into a ponytail. When the man looks up and sees me coming, he steps *closer* to my bike, a grin spreading across his face.

I make sure to get close to him. If he pulls a weapon, I'll have time to leap on him, grab him, and wrestle. It'll be one hell of a challenge, but I've fought men bigger than me before.

"This is a nice bike," the man says.

I nod.

"The name's Randall," he says, flexing his arms.

He actually does this. He tenses his arms so that his veins bulge out even more. That level of vascularity has always looked odd to me, unnatural.

"Would you mind letting me have a ride?" Randall asks when I don't respond.

I smirk. "I think you know the answer to that."

"It's a nice bike, is all."

"You said that."

"How fast does it go?"

"Fast enough."

The man lowers his hand as if to touch it.

"Don't do that," I tell him.

He pauses, his smile spreading, holding his hands barely inches from the seat. "I don't like being told what to do, Kai."

So this isn't a chance meeting. I wonder if it's related to the Titans, the stuff I can't tell Kay about.

"How long have you been following me?"

The man grins. "A little while. What happens if I touch your bike?"

"If you know who I am, you know what happens."

"You're trying to sound tough."

"Touch the bike," I shrug, "and whatever happens, happens."

"You say that like it's a force of nature. Like a natural disaster. Like *you* wouldn't be responsible for whatever you tried to do to me."

After a long pause, he steps back, shoving his hands into his pants pockets.

"You'd pull your gun. I'm not interested in unfair fights."

I almost tell him, My gun's in the room, but it would be pointless to reveal that. Let him think whatever he wants to think.

"Why show yourself?" I say. "You could've popped me at the window."

"In a busy motel? Does that seem like an intelligent move?"

"So your employer doesn't want any heat."

He smiles thinly. "I've been given permission to offer you two million dollars cash. I have it at a nearby location. If you accept it, you'll have to disappear and start a new life. You could go anywhere, *be* anybody, with that kind of money. You've spent enough time as Ryan Lewis' lackey."

His lackey. Like this idiot could ever understand the deep bond Ryan and I have. He's been like a brother to me ever since my aunt left, and the MC took me in.

"Oh yeah? And what do you get in return?"

"What else? The girl. Ryan Lewis' sister."

"She's worth over two million," I growl.

"So we're haggling. How much?"

I laugh darkly. Not for all the goddamn money in the world. My hands tighten into fists as I imagine crushing his neck.

"More than you can pay. It's time for you to go, Randall."

"The next time we meet, it won't be so pleasant. You should seriously think about my offer."

"I will think about it," I say, looking at him meaningfully. "Don't do anything stupid before we talk again."

I toss that out there just in case he's gullible enough to believe I'd give him Kay. He doesn't know about the hunger inside me, the burning, roaring, never-ending need, but he *does* know that she's my best friend's sister. He knows she's protected by Titan's MC. He knows that any Titan worth his salt would never sacrifice the princess.

Randall grins and turns away. "I'll be seeing you, Kai."

I watch him go, standing near my bike, ready to duck behind it if the asshole suddenly pulls a piece. Many people are in the motel parking lot, a family checking in and a couple walking toward their vehicle. He knows better than to start anything here.

Once he's climbed into his car, I turn and hurry into the motel room. I knock on the adjoining door.

When she opens it, I almost forget about the asshole and his threats. She's wearing a baggy gray T-shirt and sweatpants. It's not as though it's some purposefully sexy outfit, but she's not wearing a bra, her nipples poking through the material. My head is already a haze of violence. This adds another component. Pure heat. Pure possession.

"Is everything okay?" she asks, looking cutely up at me.

I swallow, trying to think of Ryan, trying to think of duty. "This place is a shithole," I growl, not having to fake the anger. It's aimed at myself for these feelings flurrying through me.

"Really?" she asks. "It seems okay to me."

I shake my head, hating that I have to lie to her, but it's not as if there's anything new there. "There was a rat in my room, and I found mold. Ryan wouldn't forgive me if I let you stay here. We're moving."

"A rat?" she says, eyes widening.

It'd be so good to sweep her into a hug right now, kiss the top of her head, and inhale her scent. Then I'd tell her, "Don't worry. I'll take care of you. Remember those stories? Remember how the prince always saved the princess? I can be that for you."

That's just so, so wrong. It's another reminder of our age gap, and how messed up I must be for wanting this so badly.

"Yeah," I say, purposefully not looking her in the eye.

"Oh, well, my room is okay. Where's the mold?"

"I'm tired," I grunt. "Let's not get into a debate about it. Get changed, pack up, then we're leaving."

She arches her back slightly. Oh, hell. Is she doing that on purpose? It draws attention to her nipples poking through her T-shirt, the shape of them causing my dick to push against the inside of my pants. "Why do I have to get changed?"

I swallow and clench my hands into fists. It would be effortless, so *right* to reach up and gently play with her nipples through her shirt. "It's a cool evening," I snap. "Put a jacket on, at least."

I can't tell her that if another man saw her nipples looking so full and needy, I wouldn't be able to control myself. I'd go full Titan on him. I'd beat him bloody, unable to stop, even if I knew it was wrong. Even if I knew he didn't deserve it. Hell, who could resist a look at this curvy, perfect woman? I'd still do it. She's mine. I'm howling in my mind, just like at the cemetery. She's mine.

Maybe she senses some of the fire in me. She nods and takes a step back. "Okay, Kai."

"Good," I grunt. "Hurry up."

"You don't have to be so rude," she snaps as I turn away.

She's right. I almost turn back and apologize, but it's better for both of us if I keep this shield of coldness up.

"I honestly didn't mind the motel," Kay says, walking into the top-floor hotel room. "You know... apart from the rats and the mold. My room seemed okay."

It overlooks the Strip and is in an expensive, bustling part of the city. Nobody would be reckless enough to attack us here.

She turns in a slow circle, taking in the large bed, the silk sheets, the desk, and the tall, gleaming windows.

"This place is nice," she goes on. "I might have to use that desk later."

My savage mind activates as I study her curvy body obsessively, her ass begging me to grab her and make her moan just for me. She turns back to me, her eyebrows raised. That gorgeous flush has taken hold of her cheeks again.

"For writing," she goes on awkwardly, her hands clasped in front of her.

I take a second to work out what she's talking about. I'm too distracted by Randall, but mostly, it's her making it difficult to think. Every inch of her is designed for me.

Mine. She's not the girl I read bedtime stories to anymore. I've been trying to hold on to that connection, but I can't.

I'm panting, struggling to breathe. Did she think I would assume we'd use the desk to have sex? It's big enough for me to lay her down, strip her clothes off, stand beside it, and guide my dick to...

"Feel free to call room service for dinner," I tell her.

"We're not... eating together?"

"I'm tired," I reply.

I have to get out of here as quickly as I can. If I stay any longer, I won't be able to stop myself. In my mind, Ryan is

looking at me with that serious glint in his eyes. It's the look he's given me countless times when there's club business to attend to, when he has to be cold, effective, and, if needed, fierce. It's a look that says he'll do whatever's necessary.

I've got to do the same. Right now, what's necessary is keeping my distance from Kay.

"Oh, okay," she says after a long pause.

"Knock if you need me."

I push open the door to the adjoining room and close it behind me. In the room, I drop to the floor and do a hundred pushups, give myself a brief rest, then do eighty more. I keep going until I can barely do ten, my arms and chest burning, my mind pulsing like a goddamn war signal.

I want to touch her so badly. Kiss her. Taste her. Own her.

I'll become a monster if Randall or anybody else tries to hurt her. I won't be able to control myself. I'll kill any bastard who ever dares to touch my Kay.

"Your Kay?" I imagine Ryan saying.

It must be the workout endorphins, my cloudy head. I can imagine him sitting on the edge of the bed vividly.

"She's my sister. She doesn't belong to you. Jesus Christ, bro, you used to read her bedtime stories. You've known her since she was a toddler."

But she's not the same person.

"She is. She's not a doppelganger."

I know that, but she doesn't seem like the same person.

"Listen to yourself. You'll use any justification."

It's not like I'm some pervert creeping on a younger woman. I'm going to make an honest woman out of her. Marry her and have children with her. We're going to have a life together.

"Over my dead body, Kai. Over. My. Dead. Body."

CHAPTER SEVEN

K ayla

At eleven fifty-seven p.m., I'm sitting at the desk, my notebook open and a pen in my hand.

Usually, Ryan and I would be at the spot right now, talking into the night, sharing stories about Dad. We'd talk about how he wriggled his eyebrows when I was young, making them dance and making me laugh like a crazy person. It would make Mom laugh, too, back before the bus crash, before the pain.

Falling leaves have stopped their cascade,

And I am broken, without a path.

Without you, I am...

I paw at my cheeks and slam the notebook shut. I don't even know what I'm trying to say, let alone *how* to say it. Too many thoughts of Dad lead to thoughts of Ryan and how we'd usually spend this anniversary together. He knew all this time and didn't even *defend* himself when I asked why he didn't tell me.

I've spent the evening in my room, doing nothing except eating a room-service dinner. Kai has kept to himself. I think I heard him working out a few hours ago. Other than that, he seems content to stay in there.

Oh, heck, here it comes. I'm annoyed at myself as the tears start to fall. It's like a trigger when the clock strikes midnight as if I'm reliving it all over again—the moment Dad collapsed and the realization hit that we would lose him, too.

I sit on the end of the bed and collapse into a pathetic heap of sobs. I always try to get myself under control when they come like this, wave upon wave of emotion, the grief twisting through me painfully.

Usually, on the anniversary, Ryan will hold me. Sometimes, he'll even shed a few tears of his own. Now, I'm alone. I keep crying. I need to get it together, and yet, I keep crying.

There's a knock at the door from the adjoining room.

"Kay?"

It's Kai, his voice low as if he's only getting involved reluctantly. I remember how he looked when he said, "I'm tired," like he couldn't wait to get away from me quickly enough. He was supposedly tired and then spent the next couple of hours working out.

"Kay, I know you're awake."

I say nothing, desperately wanting him to come in here yet also for him to leave me alone. I want an impossible version of him who will hold me, kiss me, and take the pain away in other ways.

"Kay."

"I'm fine," I snap when his tone gets urgent.

"Can I come in?"

"If you want."

He pushes the door open, wearing another tank, black this time. His arms look even bigger than usual, maybe from whatever workout he did, pumped up and tempting. Somehow, desire pierces the grief.

He walks to the bed, looks down as if he's going to sit next to me, then grabs the desk chair and turns it, sitting on that instead. He doesn't want to sit on the bed with me and give me any wrong ideas. Or maybe it's because of Ryan. He's just being respectful.

"Are you okay?" he asks, his tone surprisingly gentle.

"I'm fine." I rub my cheeks. "I was just thinking about Dad, but yeah, I'm all good. You can go back to sleep."

"I wasn't sleeping."

"I thought you were tired."

He bites down and lets out a dark sigh. "I heard you crying."

"Sorry. I didn't realize I was being so loud."

I know I'm being argumentative as hell. I can't help it. I can't let myself get close to him when I know it can't go anywhere, ever.

He reaches over and touches my hand. Without the leather or clothes separating us, electricity sparks up my arm and throughout my body. It makes my heart beat faster, my soul throb, my world spin and spin and spin and...

He's leaning close. I can feel his breath on my face once we're at eye level, and he's staring at me hard. He's staring at me like he cares and wants me.

His hand tightens on mine. "We can talk about it if you want."

"I miss him, that's all," I whisper. "I miss how he'd always smile, no matter what happened. Even toward the end, he was always smiling."

"That sounds like Jacob," Kai says, smiling with a far-off look in his eyes.

"What are you thinking about? Tell me something about Dad."

"The first time I went to the boxing gym," Kai says, "I was thirteen. Your dad let me spar with him. He let me win. He let me beat the crap out of him to boost my confidence. You're right. He was smiling the whole time."

"He never stopped smiling."

Kai's hand is still on mine, holding tighter. He leans closer.

"He was a good man."

We're just talking about my dad, nothing else. I scream the words in my mind.

This isn't intimate.

We're not almost kissing, but he *still* gets closer.

"He was," I say, and then we're silent.

We keep staring into each other eyes as if we can't stop, as if something magical and extremely not okay is happening here.

"I don't want you to be in pain," he says huskily.

He's so close now that his warm breath tickles across my cheeks. I can smell the bodywash from where he must've showered after his workout. I can smell the leather clinging to him like it would survive a thousand showers: the oil and the bike metal.

"I feel better with you here," I whisper, forcing the words past my nerves, not hesitating.

"I wish I could fix this for you," he says, his voice getting deeper and more significant.

And in this moment,

We exist forever.

Before the kiss,

Everything is perfect.

But after...

The poetry composes itself in my head. There's no way to end it or know what happens if I'm not hallucinating and he's going to kiss me. If he crosses that line, I know I'll have to stop him. I'll have to remind him of Ryan, not that either of us should *need* reminding.

He touches me with his other hand. A pulse shimmers up my thigh, his palm warm against my knee through the fabric of my PJ bottoms. He's got this torn look on his face like he'd get when reading me a story for the fifth time when he wanted to tell me no but couldn't do it.

He should *definitely* say no now. Back away. Stop this before it gets out of hand.

Am I dreaming? Time moves in slow motion as he leans toward me, his mouth almost on mine, his eyes almost pained as they get bigger in my field of vision.

Soon, there's only his eyes, the brilliant, intense green.

"Kay," he says, almost desperately, as if begging me to make him stop.

"Kai," I whisper, begging, sure... but not for him to stop.

His hand smooths higher up my leg. His lips are almost... No, not almost. His lips are on mine, hot and addicting right away. The grief falls aside, and there's not even a flash of guilt, a surge of *I should think about Dad*.

There's nothing but his taste, the texture. He groans as our mouths open and our tongues connect as if he's as lost to this moment as I am. It's as though he can't stop, *couldn't* stop, not for all the money in the world.

His hand moves farther and farther up my leg. He pushes my thigh aside, opening my legs. I moan as tickling and teasing sensations stroke over my sex, my belly getting warm, and my heart beating so fast.

I can't think about anything else—not Dad, Ryan, the guilt, or the fallout. Just Kai. Just his deep, obsessed groan as he smooths his hand the rest of the way. I gasp, causing our teeth to click together, when he pushes down on my sex.

CHAPTER EIGHT

K ai

"What are you doing, bro?" I imagine Ryan saying.

Then I have to push that imagined voice down deep and stifle it. Starve it. His little sister tastes too damn good. Her kissing is nervous at first, but then she makes the hottest moaning noise, her hands tentatively clinging onto my shoulders.

I can feel the heat of her pussy through the light fabric of her PJs. Hot and tempting and already getting wet for me. I rub slowly at first as we keep kissing. Our tongues find each other compulsively, hungry for the contact, her moans pushing me on. She moans so sweetly as she takes breaks from the kissing, as if she can't get enough air to experience the pleasure fully.

My hand moves quicker when she squeezes onto my arms, digging her fingernails in. She's wordlessly telling me how good this feels for her.

"Are you seriously going to cross that line?" Ryan invades my mind again when I grab his little sister's PJ bottoms and start to take them off.

She whimpers, staring up at me, her lips red from the kissing. Her eyes are wide and shell-shocked. We stare at each other as though we're waiting for the other person to come to their senses. We both wait for something to break the spell, but nothing does. She leans back slightly when I pull on her pants, giving me a better vantage point.

"Not all the way," she whispers, her flush getting deeper.

I kiss her again passionately. In between the flaring passion—my dick is aching so damn bad—I tell her, "You're beautiful. Your body is perfect. You never have to be ashamed with me."

Suddenly, I'm an inexperienced rider on a too-fast bike, speeding off when I should be in control. I shouldn't use words like *never* with my woman, implying something long-term could happen here. Long-term would mean blowing up our lives.

I can't stop. My balls are full, my cock is throbbing, and my tip is leaking so much precome my underwear is sticky with the need to claim her.

"Kai," she whispers.

I get the message, pulling her pants down *just enough*.

I almost lose it when I see her pussy, her hole winking at me, her lips full of lust. Her clit looks needy as fuck. Her clit looks like it was made for me to lavish with attention, to obsess over.

"Perfect," I growl, sliding my hand toward her sex.

She grabs my wrists and stares wide-eyed at me. She opens her mouth as if to tell me to stop, but then *she* leans forward. She brings her lips almost right to mine, then pauses as if she can't be responsible for kissing me.

"That makes her better than you," Ryan snaps in my head.

I push the voice down deep and ignore it, which is the last thing I should do. Instead, I kiss Kay again.

When I push my hand against her pussy, she whimpers through the kiss, a shaky, trembling series of breaths that almost have me exploding in my pants. I'm rock-fucking-solid for her. I can barely believe how hard I am. Every inch of my dick is hungry.

I rub her clit softly. She moans, leaning back. She can't keep kissing when we do this. That's the message.

"You're going to come for me," I snarl, rubbing a little faster now.

She twitches as I rub her needy nub, the adorable flush spreading from her cheeks down her neck, disappearing into her shirt. It makes me wonder if her nipples turn the same shade. Her pussy is so damn warm. I can't resist moving my hand down toward her entrance, circling it with my finger.

"Not that," she whispers. "Just...this... This isn't so..."

Bad, I mentally fill in, and then I get the point. She thinks if I don't go inside her and her pants don't come off, somehow, it makes this okay.

"It's better than sex, at least," imaginary Ryan helpfully comments.

I groan, returning to her clit and rubbing fiercely. Rubbing her so she can feel the lust burning up in me, growling and thrumming like an engine. My dick pushes against my pants, my tip feeling so big and hard. The precome won't stop. It's like some primal part of me knows my length needs to be slick to fit inside my woman, to push all the way in, explode, and claim her.

Impregnate her. My best friend's sister. Fuck.

Her moans get breathy, her eyes opening and closing quickly as if she's on the edge. Her hips move in time with my hand. She's riding the pleasure instinctively, her young, excited instincts guiding her.

"Come for me," I growl.

For me... That's the important part.

"Yeah, yeah," she moans.

I rub the heel of my palm against her clit, applying more pressure, owning her pussy. She gasps, and her hips move even quicker. That's when I know there's no turning back. When her pussy gets all creamy for me, and her moans turn so breathy she's hardly making any noise anymore, I know this is the end.

My dick almost erupts with my come, which would be a mistake. Every drop belongs inside of her. I can't help but slide down to her entrance once the orgasm ends, feeling her wetness. Her hole is *soaked*. She's drenched for me. Ready for me to spread her soppy lips and push deep, the tip of my cock going all the way inside of her, joining us. Bringing us as close as two people can get.

"I need your pussy," I snarl, standing up and reaching for my belt.

"No, Kai."

It's difficult to stop my hand from tearing off my belt. I almost do it anyway, listening to the savage instincts inside. Ryan's voice is so quiet now, distant, and easy to ignore.

"I need you," I snap. "Get your tits out. Now."

"We can't have sex."

"Now, Kay."

She sits up, her hands shaking as she reaches for her shirt. She's got a dreamy look in her eyes as she pulls her shirt over her head and then unclips her bra.

Oh. My. God. I'm almost howling with lust. I was right about her flush. It's spread down her neck, over her breasts, turning her creamy body a sweet shade of red.

"Grab my dick."

"Kai..."

"Now," I nearly roar. "I need you. Badly."

That's an understatement. I feel like I'll die if I don't go the rest of the way with her. She reaches out and wraps her hand around my shaft.

"You're so big," she whispers, "and hard."

"Hard for you. Only for you. Fuck, that feels..."

"Like this?" she moans, stroking her hand up and down my length, spreading precome all over my dick.

I stare down at her breasts, jiggling in time with the movement, so full, so curvy, so perfect. My shaft is on fire as she moves her hand faster. She looks up at me with wide eyes. They're still red from when she was crying before. I must be

an animal. Even the sight of her red eyes doesn't stop me. Nothing can, not when she starts moving her hand *even* faster.

"Is that good?" she asks nervously.

"Y-y-yeah," I manage to say.

It's not just the physical feeling. It's the *fact* of what we're doing, the fact this is Kay, the fact she belongs to me.

This is the first step to...

"Argh," I grunt when the seed rushes up my shaft.

My come explodes all over her breasts, showering her big, juicy tits and sliding down toward her nipples. She stares at me wide-eyed and excitable as hell with a pout on her lips. Her eyes narrow, though, concern invading the moment, poisoning it. She looks down at her chest as if surprised to find my seed there.

Fuck. Already, I'm getting hard again as I watch her tits gleam with my release. I almost tell her to rub her breasts and make them even shinier, but I have to use this chance while I can, still conscious and lucid enough to think clearly. Or *nearly* clear, anyway, close enough to penetrate the fog of my desire. For a little while. A few precious seconds.

Then any sense of clarity vanishes when *she* rubs the release over her tits. She doesn't do it on purpose. I think she's trying to clean it off, but I can't take it. My cock is already rock-solid again.

She makes the sexiest moaning noise as I reach down and start stroking my hard dick. Staring up at me, she whispers, "Again?"

My head is thumping. This is so bad and wrong, but I don't let myself think about that: just her body, her curviness, her breasts with her excited, needy nipples.

"I need to fuck your tits," I growl. "Push them together."

"Like... this?" she asks, still game and ready. When she pushes her breasts together, I know I won't be able to stop. Already, my shaft is full of seed as if my body will keep

supplying it until I explode in the only place that matters—her perfect young slit.

I groan, then guide my manhood between her breasts. I start pumping back and forth, slick with my previous release, my hands on her shoulders.

"Oh, fuck," I growl when she begins to bounce with my movements.

"Yeah?" she moans, guiding her tits in time with my pumping.

"Keep... doing... that..."

I can hardly speak. It's like she's hypnotizing me with her fertile body. Her breasts sway with the movements. Her eyes are just as sexy as her body. She's looking up at me with a gorgeous mixture of surprise and captivation. The more I snarl and moan, the more intently she stares up.

"Beg me to come," I growl. "B-b-b..."

Words finally fail me. My woman shifts her big, juicy tits up and down even quicker. She has no clue how much power she has over me right now. I'm completely lost, entirely *hers*.

"Come for me," she moans. "Again, Kai. Come for me again. Please, Kai. *Please*."

I nod urgently. My neck muscles are straining, shutting down my ability to speak. I pump my hips one final time, and then it all erupts, spattering her upper chest and sliding down over her tits. I'm an animal, I realize with stunning clarity in the final few moments.

Ryan flashes across my mind as more and more seed rushes up my shaft, erupting over her plump, curvy tits. I'm a bad man. There's no way around it. I'm a beast for doing this *twice* and for what I must do now—end this.

It's my only choice. It makes me a real piece of dirt, a lowlife, using my woman *twice* and then closing myself down emotionally, but there's no way around it. The alternative is to tell her the truth. Tell her how much she means to me. Tell her she's *mine*.

I trail off, almost telling her, *I want you again. I want you forever. I'm falling in love with you*, but I have to say something else, something cruel. I have to be cold. I have to be the man I was before I saw my Kay all grown up.

"We can't do this again," I growl, pulling my pants up roughly. "We have to pretend it never happened. Do you understand me, Kay?"

She blinks, her eyes glistening. She looks like she could break down in tears at any moment. Guilt tries to coil around me, to convince me I'm the world's biggest monster. Somehow, I manage to turn away. Maybe it has something to do with Ryan staring at me in my thoughts, his eyes vicious. He's never looked at me like that in real life. It's the severe, murderous expression he aims at his enemies.

"You're right," Kay says bitterly, the words directed at my back as I stride for the door that adjoins our rooms. I almost turn and roar at her, "No, I'm not fucking right. I'm dead wrong. We belong together, and we always will."

Instead, I throw the door open, rush into my room, and slam the door behind me. I try not to let myself think about what we just did, but I can't stop reliving it and obsessing over it. Her pussy was so...

"That's my sister you're thinking about," Ryan murmurs in my thoughts.

I sit on the bed, groaning, burying my face in my hands. What the hell have I done? I told Kay we need to forget it happened, but I don't think I can. I'll never be able to forget her.

CHAPTER NINE

K ayla

Staring at the ceiling,
Wondering if it's real.
This Kai Baxter feeling,
My heart, he's going to steal.

I shake my head, scratching out the last line with my pen. He's not *going* to steal it. He already has. I'm at my desk, biting my lip, unable to sleep after what happened, after his hands were on me and his huge, hard dick was in my hand. It was unbelievable how big he was. Then, when I thought he was done, he took me again. It was so intimate, his manhood between my breasts, the absolute *obsession* in his eyes.

I kept thinking I would jolt awake to realize it had all been some sick dream—not sick because I didn't like it. I loved it. It made my body tingle and my head cloudy and warm. Only sick because I know what Ryan would say. I know how much he'd hate us.

With a sigh, I push away from my desk, walk quietly to the window, and look down at the Strip. The lights burst up toward me, twinkling, shining. There's so much light. It's just as difficult to believe as *the other thing*, as the lust that burned between us. Now, we have to forget. That's what he said. Pretend it never happened. How am I supposed to do that?

My heart pounds as I sneak over to the adjoining door and put my ear against it like when I eavesdropped on Kai and Ryan. I want to hear him on the other side of the door. Maybe he's listening for me, too. Maybe he *misses* me, but there are no sounds, not even his husky breathing.

Why did he do it? I always wondered if he could want me one day when I was ready. I always dreamed Kai would find me attractive, but I wasn't prepared for the unbridled passion. His hunger makes his body tense and swollen with muscle, his cock so massive, so rock-freaking-hard. It was so big my hand didn't even wrap around it.

My core tingles as I think about taking him, all of him. Nerves try to tell me it will be impossible, but he's my man. I'm up to the challenge. I can give him what he wants. I know I can. At least, I *hope* I can, but none of that matters. If Ryan...

Moving away from the door, I quietly get dressed. I can't stay in this room any longer. It's been several hours since the steaminess between Kai and me. I can't sit here and pretend it doesn't mean anything. I can't pretend that he didn't rework my entire world the moment he kissed me.

I can still taste his lips, still feel the moment the orgasm expanded inside of me, his finger rubbing my clit, the aching, the sweet release. My body's pulsing just at the thought of it, trying to make me do it again.

After getting dressed, I leave the hotel room and head to the elevator. My belly feels the drop of the elevator way more than it should like I'm on some fairground ride. It's the aftershocks of me and Kai, the hunger that won't quit.

He looked so *savage* when I had him in my hand. With each stroke, he became more of a Titan, veins pressing against his neck, his dark hair falling wildly across his forehead.

I saw how he looked at me when he exploded all over my breasts. I could tell he wanted more, even though he just came. If it weren't for my surname, we'd be doing more steamy stuff immediately.

Maybe he'd take it *all* the way, lie me on my back, and not care about the stuff he probably should care about. He likes my inexperience and the fact I probably won't be able to compete with his other women.

That phrase—other women—almost makes me punch the elevator walls. There can be no other women ever—just me.

The hotel is right on the Strip. The second I walk through the automatic doors, the night air washes over me, my vision adjusting to the ubiquitous lights of the Strip.

I walk through the busy crowds with no destination in mind. I didn't bring any cash, so I just wander, getting lost in the crowd and listening to snippets of conversations. One man is complaining about how much he lost on the blackjack table. A lady rants about her partner going to a strip club. Several groups laugh as an Elvis impersonator falls and springs back up. *Thank you very much*.

As I'm watching Elvis, a man walks up beside me. He's wearing a vest, probably to display his muscular arms. They're a little *too* freakishly muscular, in my opinion, but it's not my place to judge. Veins bulge all over his skin. His blond hair is pulled back in a tight ponytail.

"Enjoying the show?" he says, turning to me.

"Uh, yeah," I reply, caught a little off guard.

"Nobody beats the King, do they?" He grins. "The name's Randall."

"I'm... Samantha."

Why did I do that? I've never given a fake name before.

There's something about the man's eyes. My skin crawls as he looks me up and down. Maybe it's his swollen, puffy face combined with the beady eyes, but that's cruel. Plenty of people have judged *me* for my physical appearance before. It's not fair to do the same.

He's probably just a guy taking a trip alone, wanting some conversation. A crazy part of me whispers, *Flirt with him. Make Kai jealous*, but A, Kai isn't here, and B, I can't flirt

with anybody other than my man, my crush. Even if he's not my anything—he made that clear earlier—I can't fight the feelings.

"Traveling alone, *Samantha?*" he says after a pause, grinning widely like he knows a secret.

"Um, no," I tell him, glad we're surrounded by people.

"Pretty girl like you... surprised you're alone."

I take a small step back. His tone has become weird, low, and suggestive somehow.

"Uh, thanks," I murmur, the only thing I can think of to say. "I have to go. Sorry."

I'm not sure why I'm apologizing. A small part of me wonders if I'm overreacting. Maybe he's just trying to be nice, but there's something strange about how he stares, that grin spreading wider and wider across his face.

I stride through the crowd, trying to forget the interaction. Maybe I was overreacting. As I walk back toward the hotel, I look over my shoulder. The man is following me, clearly visible through the crowd since he's several feet taller than the average person. I move quicker, breathing fast. I turn a corner, then another one.

If you ever feel in danger, Ryan told me once, get out of the situation as fast as possible. You can always feel silly about it afterward.

I cling to that advice, repeating it to myself as I turn another corner, lights blinking around me. Am I lost? I thought the hotel was going to be right there.

"Samantha," the man calls from behind me.

I turn to find him standing at the end of the street. Several people have also turned at his yelling voice.

"Samantha, come on. Don't play games with me."

"Leave me alone!" I snap, then turn and run.

That's right. Run. Whatever this creep wants, I'm not interested, and I don't give a damn about feeling stupid or

paranoid. He's definitely following me.

Feeling like I'm in some horror flick, I keep running, but I can't run anymore.

I collide with somebody. They're solid muscle all the way through, and their arm is around me, squeezing, trapping. This is bad.

That's what my unhelpful mind throws up at a moment like this. *This is bad*, and now, when I should fight and scream, paralysis flows through me, terror freezing. It's ridiculous. I should *do* something. Finally, I scream, dart my hand out, and hit him in the chin.

CHAPTER TEN

K ai

Her hands fly up to cover her mouth, killing the scream. Those wild, innocent eyes get beautifully wide as she realizes she's just whacked me on the chin.

It was a decent strike. It's the sort of punch that makes me think she'll put up a fight if she ever needs to defend our kids, but it wouldn't have stopped me or any man intent on doing violence. Maybe I'll teach her when our children are young or before she gets pregnant—before I *make* her pregnant.

"Jesus, Kai, I'm sorry."

I go for a cocky smirk, though my heart is thudding so hard.

"I've been looking for you," I growl. "Why were you running?"

All around us, lights blink, twinkle, and blind. It's all annoying, honestly, but the number of people is a good thing. Nobody will start a gunfight here unless they want the full weight of the Feds crushing them into the dirt.

"There was a man..." She gestures down the street, her chest rising and falling, still in her denim overalls. It's so difficult not to kiss her again. "I think he was following me."

My blood ices. "Describe him."

She describes the man who called himself Randall, with swollen muscles and tall.

"I'm not making it up," she says, staring at me with that sassy pout.

"Calm down, firecracker. I never said you were."

"The last way to make somebody calm down is to tell them to calm down."

"I'm taking you back to the room."

I expect her to pull away when I grab her arm. Instead, she moves closer to me. It's so damn hard not to wrap my arm around her shoulder, hold her close, and kiss her head to let her know everything will be okay.

"You shouldn't have left without telling me," I say, squeezing her arm.

She's looking through the crowds, scanning faces. "Why not?"

"Because it's my job to look after you. Ryan would never forgive me—"

"Yeah, yeah."

She doesn't want to hear about Ryan. I can tell, and I can't blame her. She'd rather pretend Ryan doesn't exist because then we don't have to think about what we did. Her soaked pussy creaming for me, her body telling me she's ready.

No Kai, focus. Randall, you fuck, you monster. Did you try to hurt my woman? I'll break your nose ten goddamn times for even thinking about it. If you ever touched her—a single hair or *moment* of contact—I'd fill your skull with lead. I'd bury you. Nobody would ever find you. She's my girl, my Kay, the future mother to my children.

"Kai, are you good?"

I've stopped, chest heaving. My hold on her arm is tighter than it should be. Somebody wanted to take my woman and hurt her. I can hardly breathe. I'm also scanning the crowd, looking for him, ready to charge and dismantle. Ready to kill.

"You don't go anywhere without telling me first," I snap. "I don't care if I have to kidnap you to keep you safe."

"Why? Are we in danger?"

I should tell her the truth, but that would mean, ha, goddamn, what a joke reality is. That would mean betraying Ryan, but I've already done that.

"You can never be too careful."

I guide her through the crowd, my shoulders wide, almost praying for Randall to reappear and make some move.

I squeeze my hand on her arm as we walk through the crowd, searching for any sign of danger. My senses aren't just alert for Randall but for anybody who would make a move on my woman. The idea of somebody hurting her has me in full war mode. If Randall appeared now... Screw the law. Screw the blowback on the club that would happen if a Titan got in trouble away from home. Screw it all. I'd hammer his face until it's a bloody, bony mess.

"Kai," my woman says from beside me. "You're hurting my arm."

With an effort, I release my hold just a little, just enough so she can tell I'm not trying to hurt her. It's the last thing I ever want to do. We pause on a busy street corner. My height allows me to look back and forth, scanning everybody, waiting, almost *praying* for somebody to try something.

"It's okay," she says, smoothing her hand up my arm and touching my shoulder.

I turn and look down at my Kay. It's so tempting to kiss her right here, to take things further like I did before, but I can't let myself go there again. Her eyes are still red from crying, and I used her perfect curvy body *twice*. I fucked her sweet tits. I...

No, stop it. Jesus. I try to summon Ryan's voice. "You made a mistake. Bury it. Move on, bro."

"It's not okay," I say after a pause. "I'm supposed to protect you."

"Why?" She licks her lips, looking so captivating I almost snap again. "Because Ryan told you to?"

"Partly," I grunt.

"What's the other part, then?"

"Because..." The second I saw you, I knew you were special. When I came home, I never expected the shy, dorky girl to have turned into the most beautiful woman I've ever seen. Because you belong to me, that's why. "It's the right thing to do."

She sighs, letting her head drop. It's like she wanted me to say much more and reveal all this intense possession inside me. Maybe she can see it on some level. It's just that when I look at her, I think I can see glimpses of intense hunger—the same need growling in me like a bike with a bad attitude.

Taking her hand, I keep walking. "You're scaring people," she says after a minute or two.

"Yeah?" I grunt. "How's that?"

"The way you walk and the look in your eyes. People scurry out of your way. It's like you're spoiling for a fight."

"Maybe I am," I growl. "Maybe I'm pissed."

"Because I left without telling you?"

"Maybe," I snap.

"Because you're the boss of me?"

I glance at her. She's got a sassy arch to her eyebrows, a challenge in her expression. I wonder if she knows how badly the word *boss* makes me want to repeat the steaminess. She's right. I am her boss. I own her. She's mine. She just doesn't know it yet.

Hell, I was meant to be cold and in control. This is getting harder every goddamn second.

"What if I said I was?" I snap.

She keeps her feet planted and folds her arms, so sassy it's like she wants me to touch her again. It's as if she knows how insane she makes me. I'm like a bike with a broken throttle, stuttering and jolting around as I try to hold myself back. But when I finally let go, I'm aching just looking at her.

"I don't care if I'm scaring anyone," I growl, taking her arm.

"You don't have to do this," she murmurs from the bed.

I'm lying on the floor, my arm tucked under my head, staring at the ceiling and listening for any noises in the hallway. There are so many ugly thoughts in my head, whispers of violence, hints at the terrible things that could happen to her.

"I'm doing it," I tell her.

"No need for the asshat tone, either."

I smirk. "Asshat?"

"Yes, you, with your tone."

"My tone makes me sound like I'm wearing an ass like a hat, does it?"

"Stop being a smartass."

"Never known how an ass could be smart," I tell her.

"Ha, ha," she mutters with adorable sarcasm.

"Try to get some sleep. We'll be riding again soon."

"To deliver the mysterious package," she says softly.

My stomach tightens. She's been in the life long enough not to ask, though she knows that Ryan and I have never been into that druggy crap. It could be a firearm to another MC involved in a war, a hard drive containing cryptocurrency, or compromising videos to blackmail those who deserve it—stuff like that.

It's none of those things. It's another sign of what a good brother Ryan is, and here I am, fighting the urge to climb into bed with his kid sister, resisting the urge to touch her all over again.

"Are you sure you're comfortable down there?"

"I'm not leaving you alone," I tell her, "and my mattress won't fit through the door."

"Uh, okay."

The pause when she says *uh* makes me wonder if she will suggest something. Maybe she's thinking of inviting me up there with her. Perhaps she wants to taste me again, just as badly as I want her.

We're silent for a while. Part of me hopes she's sleeping. I know I won't be able to. Not until I know she's safe. The hotel has security, but that can be circumvented—a bribe, a contact within the hotel, or a good alibi. If anybody kicks this door down, I'll have my gun in my hand in a couple of seconds. I'll kill...

She huffs and sighs. She's not asleep.

"Settle down."

She huffs again. "I can't sleep."

"Why? What are you thinking about?"

"Dad," she says softly. "And Ryan. And that man from earlier. And a poem I've been trying to write. And..."

I wait.

"That's the part where you ask me what, Kai," she says.

I smile. I can't help myself. I'm the one who told her we had to forget what we did, but with each comment, she draws me in. She makes me want to hold her, laugh with her, be with her.

"Isn't that enough?" I laugh. "I can barely fit one thought in my head at a time, let alone all that."

Her laugh is so sweet. It feels like I earned it, and it matters. Everything she gives me matters. A kiss, a laugh, her youthful body, her smile, her womb, her future.

"I was thinking about the thing we shouldn't have done," she whispers.

I sit up and lean against the wall. My neck aches from the earlier position, anyway. She sits up in bed, too, her arms wrapped around her knees, her outline visible in the darkness. Her features are shadowed. Somehow, from the tightness in her body, I feel her pain.

"I know you're right," she whispers. "It was wrong."

I swallow. "It was."

"But..."

"I want to do it again," I growl.

She shudders and nods.

I'm on my feet before I let myself think. Sitting on the bed, I draw her into my arms. She collapses against me almost desperately, like she's been waiting far longer than a few hours for this moment. I kiss her on the lips, giving myself the pleasure of tasting her.

Then she pushes her hands against my chest, gasping, and leans back.

"Can you just hold me?" she says, with that same sense of desperation.

"I shouldn't..."

"I know."

We stay silent for a while. Then, without discussing it, I lie on the bed, and she rolls over. She wriggles against me, her back against my chest, my rock-hard dick against her ass. I can't help that part. My dick isn't going to be soft when I'm pressed against my woman. Her hormones are talking to me. Her body is so, so ready. I need to distract us.

"What's your favorite memory of your dad?" I ask.

Somehow, I'm sure I feel her smile. She clutches my hand. "I liked when he'd sit on the porch and clean his pocket watch. You remember the one, right?"

I laugh with the taste of Kay's lips on my mouth. "Yes."

"What's funny?"

"Nothing."

She goes on after a pause. "Okay, well, he'd spend hours cleaning it. Sometimes, I miss that noise so badly. When I was little, I always heard it when I sat on his lap or hugged him. That ticking noise. He told me to think of it as his heartbeat, but I forgot about that at some point."

I kiss the back of her head and smell her hair. "He was a good man."

As I hold her, listening for threats, I know I won't be able to end this. Ryan might hate me, but this isn't about hate. It's about something else.

Closing my eyes, I see Kay in a wedding dress, elegant and full-figured. Her cheeks are flushed with pure happiness, and her belly may be already a little swollen. She's walking toward me, smiling wider, telling me it's not a dream. It's happening. We're together forever, and nothing can ever break us apart.

CHAPTER ELEVEN

K ayla

Kai is acting shifty.

We're sitting on a picnic bench near a quiet lake in Utah. The surroundings are patchy, with a few collections of trees here and there, like a giant hand sprinkled them about. Kai sits up, the sun gleaming down, his black hair glistening, and his arms huge and hot as hell in his shirt.

We haven't talked about last night—the kissing, the steaminess, any of it. This morning, it was like it never happened, except we're touching each other much more. Just little moments, like I'll brush my hand against his, or he'll casually take my hips to slide past me, and neither of us acts like it's weird. It's like we're a couple already.

He reaches over and touches my face. This is the casual intimacy I was talking about. His palm is rough, but I like the feeling, especially the warmth tickling over my cheeks.

[&]quot;Are you okay?" I ask.

[&]quot;Hmm," he says, nodding as he reaches for his sandwich.

[&]quot;This is a nice place," I mutter, looking around at the deserted landscape. "A little out of the way, though. There were five other lakes we could've gone to."

[&]quot;Maybe I wanted the privacy."

[&]quot;Don't want to be seen with me, huh?"

"If it wasn't for..." I get it. *Ryan*. "I wouldn't care," he goes on.

I touch his hand. "Thanks."

"You're a beautiful woman, Kay. You're so cute, too."

My smile gets even wider. He's flooding me with so many wonderful emotions that it almost hurts, like I'm over capacity. I never knew it was possible to feel this wanted.

"Cute?"

He grins. "Are you fishing for compliments?"

When he moves like he's going to take his hand away and stop touching my cheek, I press my hand down on his, keeping him there. "Maybe I am. So what?"

His grin gets even wider. It's nothing like the smiles he threw my way as a kid. I realize I was never much to him, just Ryan's little sister, nothing else. He'd smile at me like... well, I was a child. Unimportant to him.

Now, he's obsessed. Or maybe that's me letting my desires gallop around way too enthusiastically. It *seems* that way when his eyes lock on me, drink me in, and his hand somehow gets warmer.

"Everything you do is cute," he says. "Your shy smile and how your eyes get all wide and shocked. Your pout. When your cheeks get flushed. Everything, Kay."

He trembles, then snatches his hand away. I wonder if it's because he's thinking about kissing me again. We haven't done it yet today.

Natasha and I used to talk about dating. Growing up, she had a few boyfriends, and we'd discuss ways to keep them interested. Or signs they weren't worth keeping around. Usual chat that never really applied to me because I was too crushcrazy. Nobody ever compared with Kai, but I can't flirt with Kai. I can't *try* to interest him because that would mean going out of my way to hurt Ryan. To make everything we've done even worse.

"It's hard, isn't it?" he says, watching me closely.

"What is?" I reply, making my tone all innocent.

He smirks, then nods. "Okay, Kay."

We eat our sandwiches for a few minutes, making eye contact but not saying anything. He seems to think he's got me all figured out. I'm waiting for him to speak first. Maybe that's immature, but okay. Anyway, I lose.

"What's hard, Kai?"

He grins. "I thought you were giving me the silent treatment for a while."

"Were you devastated?"

He chuckles. It's such a good feeling getting my man to laugh. It's the sort of thing I never dreamed would happen back when this was just a crush.

"It's hard..."

He pauses, some of the lightness leaving his expression.

Darkness, falling...

And now he's all grim.

Ready to end this,

Before it can...

But it's already begun. It's happening. One day, we could look back on this as a seminal moment in our relationship, a core memory: he and I, the lake, and the light breeze disturbing the dusty landscape.

"Being here with you," he says, "with nobody around."

"What's hard about that?"

He finishes his sandwich, then sighs. "You know why it's hard. Don't make me say it. If you do, I won't be able to control myself. If I start talking about kissing you again, slipping my hand down your curvy body, grabbing those thick, gorgeous hips... If I talk about grabbing your ass and *claiming* it..."

"Claiming it?" I whisper, squeezing my legs together under the table.

Lust can't always feel like this, surely. My body is suddenly a prison to him. I'm aching just thinking about him doing it, core pulsing, clit feeling all weird and warm and ready. There's so much sensation all at once.

"You heard me," he growls, shaking all over.

"What does that mean?"

"You're playing with fire here. If you don't stop, I'll do more than claim that thick ass of yours."

"What..."

He leans forward, his shoulders like two boulders as he tenses. Veins push against his skin. It's not freaky and OTT like the guy who followed me, but more like casual evidence of his strength.

His eyes blaze. "I'll spank that ass if you keep going, Kay."

A shiver runs through me. *Spank* me? I've never even thought about getting spanked before, but now that he mentions it, a strange thrill touches me.

"Have you been spanked before?" he snaps as if the thought angers him.

As twisted as it may be, I want him to get angry if he thinks about me with somebody else.

"No," I whisper.

There's a *lot* I haven't done before, but I don't need to tell him that. Yet.

"Unless you want this to be your first time, we better change the subject."

"What? You don't want to talk about claiming my ass?"

He's right. I was playing with fire. He erupts from the chair and walks around the bench. He's shaking all over. His cock is so big and hard I can see the thick outline through his denim pants, like a taut muscle.

"Up, now," he growls, looking to the road, making sure we're alone.

"Kai..."

"Now, you naughty girl. I warned you."

Oh, God, this is doing things to me I never imagined. When he calls me *naughty girl*, my clit gets all tight. My hole gets wet. I do what he says, climbing to my feet.

His eyes go wide, just like he says *mine* do. He's shuddering like he can't believe what's happening. We both know it's wrong, but when he softly takes my shoulders, spins me into position, and gently pushes so that I'm leaning over, any chance at fighting this dies. He steps up behind me, raising his hand.

"Your ass, your body. Fuck. My dick would look so perfect slipping between those big juicy cheeks into your young, tight pussy."

"Oh, Kai," I whisper, hardly able to form words.

"You have to tell me to do it," he snarls as if he wants half the blame to be mine. "Tell me to spank your ass. Beg me, Kay."

"Kai..."

"Beg. Me."

"S-spank me," I whimper. "Spank my ass."

He brings his hand down on my ass. I'm wearing jeans, and he doesn't hit me hard enough to hurt, but the *fact* of it has me shaking. My pussy is so hot and clammy. My underwear is getting sticky.

"Your ass is shaking for me," he groans, then spanks me again.

I glance over my shoulder, looking at how he stares at me.

Grabbing my hips, he grinds his groin against my ass, shifting back and forth. "Feel how badly I need you. I could do it here, tear down those jeans, slide my dick into your tight hole. I'd fuck you hard, own your young body. I'd fucking *slam* my dick into you. I'd fucking spank your naked ass as I fucked you until you creamed down my cock. Until I knew you'd finished so I could fuck you even harder, drill into you so you'll never have to wonder who owns your perfect body."

I'm moaning, fixated on his words, as he pushes his dick up and down against my pussy. I shouldn't be able to feel much with all this denim between us, but the significance of it...

His cell phone rings. It's a heavy metal song I don't recognize. Right away, Kai steps away from me.

"What's wrong? Who is it?"

Kai *glares* at me as if it's my fault. I didn't have to ask who was calling. I understand now without having to wonder. It's Ryan. It must be a personal ringtone. For whatever reason, Kai wants to know when Ryan calls him. Kai almost runs to his bike and grabs his phone from his leather jacket, which is draped over it.

CHAPTER TWELVE

K ai

I walk away from the bike because I don't want Kay to overhear this. Being close to her feels wrong when I was so intent on claiming her—I lost control—while talking with her big brother, my best friend.

"Kai?"

"Is everything all right?" I say, my voice urgent.

"Whoa, yeah. You good? You sound amped, man."

"I'm fine," I say gruffly. "Just worried about you. I'm a Titan, aren't I?"

"Nobody would ever doubt that," Ryan says, sounding confused.

I need to pump the brakes. I'm acting way too weird. It's so damn hard to go from almost dominating my woman one second, fucking her from behind so her ass shakes for me, to trying to be normal the next.

"Is everything going okay?" I ask.

"A few incidents. Nothing major."

"I should be there."

"This is more important," Ryan says. "*Kay* is more important. How is she dealing with things? Is she pissed at me about the argument?"

"I'm not sure," I reply, not wanting to talk about Kay. Then I'll have to lie.

"I hope things aren't too awkward," he goes on. "I know it's like the old days, lumbering you with baby sis. If she's anything like she was then, she probably likes the attention."

I grit my teeth. I refuse to turn, glance over, and see the woman whose ass I spanked. The woman I'm falling for hard. If it weren't for Ryan, I'd start a life with her now, without looking back. Ride off into the sunset if that's what she wanted. Maybe it will come to that. I hope it doesn't.

"She used to love those bedtime stories," he says, reminiscing.

"Yeah, she did."

"I hope she's not too mad at me. I didn't want to lie, but what choice did I have?"

"She's better off away from home. That's what you said."

Ryan sighs. I can imagine him just as he was when we were teenagers, with his skinny arms and mop of hair. He had that glint in his eyes like he was ready to take on the world. I remember when one idiot called Kay *fat*. It's strange, but I forgot about that until now.

"Are you there? Kai?"

"Yeah, I'm here."

"I said, Funny how fast time goes. What were you thinking about?"

"Is that why you called?"

"I was just checking in. Stop being so damn prickly."

I almost groan, running a hand through my hair. He's right. It's not his fault that I only want to be with his sister... again. But go all the way this time, strip down her jeans, and reveal the round, creamy globes of her ass.

Dammit, I'm a monster more than a Titan. This is proof of my mind and how it won't ever stop.

"So?" he says.

- "The time that man called Kayla fat. Do you remember? We were at the club, and the drunk idiot heckled over. You were fifteen, and he was twice your size. He said..."
- "She's going to grow up to be a tub of lard. Yeah, I remember."
- "We all watched you kick that guy's ass."
- "He was drunk."
- "Yeah, Ryan, but he was still twice your size."
- "That's what big brothers do," he says. "After, Dad gave me a big old bear hug. He had never done that before. He was so proud of me. Some people would say that's messed up, being encouraged to fight, but when it comes to family, sometimes, it's the only way."
- "Amen to that," I say, thinking of my future children with Kay.
- "Anyway, if you're good, I'll leave you to it."
- "If you need me home, you give the word."
- "There's no one else I trust with this," he replies. "It's only you. You're my brother as much as my friend."
- No, I almost say. I'm not your goddamn brother. That would make Kay my sister.

But I can't say something as deranged as that.

- "I..." He hesitates. "I care about you."
- "Are you sure you're good?" I ask. "If you need me to come home—"
- "Kay can't be here. You know that."
- "Then stop talking like something bad's going to happen," I tell him. "I'll see you in a few days, but for the record..." I swallow, feeling like a traitor, an *asshat*. "I care about you too, brother."

We hang up, and I know I'll never be able to forgive myself. Not that it makes any difference to what I've done. Feelings don't erase actions. No amount of crying, whining, or anything else will fix what I've done—what I still *want* to do.

Hell, if I lose control again, I still might do it. I won't be able to resist the urge. I have to try, at least, not to snap, not spank her, or forget who I'm supposed to be.

Back at the bike, I find Kayla holding the package. She's already reached inside and taken it out, and now she stares, her eyes bloodshot, tears glistening. She looks so devastated that my instinct is to find whoever's responsible and seriously hurt them. Nobody gets to make my woman look like that. Ever.

In her other hand, she's holding her father's pocket watch.

"What the hell is this?" she whispers, dropping the brown paper bag.

It almost blows away in the wind, but then she steps on it, leans down, and picks it up. Even now, she doesn't want to litter and spoil this quiet, deserted place. She's just so damn perfect.

"Kai?" she snaps.

"It's your dad's—"

"I mean, why?" she almost yells. "Is this the package? *Don't* get mad at me for snooping, okay? I just... I don't know. I panicked from the guilt and all that crap. I just wanted to know if we could turn back or how important this trip really was. The stuff about Dad... Is it enough to justify what we're doing? Okay, so he lied, he lied, and..."

She starts crying, breaking down, but when I move toward her, she raises her hands and shakes her head. She doesn't want me anywhere near her. I know why. I know it's the same reason gnawing through me, the guilt and the pain of what we've done, of what I want to keep doing.

"Why this?"

"I promised Ryan I wouldn't tell you."

"You have to," she yells. "This was Dad's. It's an heirloom."

I groan, squeezing my cell phone tightly and making a fist. There's only so much lying I can do. I'm sorry, Ryan, for everything.

"Ryan was able to get a good trade for a different item. That watch sells at around a third of the price of the item he's trading it for, but the buyer is so keen on getting *this* exact watch that he's willing to do it. Ryan would be a fool to pass it up."

This makes it worse. Her cheeks are soaked with tears now.

"He's *selling* it because it's a good *deal?* What's he getting? A new bike? What, Kai?"

"A first edition of Poems by Emily Dickinson. I think that's her name. It's for you. He said..." This next part hurts me. "He wanted to give you something as a sign to start anew, the next chapter in your life. You can keep the book. Sell it. Whatever you want. He said he wanted some light to come from the darkness of your dad's death."

"He said that? Really?"

"Word for word."

She slowly puts the pocket watch on the bike seat, sealed in its wrapping. Her hands tremble as she brushes her hair down and then looks at me for a long time. It's like she's trying to kill the part of herself that wants me.

"You were right before," she says after a long pause, her expression changed now, distant. "We need to pretend this never happened. Let's go home. It'll be easier like that. I'll tell Ryan I forgive him for the fight. Hell, it's not like I can be angry with him now."

I shake my head. "I told him I'd deliver the package. That's what I'm doing."

"You can take me home first."

Gritting my teeth, I shake my head again. She's right. It would be easier this way, with far less risk of us completely losing it. It would mean we could behave ourselves. Maybe—I don't believe this for a second—we'd be able to forget how good it felt. How *right* it felt, being together.

"No," I say. "We're going to Illinois. Together."

"You *know* it would be better to take me home first." She glares. "Otherwise, we might..."

"We'll just have to try harder. You're coming with me."

She opens her mouth as if to argue but then closes it. She stares at me like she suspects something.

Then she turns and walks toward the lake. I groan and follow her, my heart thudding hard when I think about her being alone. Anytime I think of her without me to back her up, I can't take it. It *hurts*, honestly, trying to fit that into my head. To think there might be a day when Ryan asks me to handle business out of state or country again, and I'll have to leave her.

No damn way. She's not going anywhere without me. Maybe that makes me possessive as fuck. Do I care? Not right now. As she gets farther and farther away from me, I don't. Breaking into a jog, I catch up to her and touch her shoulder.

"What, Kai?" she snaps, her eyes glistening like she could break down into sobs at any moment.

"Don't what me," I snarl. "Where the hell do you think you're going?"

"I need some space. I need to think."

"There's nothing to think about," I tell her. "We need to keep moving."

"Unless you're going to hogtie me to the bike, you should give me a few minutes."

I grind my teeth. "I could do that, Kay, pretty damn easily. I've got rope, and I doubt you could stop me."

She takes a step forward, glaring up at me. It makes me think of her as a mother, defending our children with that same fierceness in her expression. "If you do that, I'll hate you forever. And when you drop your guard, I'll use it to get as far away from you as possible. Just leave me *alone*."

She spins, walks over to the lake, picks up a stone, and throws it angrily. I scan the landscape and then walk up beside her.

My chest is rising and falling way too fast. My head is full of hurt, thinking about her hating me forever.

She's being dramatic. She has to be. It's another sign of our age gap. A woman my age wouldn't behave in this way. Fuck. *No.* A woman my age... I can't think of any other woman, in any context, ever. Just the thought feels like a betrayal. No, it *is* one.

She sits on the ground by the lake, staring into the water. I stand nearby, head on a swivel as I wait for her. I'm not going to let anybody sneak up on us. I'm not going to let anybody hurt her. I'd take a bullet before I allowed that to happen.

Minutes pass, maybe twenty. Finally, she stands and looks at me like she's making good on her promise, as though she hates me. "I guess we should get going before you lose your patience and tie me up."

I'd like to tie her up. It's true, but not in this context. She's agreed to come, though. That's all that matters. We can deal with the emotions later. Or do what's best, which is to let them die.

Yeah, like that's ever going to happen.

CHAPTER THIRTEEN

K ayla

"Are we allowed to camp here?" I say.

Kai has his back to me, setting up the tent in the Colorado National Park. The gray of his shirt has flecks of sweat from hard riding and the work he's doing now, the muscles shifting against his back, his arms bulging with each movement. I don't think the physical exertion makes him surge like that. I think it's the fact of us and the tension. There's something he's not telling me. I think *he* knows I've guessed something.

"A little late for questions like that," he grunts.

I sit on a rock, looking through the tall pine trees to a small body of glistening water. The sun begins to set. I close my eyes, trying to think of some poetry about this place, about anything—something to mark this experience and burn it into my mind forever.

When I asked Kai if he wanted help with the tent, he just grunted. He's been doing that a lot since Utah when I snooped and found the watch. I was almost hoping to find drugs or something bad, something that would justify demanding him to take me home. Not the watch, not another reason to love my big brother even more.

Whispering under my breath, I recite some morbid Emily Dickinson lines, dragging my mood into the gutter so I don't

get any silly ideas. My mind strays to home, to what's happening.

There's a mystery in my man,

In his sharp emerald eyes.

When he looks my way,

We could live forever,

Or die.

Once he finishes, he sits on a rock opposite, wiping his face with a flannel. I go to the bike and bring him a bottle of water.

"Thanks," he says, taking it quickly, almost snatching it, not looking at me.

His wild hair has swept down his forehead, close to his eyes. Standing over him, I almost reach down and smooth it back into place, but I manage to stop myself. It would be easier if he didn't always look so hot, his biceps gleaming when he reaches up, brushing his hair.

"Are you going to tell me what's really going on?" I ask.

He stops drinking the water and replaces the cap.

"Well?" I say. "The fact you didn't just say *nothing's going on* or ask what I meant tells me I'm right. It's not like I'd have to be a rocket scientist to figure it out."

"Hmm," he grunts.

"Hmm?" I snap. "Hmm? What does that even mean?"

"You've got a bad habit of putting me in awkward positions," he says. "Are you hungry? We'll have to eat a cold dinner."

"Can't start a fire," I say as he stands and walks toward his bike, "since we're probably not supposed to be here."

He had to push the Harley most of the way, churning up mud in places and splattering the gleaming material with dirt. There's no way a biker does that by choice, just for the *sake* of it. Earlier, when I asked, he said he wanted a change of pace.

"Hungry?" he asks, returning with the cooler bag.

After the picnic, we loaded up on meat and bread for the evening.

I nod. "Sure."

We don't say anything for a while, which is sort of becoming our thing. Lots of talking and then nothing. Silence as we wait for the other person to do the right thing. One of us should get angry, say something we can never take back, or do something unforgivable to sabotage this relationship.

Is *that* what this is? A relationship? I wish. No, I don't. I can't.

"Did you hear me before?" I ask once I've prepared some sandwiches.

He takes his. "Thank you, Kay."

"You're ignoring me." I sit down, taking a bite from my sandwich. After washing it down with some bottled water, I say, "I think it's because you don't want to lie to me. Something's up. Why did we suddenly change motels in Vegas? Why the secret lake in Utah? Why *here*?"

"Just leave it alone," he snaps. "Accept it. You're coming with me. That's it. End of story."

"Are we in danger?"

"Goddamn. You ask more questions now than when you were a kid"

"I didn't need to ask you anything then. I had everything I wanted."

He looks at me sharply, eyes narrowed. Okay, message received. He doesn't like any hint of the crush talk. I guess he doesn't want to think of me as a little girl anymore, considering what we've done.

"I deserve to know," I go on. "Does it have something to do with that guy in Vegas?"

He stands abruptly. "Will you just leave it the hell alone?"

He marches over to the forest like he's going to walk off. Then he stops, turns, and returns to his seat. It's strange. He moves almost like a robot when returning to the log.

"What was that?" I say.

He smirks, but it's somehow fierce, somehow pissed. "Another question."

"I think you were going to storm off, but then you remembered you can't do that because something's up. So you came back. That's my theory."

He clenches his fists and unclenches them.

"What? Are you going to hit me?"

His mouth falls open. He stares, looking boyish and hurt. Immediately, I hate myself. What a terrible thing to say.

"Never say anything like that to me again," he says, not even angry. "I mean it."

"I'm sorry. I won't."

"I'd never do that. I'd never hurt you. I'd die before I hurt you."

I bite my lip, heart thudding hard, remembering what he said as he spanked me. He spoke of owning me and claiming me. This has vibes like that, except more emotional, not just our bodies—our souls, too.

"I know you wouldn't hit a woman," I tell him. "I never should've said that."

"It's just... I promised Ryan, okay? You have to be okay with that."

"You don't want to break two promises in one day?"

"No."

"I get that. I *am* sorry, but if I'm in danger, shouldn't I know? Shouldn't I be prepared? I'd rather know what's coming after us. Something is, Kai. Somebody is. You can't deny that."

"Why can't you just leave it alone?"

"Do you think telling me the truth is worse than what we did?" I yell, hearing myself and hating my tone, hating the crack in my voice.

I feel I'm being dramatic, but I can't help it. There's just too much emotion: the anniversary of Dad's death, the fight, the closeness, the pain of the package, all of it. Now I *am* crying.

I rub my cheeks angrily. "We've already crossed the worst lines. We've already done *that*. There's nothing you can tell me that will be worse than that. We *kissed*. We've done o-o-o-o-.."

Other things, I try to say, but dammit, the tears keep coming. They're so over the top. I wish I could step outside and slap myself across the face for being so emotional, but it hurts. That's the truth. It cuts.

He stands and reaches out like he's going to touch me. That's the last thing he should do, and it's what I want most in the world. I want to feel his powerful hands squeezing my arms, holding me tight, and willing me to believe there's a way out of this that doesn't break Ryan's world.

Then Kai stops himself and lowers his hands. "You're coming with me. You're going to have to be okay with that."

"What if I leave and go home, huh? What then?"

He clenches his jaw. His green eyes glint like he's tired of me. "You're acting like a brat."

"Maybe that's just what I am," I say, my tone vicious, not liking how I sound. It's as if I'm not in control. The anger is. The regret. "Just Ryan's bratty little sister. Just an inconvenience for you to read bedtime stories to. The tagalong, right?"

"Just calm dow—"

I was right before. When somebody says *calm down*, it's the last thing I want to do.

"I heard you and Ryan before we left!" I interrupt. "You didn't want to take me on this trip. You wanted nothing to do with me."

"That's because..." He trails off, shaking his head. "Just sit down."

"Because what?"

"Please, just sit down."

I turn and walk into the forest. It's not a smart thing to do, but I do it anyway. I need space, just a few minutes. Then I'm jogging, and I realize I don't need space. I need to escape. I've got to keep going and get as far away from Kai as possible.

"Kay, stop," he calls after me. "I'm not chasing you. This isn't some movie. Just stop it and get back here."

I keep going.

CHAPTER FOURTEEN

K ai

For too long, I almost just let her storm off into the forest. I don't want to go after her. I might end up telling her what I almost did. Not just the truth about what's going on, but the truth about how I feel, too. The truth of everything she means to me and what it would do to me if something happened to her.

When she doesn't stop, I break into a jog. It doesn't take long for me to catch up to her. Taking her arm lightly, I turn her toward me, holding her in place. If she were struggling, I'd be forced to let her go. I'm not going to hold her against her will. When she stares up at me, I almost break at the sight of her tear-streaked cheeks.

"Tell me I'm being a brat again," she says, rubbing her cheeks aggressively like she's angry at herself for crying. "I *know* I am, but it's all too much."

"I know it is," I say softly.

She flinches as if she didn't expect me to agree with her. I wrap my arms around her and hug her tightly, hoping she can feel how much she means to me, hoping I don't have to say it. I can never say it. It would mean the end of everything.

Leaning down, I kiss her for the first time since last night. Even when I spanked her full ass, our lips didn't touch. She presses her hands against my chest, fingernails clawing through my shirt like she's going to push me away.

Then she moans through the press of our lips, squeezing with her fingernails, digging them into my chest. She pushes herself closer to me, moaning with more passion, more...

There it is again, that desperation. She's as desperate for me as I am for her. That word has a bad reputation, but I'm desperate like a wild, starving wolf is, hungry for meat to provide for its pack, its family.

"Kissing you can't feel this good," she whispers, our faces close.

Her tears are making my cheeks wet, too. She takes my face in her hands and looks me firmly in the eye. I've never seen so much fire and passion bursting out of someone. I imagine her looking this way when she tells me she's pregnant.

We've got a little poet on the way.

"Please, Kai. Are we in danger?"

I try to look away, to think of Ryan, but she holds my face in place. I let her. I don't want to look away from her, ever. She's the only woman who's ever come close to having this effect on me. The warped part is she's right. If she's in danger, she should know. Then she won't do things like wander alone in the middle of the night.

"I know you might've told Ryan you can't tell me the truth, but I'm tired of being lied to. I can't take it anymore. Ryan lied to me about Dad. I want to know I can trust you, and I get it. I'm not some kickass, badass chick or whatever."

"Ass really is your favorite word."

She laughs, despite everything, squeezing onto me tighter, with more sense of hunger. She slides her hands around my body, from my chest to back, clawing her fingers across my broad back and clutching firmly.

"You can't joke your way out of this."

"Nobody's funny enough to joke their way out of this one, Kay."

She sighs and lays her cheek against my chest. I remember what she said about her dad's pocket watch, the ticking, and I wonder if time's running out. If the threats will catch up to us, Randall and the ones who sent him.

"You shouldn't be so hard on your brother," I say after a pause. "He did what he did for you."

"He lied about Dad's illness for me?"

"He didn't know," I snap, stepping away.

She takes a step back, too, falling under the shadow of a tree. The entire forest is becoming a shadow now. The stars and the moon are not bright enough yet. The sun is already mostly gone. Her feet crunch on pines as she steps forward again.

"He didn't... Wait, he *lied*. Not about Dad, but he lied about lying?"

I'm doing everything wrong. It's not like my other jobs, where I could execute my task coldly. It was so much easier to shut my emotions off before. To mentally bring that angry, quiet kid back into my personality, to let the demons rule me, but with Kay, I can't. There are too many feelings to lock away.

"He wanted me to be angry with him," she murmurs a moment later, "because... why? Why would he... Because he wanted me to agree to this trip, right?"

I close my eyes and let out a long breath. Too much is out there for me to back out now. Or is that another excuse to add to the long list?

"He knew you'd never leave on your dad's anniversary unless you were mad. So yeah, he lied. He lied to protect you. He needed you away from town. *I* should be back there. I should be defending my goddamn brothers, but I'm here with you, keeping you safe."

She softens, walking closer to me.

"Why does he want me gone, Kai?"

I clench my fist and clench my jaw. It feels like I clench my damn soul. I wrestled with Ryan all those times, dreaming of

being a Titan. All those times we rode together, and I still can't stop.

"The Titans have been having a few skirmishes with a new club, the Bribones, out of Mexico. They're trying to bring shit into our county. It was manageable, Ryan said, and then things got worse. They're bringing more men in, more drugs. We've got word they're going to try to take one of our warehouses. That's why Ryan needed you gone."

"In case they attacked us," she whispers.

I nod. "He'd never let anything happen to you."

She turns, rushing toward the campsite. I follow her quickly.

"We have to go back," she says breathlessly. "We can't let anything happen to him. We've got to go back and convince him to come with us. How could you *leave* him there?"

"He's never begged me for anything," I growl. "Never, not once. Not until recently. I told him I wanted to stay, to fight with him, but he begged, Kay, for me to take you away and keep you safe."

"So that man was after me."

"Yeah, I ran into him before. The prick tried to buy you."

"So he could use me against Ryan." She walks over to me and reaches for my pocket, passionate and erratic as hell. "Where are your keys? We have to go right now. We have to get back to him."

I grab her wrist, guiding her hand away. "I promised Ryan I'd keep you safe. I've already broken enough promises. I've already betrayed him so bad he'll probably never forgive me, but I'm not breaking *this* promise, firecracker. Even if it means kidnapping you, you're coming with me."

She takes a step back, shuddering all over. She's looking at me as though I'm some animal. Fine then. Screw it. That's what I'll be if it means keeping her safe.

I hold her in the tent, the night quiet around us, an owl hooting in the distance. She wriggles against me, reminding me why I'm still wearing my jeans. I'd lose it if I felt her ass against my underwear-covered dick.

"Are you going to wait for me to sleep to ensure I don't steal your keys?"

Somehow, I smirk. I almost laugh, but I stop myself. This isn't supposed to be a time for laughing and joking.

"You're not stealing anything. I'd wake up."

She shifts closer to me. "Are we safe here?"

"We weren't followed, but men like Randall—if that's his name—have a way of finding people. The right questions, the right law enforcement contacts... He might know we're in the general area, but don't worry. I'm not letting anything happen to you."

"We should sleep in shifts," she says, "just to be safe."

I don't tell her how good that sounds. I planned on staying awake, which would've been a bad idea. I don't want to scare my woman more than I need to or make her feel like she has to be paranoid, even if she should be.

"Don't you think?" she presses.

"Are you willing to do that?"

"If we're going to do this, we have to be a team, right?"

I hug her closer to me, savoring her warmth. "Yeah, we're a team."

I tell myself I'm not going to fall asleep. I'll lie here and listen for sounds of danger, but holding my woman in my arms is way too comfortable. It gets me thinking of the future—holding her like this without any danger hanging over our heads and knowing I never have to worry about letting her go. It's like a warm blanket wraps around me—a blanket of love. Hell, maybe some of my Kay's poetry is rubbing off on me.

I must be sleeping, but when I open my eyes, it feels so real. It doesn't feel like a dream. Ryan is young, with a cheeky smile

on his face as we circle each other with the boxing gloves on. We're in the front yard, and his dad is watching us, and from the upstairs window, so is Kayla—little Kayla, the girl she was.

Suddenly, I'm in her bedroom, reading her a story. She's looking up at me with a goofy grin, and her lips spread wide like she's never had so much fun in her life. I try to turn and run away. I don't want to think of her like this.

"Do you think we'll be together one day?" she says, but her voice isn't her own. It's dark, wicked. Horns are sprouting from her skin. I writhe, desperately trying to wake up. "Kai? Do you? Will you be my boyfriend one day?"

No, I try to say, but it's the same as the movement. I'm stuck, paralyzed, locked in place. There's nothing for me to do but watch as this wicked version of young Kayla begins to grow, her horns getting bigger, her eyes becoming wide black circles of pure hate.

"Will you?" she roars, the whole room trembling, the entire dream shaking. "Will you be mine?"

Eventually, I'm able to turn, duck, and run. Somehow, I end up in a small stone cell. Ryan turns and faces me. He's wearing overalls splattered with red. He's got a knife in his hand. I look down to see... to see *me*, bleeding red all over my Titan's MC jacket.

"What did you expect?" Ryan says sadly. "She's my baby sister, bro..."

He starts to move toward me with the blade. I'm locked in place again. Ryan smiles in a way I've never seen in real life, sadistic glee glinting in his eyes as he leans forward and brings the knife to my throat. It's a dream. I *know* it's a dream. Yet I can still feel the cool kiss of the metal. I can still feel the fear twisting through me.

"I'm sorry," I say.

"Sorry?" Ryan laughs. "Does that mean you're going to stop? Does that mean you'll let her go?"

Even in the dream, I can't lie. "No."

"That's what I thought."

As Ryan slices with the blade, my eyes snap open. I suck in a trembling breath, feeling like I just almost drowned. I'm covered in sweat. It takes me far too long to realize that Kay is gone.

CHAPTER FIFTEEN

K ayla

I sneaked out of the tent as Kai slept, using my phone as a flashlight to find my notebook. Sitting on the log where we ate our cold dinner, I read over the lines, the desperation, the silly girl who believed her crush would notice her, want her. Those happily-ever-afters in the bedtime stories—she thought—weren't just for her characters. I read what I wrote the other night, too. I'm unsure why I even added to it after all these years.

I try to tear out the pages, but they seem special. They seem to justify this somehow if I let my mind dance in that direction. Surely, that means something if I knew I wanted him since before he could ever want me. Surely, it has some significance. Or maybe I'm just clawing for reasons.

Ryan's at home, involved in a biker war. The last one was before I was born, and I remember the stories about the lives lost. I remember the faraway and deadly look Dad got in his eyes the rare times it was mentioned in his presence.

There's nothing I can do, no way home unless I steal Kai's keys or a car. Or find somewhere with enough civilization to have a car rental place. Then what? Drive home, fight the war, or convince Ryan to leave? He'd never leave the club.

"Kay," Kai calls out softly from the tent.

"I'm okay. I'm out here."

"Get in the tent." He sighs as if tired of bossing me around. "Please."

"I'm coming."

Quickly replacing the notebook, I return to the tent.

Apart from anything else, this trip has shown me how beautiful the country is. We've gone from the dusty landscape of Cali to yellow grass prairies in Nebraska, miles and miles of them all around us, gleaming golden in the sun.

I wrap my arms tightly around Kai, knowing we're going in the wrong direction. We should turn around and start speeding home. Instead, we're going to collect the most beautiful gift anybody has ever thought to give me.

I can feel Kai's passion burning through his jacket, his muscles pressing through the leather. I know I can't, but I'm almost convinced of it each time we go over a bump in the road. He's tense as hell and has been all morning.

We didn't speak much as we ate a light breakfast of crackers. We did kiss, wordlessly moving closer together, captivated with each other as we sunk into the pleasure. We gave ourselves to it completely for a few minutes, with me rocking on top of him. Then he groaned, grabbed my hips, and lifted me as though I weighed nothing.

I yell when the animal darts from the tall grasslands. Some grass is over four feet tall, and the animal appears from the shadows. It looks like some kind of fox. It runs straight in front of Kai's wheel like it has a death wish.

"Fuck," he grunts, adjusting and rolling straight into a large stone that bucks at the momentum. We judder up and down and speed toward the edge of the road. "Relax, Kay. I'm not going to crash."

He adjusts again, jerking the bike, his casual tone entirely at odds with the high-speed driving he's performing. Once he's leveled out, he slowly stops the bike.

"It's like some animals want to die," he says, pulling up at the side of the road.

"I know. That was crazy."

"I'm going to give the bike a once-over."

We step off the bike, taking off our helmets. The fox—if that's what it was—is gone. This time, I can't resist the urge to reach up and brush his wild hair from his forehead. He acknowledges it with a brief smile, and I wonder what a romance this would be.

A lifetime made of tiny moments,

Rarely acknowledged but brighter.

Each time they go unspoken,

And blinding the few times they reach our lips.

"Storage opened when I was jostling us around," Kai says, nodding down the road.

He starts walking before I spot it. It *looks* like the pink cover of the notebook, but I hope I'm wrong because he already has it in his hand when my slow mind catches up to what's happening. It's already fallen open to the page it always falls to—the one I've read the most over the years, the declarations.

He carries it to the edge of the empty road, staring down. His entire body has become even more tense than before. I keep expecting him to tear the notebook clean down the middle, his hands trembling.

When he returns to me, his eyes are blazing like green wildfire. "What the hell is this? When did you write this?"

I almost snatch the notebook away, but what would the point be? It's out there now, and I'm almost relieved he knows. I don't have to protect this secret anymore. Maybe that's why the fox came, to give me a chance to be honest. Or perhaps that's just plain nuts.

"Years ago," I whisper, "before you left for Europe when I was a kid."

He shakes his head slowly, staring down at the lines. "You had a crush on me."

He says *crush* as if it's a small thing. It seems so tiny with the blue sky open behind him, with the deep yellow of the prairie all around us. A crush, but it was my whole world once.

"Is this why you've... is this why we've..." He trails off, dropping the notebook, his jaw tight like he's on the edge of an explosion. "Is this all about your goddamn childish crush?"

"No, I want you for you," I tell him.

"But you did have a crush."

"Yes," I say, unable to hold eye contact with him. "When I was a kid, I—"

"I don't want to hear about when you were a *kid*," he growls. "I don't give a damn how you felt then."

"You asked—"

"Because I have to know if we're in this for the real thing or if this is some silly childish thing for you. Some... Fuck, I can't speak. This is too strange."

He marches over to the bike, picking up a few items here and there, residue from the storage compartment. I pick up some plastic water bottles and follow him. We say nothing, like a married couple during a brief armistice.

"When did this crush start?" he asks after a pause.

"If I answer, will you snap at me again?"

He smiles tightly and answers with a side-to-side of his eyes.

"I'm not sure exactly how long."

"Since the stories?" he asks.

"Around that time, yeah, but it's not like I knew what it meant back then. It was just a silly childhood thing. Then, when I got older, I crushed on you, but I knew nothing could ever happen."

"But you wanted it to."

"I still want it to," I whisper.

His chest seems to swell in the leather jacket, his shoulders getting broader. "You have to be sure this isn't some childhood crush. It isn't *just* that. I don't care how you felt when you were a girl. You're a woman now, and you have to decide. You have to be dead certain."

Suddenly, he rushes over to me. His hands are on my hips. He squeezes with far more passion than he has yet. I feel so sensitive to everything he does as if I can judge something like that, the layers and levels of his desire, but I can. It blazes through me as fiercely as his eyes burn, holding me in place. It's like I'm the only thing in the universe for him.

"Is your little crush going to wear off?"

"Don't belittle it. It meant a lot to me."

He leans down, his breath hot and savage. It's like he's going to combust.

"What about now? Is this all part of your crush?"

"It stopped being that the second we kissed," I whisper. "It's..."

I almost say *everything*. However, I know I can't tell him about the aching in my womb, the thoughts beckoning to the future, to children, laughter, and a thousand other impossible moments.

"Way more than that," I say weakly.

"I read something else in that notebook of yours," he says, his voice getting huskier. "It was in a different color than the rest. The ink looked newer. I need to know if this is true because if it is, Kay, I won't be able to stop. I won't even be able to try."

I swallow, knowing what he's talking about right away. I wrote the question, *Will I lose my virginity to him?*

"It's true," I whisper.

"When did you write it?" he says, his tone weighty, like he's placing much importance on this.

It's almost like he wants me, honestly and hungrily wants me, and has to make sure it's not just the past fueling my need.

That would mean this goes much deeper than I could ever have imagined.

"In Vegas. It was silly. I didn't even think. I just scribbled it down."

He leans down, his breath hot on my face, warming up other parts of me, every part. "Is it true? Are you a virgin?"

CHAPTER SIXTEEN

K ai

She nods, pouting in that beautiful, adorable way. She's not doing it on purpose. There's nothing designed or forced about it. It's just her expression when she's revealing the truth—the truth that has me pulsing all over.

I should stop and give myself time to understand this. There's no way I should say what I'm about to say.

"You're my woman," I growl, then kiss her.

She whimpers through the kiss as if caught off guard, but then she sinks into it, clinging onto my neck and standing on her tiptoes, moaning as she leans against me. I grab her hips and pull her closer, letting her feel my desire, my thick, hard dick pushing through the denim.

"Your woman?" she gasps between kisses.

"Here's the dirty little secret, Kay," I say passionately. "I've wanted you ever since I came home to the States. Obviously, I didn't notice you before I left. Yet I did the second I rode up and saw you on the horizon. When you stopped shimmering, and I could really make you out, I noticed two things. First, you were—are—the most beautiful woman I've ever seen. Second, I need you. I *own* you."

She blinks in disbelief, her beautiful eyes getting gorgeously wide.

"Then, I *really* looked. I saw who you were. You were all grown up, and it took me by surprise. I knew I couldn't listen to the first feeling. *That's* why I didn't want to bring you on this trip. I knew I couldn't resist you, and I was right."

"You... own me?" she whispers.

I kiss her again, fiercer this time, indulging in her full hips. I could listen to her moans change rhythm and shape all day, especially when I slide one hand to her ass, massaging and savoring every moment.

"Every. Single. Part." I keep my lips close to hers. "You're going to be my wife one day. You're going to give me children. We're going to have a..."

"Happily ever after," she whispers as if awestruck.

"Don't get all wide-eyed on me. You'll give me ideas."

"We can't... here, can we?"

I hear the nerves in her voice. The truth is, my primal instincts would lead me to bend her over the bike and grind into her hot, young pussy over and over. I'd thrust into her hard until she gasped, moaned, and creamed for me.

"You deserve better for your first time," I tell her honestly, "but that doesn't mean I can't taste your perfect pussy. That doesn't mean I can't own you right here."

"Do you mean it?" she moans as I move away.

"Yes," I growl, grabbing my bike and pushing it into the grasslands.

"What are you doing?"

"Giving us some cover. I need you right now. I'll die if I don't taste your virgin slit. This proves what I felt the second I saw you. You're mine. I'm the only man you'll ever feel. I'm the only... fucking... one."

The bike flattens some grass, but more springs up around it, obscuring it. I take off my leather jacket, lay it on the seat, and then return to my woman, wrapping my arms around her waist.

"The only one," she moans softly.

I take her hands in mine, imagining we're at the altar. Neither of us has mentioned him, but I imagine Ryan there as my best man, with a big smile, no doubts about what we're doing, and no second guesses. In the fantasy, he supports us. In the dream, he'd never tell us to stop.

"You have to be sure," I snarl, then kiss her again.

"I am." She shifts against me, speaking in quick breaths between kisses. "I don't want anybody else. I never have."

She moans adorably when I bring my hand down on her ass in a spank.

"What was that for?"

"Never, you said. I don't care about before. Only now."

She trails her hands up and down my chest. "I get it's weird for you."

"That's an understatement."

"Okay." She stands on her tiptoes, an excitable, sweet smile on her face. "Then let's focus on the now."

There's something so hot about when she initiates it, leaning up and pushing her lips on mine. I squeeze her against me, grinning through the kiss when I lift her off her feet, and she squeals in delight. Carrying her to the bike, I place her on my leather jacket, then kneel in the grass and slide my hands up her body, shuddering all over as I think about her pussy.

"I need to taste you so damn bad," I snarl. "If anybody else ever saw you, I'd kill them. I wouldn't be able to stop myself. Nobody else ever gets to see you like this."

"Only you," she moans, nodding, urging.

"I'll have to listen for any cars."

"I'll watch too."

After a moment, she shudders and adds, "You know... if I don't lose control. Can I tell you something else?"

As she asks the question, I slowly pull her pants down. She shifts from side to side with the movement, leaning back slightly. It's like when I made her young virgin slit cream for me. Her body knows what to do. It's fueled by her *crush*.

That almost jolts me out of the moment more than Ryan's imagined voice did the last time we got steamy. It almost makes me stop. Then I see her naked thighs in the sunlight, her thick creamy legs drawing my mind to how soppy her slit will be, her lips swollen with lust, her eager clit. I'm shuddering as I pull her jeans down to her knees.

"Tell me," I groan.

"I've never done anything before. I was..."

"What?" I say, carefully pulling her jeans so they don't snag on her boots.

My body is primed for hunger. Every sinew, every nerve aimed at seeing her sweet, soaked pussy. My balls are tight at the thought, shaft hard, precome bursting from my tip.

"Say it," I snap.

"You won't like it. It's about the c-crush."

I pull one leg free, then work on the other.

"It turns you on, though," I growl.

"How do you know that?"

I smirk, looking up at her. Grass blows around her legs. She smiles down at me with a cheeky, passionate look.

"You can tell when I'm turned on, huh?"

"It's like your body is..." I almost stop myself, but I've already told her she's mine and I want children with her. She knows how crazy I am, and she's here anyway. "Talking to me. Telling me you're ready to take every last drop of my come."

"I want that." She squeezes her legs together as if the sensation in her pretty pussy is too much. "B-badly."

"We're going to do it together."

Finally, I get her other leg free. Then I take her underwear, pausing momentarily to study the wetness on the white material, a horny blemish that lets me see her hole. Her lips are big and swollen with lust, calling to the beast in me, growling like a bike, like a Titan.

Her underwear is easier to get over her boots, and then I push her legs apart, sinking my knees into the soft bed of the grass and bringing my mouth toward her pussy. Her smell washes around my face and nose, tangy and welcoming. Her skin goose-pimples under my touch. She shivers the closer I get to her hole.

"Your breath's tickling me," she whispers.

"Nobody's ever licked your little pussy before?"

"N-no. Only you, Kai."

"And I'm the only one who ever will," I growl.

"So you've made that decision without asking me first, best bud?"

I lean back, pushing the voice away. I can't think of him, the betrayal, of how wrong this is. It's bad enough we're in public. It's bad enough somebody could theoretically see. If I start thinking about him, my best friend...

"Kai?" Kay says, looking down at me.

The flush in her cheeks does it—the vivacious need to give me a child blushing through her full, beautiful cheeks. It wrenches any guilt or doubt away.

"Nobody else ever touches this pussy." I rub her clit softly, keeping my eyes locked on her. "Don't look away, Kay."

She blinks, her eyes watery with lust as I rub her clit a little faster. The whole time, I'm watching her, feathering her sweet pussy like I'd rev a bike's engine. She purrs for me sweeter than any bike ever could, her legs twitching.

Her eyes are too damn sexy, the way they shift depending on how much pressure I apply to her receptive, soaked virgin pussy. I drive my palm against her clit, fingering her hole, moving in circles around her entrance as I keep the pressure on her pleasure point. She starts gasping, clawing at her legs.

"Fuck, keep doing that," I demand.

I stare as her fingers sink into her thick thighs. There's so much of my woman, a fullness that never stops. Her size has me almost exploding in my hands, her small hands buried in her big legs.

"This?" she moans, squeezing tighter.

I'm the one who told *her* not to look away. Now, as I move my finger closer and closer to her wet hole, I stare at her fingers, digging into her legs. Then I can't take her scent anymore. Instead of fingering her eager slit, I kiss up her thigh and bring my mouth to her pussy. Propping one hand against the foot peg, I lean forward to give myself the right angle.

The *perfect* angle to push my face right against her pussy. I make my tongue hard and then press it against her entrance, growling and shaking as her taste fills me up, tangy and needy and *mine*. She gasps, almost slipping off the bike. I snarl and hold her in place, not wanting her to chafe her skin on the metal. She stays on the leather, and I hold her tight, squeezing her hips in a big greedy handful as I tongue-fuck her hole.

She's so damn tight, her hole closing around my tongue, squeezing. It's a preview of what she'll feel like wrapped around my dick when I stuff myself inside her and fill her up.

Another sweet gasp when I take my tongue out, focusing on her clit again. I slide my finger into her, flicking my tongue back and forth. Her clit is even more swollen and lust-filled than before. I only pause to listen and ensure nobody's sneaking up on us.

"We're good," she whimpers, looking down. "Don't..."

"Say it," I snap when she stops herself.

"Hmm."

I squeeze her legs and tongue her eager bud. "Say what you were going to say."

"Don't stop," she moans, her legs trembling, jiggling in the sunlight in the sexiest way.

"Fuck. You're so hot when you jiggle like that."

"J-jiggle?" she moans.

I stand up slowly, resting one hand on her leg, staring down so she can see the raging inferno she provokes in me. My full balls are roaring out for a release, roaring at me to go complete animal, strip her naked, and fuck her ruthlessly so her whole body shimmers for me.

"You heard," I growl.

"Is jiggle a good thing?"

"With you, it's the best thing. It shows how curvy you are. How full-figured and sexy. How fucking *mine*. Ah, it's primal. It makes me want to..."

She moans when I bite her thigh softly, licking her skin, tasting her sweat, and spreading her juices over her leg. I love biting her thick leg, feeling how big she is.

When I lean back again, she looks down at her leg, her mouth open in a shocked smile. "How does everything with you feel good?"

"I need to watch you jiggle some more."

I reach over, turn on the engine, and start the bike. She squeals and starts shaking around on the seat, making me fully and instantly obsessed. Her legs shake, and even her pussy lips shift for me, every part of her full and perfect.

"How does that feel?" I say, kneeling again.

"It's g-good," she whispers.

I attack her sweet pussy with my tongue again, addicted to her taste, lapping up from her hole to her clit and up and down her lips. The bike rumbles, and when my woman starts whining, I grab the throttle. With one hand, I palm her pussy quickly. I make the bike roar and vibrate against her eager body with the other.

She's screaming by the end, the veins on her neck standing up, her juices squirting out of her hole like they only ever will for me—nobody else, just me. She reaches a screaming orgasm as I almost bust the bike. In the end, I stare, hypnotized by her legs, the shimmering thickness, and the way they keep shaking for me. Sitting up, she gestures to me. I lean down, and she throws her arms around her shoulders.

"Taste yourself," I groan, bringing my lips to hers. "Then you can see how perfect you are. Even your pussy tastes good."

She moans when I kiss her, my hand naturally resting on her leg. "Does that taste good to you?" she says teasingly.

"Everything about you is perfect," I growl. "I need your pussy so badly. I need..."

"Go on," Ryan taunts in my mind. "Say it. Say you need to tell her you love her before you remember me, your old buddy. Tell her nothing else matters, just your relationship, your lust, or whatever you think this is. Say it, Kai."

"You," I finish weakly, the guilt resurging. It doesn't do much to stop the lust from rising in me, making my dick ache, my shaft burn, and everything in me willing me to claim her.

I look around the rolling golden landscape as she puts her trousers on. This is the last good moment before everything turns to hell. Her phone starts to ring.

CHAPTER SEVENTEEN

K ayla

"What do you mean, a shootout?"

I'm screaming down the phone louder than I screamed when Kai turned on the bike and drove me to an orgasm. It seems twistedly unfair that this phone call has to happen now, so soon after I learned he wants me, too.

I can still taste myself on my lips and remember how obsessed he looked while watching my legs... *jiggle*. That word made me think he was mocking me at first, but when I saw him staring, I knew he was serious about it. I knew I was driving him wild, but now it's all fading to crap.

"Natasha?" I yell down the phone.

"Yeah, sorry. I'm on the phone with my cousin, too. There was a shootout on Main Street. It literally just happened. He thinks he saw Ryan. Oh, God, I'm sorry."

"Say it," I snap, then raise my voice when she doesn't respond immediately. "Natasha!"

"They think he got shot," Natasha says. "I'm so sorry. You should call one of the guys."

"Kai's doing it now," I reply. "He's on the phone to them. A shootout? And Ryan shot?"

I repeat it as if it will disappear and stop the ugly reality. It's too damn painful thinking about Ryan with blood all over

his... Oh, Jesus. I'm hyperventilating or almost. I take a few slow breaths.

The kiss, the steaminess, the lies, Emily Dickinson...

"I've betrayed him," I whisper, tears sliding down my cheeks.

Kai's on the phone a few feet away, his eyes bloodshot, looking like a man who's just returned from war and is ready to go back again. His tatted arm bulges, veins pressing against his skin, the Titan inflating.

"With Kai?" Natasha asks softly.

"Don't think about that now. One step at a time."

"You're right. Thank you."

"I'm here if you need me."

"Thank you."

I hang up and walk through the prairie, back onto the side of the deserted road. Kai is pacing, looking like a different man from the one I was with recently. He's got an extra fierce aura as he hangs his cell up, stuffing it in his pocket.

"The Bribones hit them on fucking *Main Street*," Kai roars, pulling his hand back like he's about to throw his phone. Then he remembers he might need it and hammers his hand against his chest instead. "Those fucking mongrels."

"What about Ryan?"

When I touch Kai's hands, he pulls them away. I try not to let myself look wounded and try not to think about what it says about me as a sister, still willing to touch Kai now. Then Kai softens and takes my hands. He squeezes gently. "He was shot in the stomach. They're taking him to the hospital. They might have to operate. Two Bribones are dead, and the police are questioning a couple of our men. *Fuck*."

I stumble away, shaking all over, thinking of Ryan in a hospital bed with a gun wound where his belly should be. It doesn't seem like it fits. I was arguing with him recently, but nothing crazy, nothing life-changing.

[&]quot;Y-yeah."

"Kay."

Kai walks over to me, his hands raised. He takes my shoulders and pulls me into an embrace, holding me there as the sobs start shuddering and erupting. There are so many of them. Wave upon wave of agony smashes through me.

"We have to go back," I weep. "I have to be with him. The hospital will be guarded, right?"

"Of course it will."

"Then take me there. Let me be with my brother. Please."

"He'd want me to keep you as far away from there as possible," Kai says. "Especially now."

I grab Kai's chest and push away to look into his eyes. He needs to see how serious I am. I'm as serious as every sentence I ever wrote in my notebook, as every declaration of belonging. I've never been more serious about anything.

"If you don't take us back, I'll do it myself. I'll escape. I'll get a car. I'm going home, Kai. The only question is, are we going together, or am I making my own way?"

He lets out a sigh, then smiles almost sadly. It's like a piece of him wishes he didn't say what he says next, but he can't stop himself.

"You're going to make an incredible mother, Kay."

Even if a huge piece of *me* knows I shouldn't, I glow under the force of the compliment anyway. Warmth whelms in me, promises of the future that seem so distant from my brother, a hospital bed, and the agony of letting him go.

"We'll have to tell him when he recovers," Kai says fiercely.

"I know," I whisper, "but not until he's completely better, okay?"

Neither of us says the obvious. He might never recover from a bullet wound to the stomach. He might already be dead. We're hundreds of miles away, and there's nothing we can do but get home as quickly as possible and hope and pray.

"We need to find an airport," I tell him.

"No, we can't fly. If this is as bad as it seems, we need to be mobile. It's rumored that this other club could have ties to the cartels. We can't risk being trapped on a plane with a cartel goon with nothing to lose. We have to be mobile."

"Just in case you have to stop me? Is that it? From being with Ryan?"

He swallows and nods.

"I'm risking a lot by taking you home. Let me do it my way. Or, I swear to God, I'll stop you, Kay. Even if you hate me for it."

I could never hate you, I almost reply, but instead, I shrug and walk to the bike.

We're becoming broken records, both of us, when we mention the need to stay apart. No matter what we do, we end up together, somehow, like two bikes without riders that miraculously follow the same path. We want, need, desire, hunger for, and own the same thing—our future, all the love and joy we will share.

But if Ryan dies, will there be any of that? Will we ever be able to let ourselves feel it? Will we even be able to look at each other if, before Ryan dies, we don't tell him the truth and give him a chance to hate us?

CHAPTER EIGHTEEN

K ai

I race down the road, trying not to think too often about what Kay and I shared on the prairie. It's not just the lust or the taste of her body, but what we shared about the future, our desire for a family—all of it.

All I can think about is Ryan. I barely see the landscape or register anything. I can only think of my best friend lying in a hospital bed, unconscious, as the doctors try to stop his blood from poisoning him or his body from failing. He's connected to machines. That bullet tore through him and gutted almost enough blood to leave a man drained.

His sister clings tightly to me as we ride, with even more urgency than usual. She holds me like she never wants to let go. Maybe it's because she knows she'll have to when we reach our destination. We'll have to pretend nothing happened until we can spring the news on Ryan.

Ryan... Fire rages in me, spitting and hissing and roaring, flames that tell me my only job is to get home and hurt the men who hurt my friend. To hurt them badly, kill the fuckers if necessary. I'm already rehearsing what I'll do the second I reach home, the orders I'll give, the places we'll scout. The fires we'll set. The bullets we'll shoot.

On the edge of the state, we stop for a bathroom break. I lean against the bike, scanning the road, a little busier than the nowhere land we were before. Part of me hopes I see Randall

or another hitman, somebody I could aim this rage at, apart from myself. That's who deserves it—me. I should've fought these feelings until I could talk to Ryan about them. Now, I may never get the chance.

"Oh, I'm sorry."

I look up at the sound of Kay's voice. She's standing in front of a tall, skinny man, his shoulders jutting through his pale green shirt.

"Just watch where you're fucking going," the man snaps.

I don't see him. I don't see anything except a sheet of red. Red like the bandages wrapped around my best friend's gut, red like the dressing barely keeping his insides in place. When the red in my vision clears, I'm standing over the man. He thought he could be tough because he assumed she was alone. He thought he could talk down to a young woman, bully her, and get away with it.

"Is there a problem?" I snarl.

The man stares up at me, slowly shaking his head.

"Move."

He turns and runs toward the parking lot.

"It's my fault," Kay murmurs as we return to the bike. "I wasn't looking where I was going."

"Nobody gets to speak to you like that," I tell her. "Nobody."

We share a look that, before, might've turned into a kiss, but neither of us is in the mood for that.

It's early afternoon. We're losing time. Pulling on our helmets, we climb onto the bike. We ride together. With each passing mile, more and more memories of Ryan come to me. When we were in the gym, Ryan held the pads as I hit them heavily, and after, he asked, "Why are you so angry, Kai?"

Then I told him what happened to me as a kid before the club took me in. He's the only person I've ever told. That connection should mean something, but clearly, it didn't mean a goddamn thing. It didn't stop me from spanking his little sister, didn't stop me from wanting to kiss her, love her, protect her, or betray *him*. I'm a beast, just like they tried to tell me.

Nothing but a fuckup. An animal. Nothing but the feral kid. Throw him some scraps. Don't worry about how he feels. He doesn't have feelings. *It* doesn't have feelings. That's me, right down to my skin, cells, and DNA.

When I finally find a place to belong, when I finally find a brother, what do I do? What sort of dumbass choices do I make? I growl inside my helmet, and the bike growls louder beneath me as I pick up the speed and blaze across the asphalt. It would be better if I could hate myself for this, but that would mean regretting what we did. It would mean regretting every single moment. Still, I go faster.

"Kai," I hear her yelling, the only voice that could pierce this fog. I'm growling and grunting like a crazy person, shaking all over, wishing I could just keep riding until the wheels fall off or I do. "Kai, *Kai*."

With my woman on the bike, too, I slow down. I can't risk her life. I bring the bike to a stop at the side of the road, take off my helmet, and throw it on the ground. I'm embarrassing myself, but the anger takes over as I cave in the helmet with my boot. I keep hitting it, over and over, until it's crushed. I'm panting and sitting in the dirt.

"Kai," Kay whispers, her voice shaking as if afraid of me.

I sit with my fists resting on my knees, staring off at nothing, trying not to think about the past and all those countless moments. The time Ryan threw a baseball so hard, it smashed a neighbor's window, and I said I did it, and then he bought me a pair of boxing gloves to say thanks. Or all those shooting sessions in the dusty wild together, honing our skills—him laughing and me laughing—and everything was good.

Kay leans down, gently placing her hand on my shoulder. "It's okay."

I clench my teeth so hard I wonder how I don't shatter them. I almost want to let them explode, let all the tension erupt out of

me. Instead, I reach up and touch Kay's hand.

"I'm sorry," I tell her. "This isn't about me. I need to get my act together."

"You're allowed to have feelings."

I almost tell her, *Look where our feelings have led us*. We're sitting in the dirt, Ryan betrayed and half-dead, but she's not in the dirt. It's just me. I stand, trying to stop myself from trembling, the ruin of my helmet staring up at me like a distorted grimace.

Kay touches my arms and squeezes them gently. "It's going to be okay. I know it is. Ryan's so tough. He can fight anything. He *will* fight anything. You'll see."

I'm supposed to be the tough one, but here she is, comforting me. "You're right. I don't know what came over me. It's just..."

"What?" she says, with almost a note of desperation in her voice. "Kai?"

"It doesn't matter." Leaning down, I pick up my helmet. It was expensive and sturdy, and now it's a wreck. "We need to get moving."

"It does matter."

She takes my hand and spins me around. We're surrounded by what feels like our natural setting—dusty miles, the sun already setting, and the dust turning orange. The remaining light shines in my woman's eyes as she steps forward, gazing up at me. For a second, a paranoid part of me thinks about Ryan watching us. Then I remember the shootout. He's not watching anything.

"We need to—"

"You can talk to me about anything. This is all moving so fast." She holds my eye contact stubbornly. "That doesn't mean you can't share your pain with me. That's why I'm here. I hope you know if we ever could be..."

Together. She can't say it, and I don't blame her. It's agony to acknowledge things like that while thinking of Ryan.

"If you're that concerned for me," he taunts in my mind, "why are you just standing here?"

"You'd talk to me," Kay says, "about anything. That's what I'm here for."

"It's nothing. Just about before, when I was a kid. A memory."

She smooths her hand to my shoulder, threatening to melt me with her delicate features and kind eyes. "What memory?"

"It's—"

"If you say *it's nothing* one more time, we're going to have a problem. I don't care how big your muscles are."

We both laugh, somehow, through the pain. Her eyes gleam playfully when she looks at me, but then she gets serious again.

"It's about before I came to live with my aunt and found the club. I told nobody what happened except for Ryan."

She swallows, moving closer to me. A car passes on the road, and I scan it, thinking of the rival club and the threat of violence. The never-ending need to keep my woman safe, no matter what happens or threatens us.

"They treated me like an animal and forced me to fight other kids in a muddy pit in the woods, a bunch of drunks and druggies laughing, cackling, watching. Looking back, it doesn't seem real, but I once met one of the other kids. We went at it pretty hard on my ninth birthday. He remembers it all the same, too."

I'm speaking distantly, not letting myself feel the emotions, not letting the sounds and the smells return to me.

"Remembered, I should say. He took his life a few years after I spoke to him."

Kay shudders, moving somehow closer. With my arm wrapped around her, we're as intimate as two people can be. Yet each time she moves, I know she's offering more comfort, more warmth. I kiss her head, holding her as tightly as possible.

"That's awful. No, that doesn't even come close. It's evil. I'm so sorry. I can't believe that happened to you. I mean, I know it did. I believe *you*. I'm just so, so sorry."

I sigh darkly. "Me too. It was a bad time, but then I met your brother and your dad. I made a new family."

She stiffens slightly in my embrace. I get why, I think. I can't refer to Ryan as family because that would mean that Kay is, too, and we can never go there. It's a strange notion, letting the idea of Ryan as my *brother* go. It's either that or end things with Kay right now, definitively, with no doubts or backtracking.

"I don't like to think of those years," I go on, "but Ryan deserved to know. We were together so much growing up. He could always sense when one of those bullshit moods took me."

"Why do you talk about it like that?"

"Because that's what it is. Letting some stuff that happened years ago dictate how I feel now."

"No, Kai. If you don't let it out, it'll eat you up. That's why we've got each other."

Tears appear in her eyes, beading and then sliding down her cheeks. She knows she shouldn't be saying this, knows we shouldn't be *thinking* about it, but we can't stop. Even now. What does that say about us?

"We really should get going," I tell her.

"Thank you for talking to me. I'm so sorry that happened. I'm so sorry the world is so messed up sometimes."

I lean down and kiss her, breaking another rule. We never mean it when we say we will stay away from each other. We never believe, even for a second, that we can stop ourselves.

"Let's go," I tell her.

"What about your helmet?" she asks.

"I'll have to go without. We can't waste any more time."

We head to the bike together. It's odd, but I feel lighter somehow. Not just from the lack of a helmet and the wind rushing against my face as we ride. It's like I'm leaving the past behind. Just for a little while, long enough to let me focus and forget about everything I've done wrong. Instead, I feel the road beneath me, the bike rumbling, my woman's arms wrapped reassuringly around my waist.

CHAPTER NINETEEN

K ayla

"You need to eat," he tells me as I remove my helmet. He must be able to see the guilty look on my face. Or maybe it's not even a *look* thing. Perhaps he can sense the guilt radiating from me.

"Sure," I mutter, "but Ryan—"

"He's safe. He's recovering. He's not in serious danger." Each word that comes from Kai gets gruffer and gruffer. When he looks at me, his intense eyes seem to burn. I wonder if he resents me for what we've done, the heat we've shared, now that Ryan is at risk.

"So you're saying we shouldn't hurry home?"

Kai shakes his head and then gestures toward the truck stop. "Don't put words in my mouth. I'm saying that stopping for ten minutes won't change anything."

"You said we can't waste time," I remind him.

He walks right up to me. I can feel his heat. My body responds immediately. Guilty, charged energy pulses through me in waves. Even now, knowing that Ryan is in a hospital bed, knowing that the entire reason for this trip was a trick, I want my Kai. I want to drag my hands down his body, feel his strength, and pretend the rest of the world—oh, God, my own brother—doesn't exist.

"Eating isn't wasting time," he grunts. "Taking ten minutes to get ready for more hard riding isn't wasting time. You really think, if we didn't need this stop, I wouldn't keep pushing?"

I reach up and place my hand on his chest. His heart is pounding so hard. It's like a series of bomb detonations, pulsing, roaring. "I'm sorry," I murmur. "I know you're right. I guess I feel like a bad sister lately."

He laughs darkly. "Yeah, I know the feeling."

I try to smile. It's difficult, considering the current circumstances. "You feel like a bad sister, do you?"

Miraculously, he laughs. It brings my thoughts back to when this started before I ever would've dreamed he'd want anything to do with me, back when I was just the kid sister and nothing more. "What are you in the mood for?" he asks, walking toward the vending machine.

He rolls his arms and rotates his neck. It's like he's getting ready for a fight. There's this *aura* radiating from him, too. Usually, I'd say that's way too mystical to entertain. I can't really see his *aura*, can I? But it feels like I can. Waves of violence are pulsing from him. It's almost like he wants things to turn bloody.

He rests his arm against the wall at the vending machine, looking over the selections. Everything he does is so cool and calm, even with the violent intentions pulsing from him. Maybe this is what it's like, learning to read another human being, the poetry of their personality.

"I'm getting jerky," he says. "Several servings and one of those godforsaken energy drinks." He pushes in some coins. "I feel like a kid ordering that. What do you want, Kay?"

He's called me Kay so many times, yet every time he says *Kay*, it still sends a shiver of warm disbelief through me. "Some chips," I tell him, "and a water's fine. I need to use the restroom."

I turn away, but then he grabs my hand. He squeezes hard so I can feel the fire scorching through him. Turning back, I find him staring down at me in that nothing-else-exists way—that

nothing-else-*matters* way. He leans close. "Wait until I'm done here. I'll come with you."

"To the ladies' room?"

He looks around at the empty truck stop. We're in the middle of nowhere. We're literally the only people here. A car drives past on the road, just one, but otherwise, it's just us.

"Just wait," he says gruffly.

"Kai, I'll be—"

"You're waiting," he snaps. "I can't let you go alone. If something happened to you, I'd never be able to forgive myself."

So much emotion enters his voice, fear and protection. He squeezes my hand tighter. He's not holding me with as much strength as he could. I know that, yet even this small amount is a terrifying preview of the power he can generate.

"Okay," I whisper. "I'll wait."

He lets me go after a pause, pushing more change into the vending machine. Once he's done, he follows me to the bathroom. I go inside and handle my business, taking longer than I technically need to. As I wash my hands, I think about what will happen when or *if* Ryan learns the truth about his best friend and me.

Is there a chance that Ryan will give us his blessing? Is there a chance he'll understand how badly we need each other? More likely, he'll hate me and Kai. It'll tear the club apart.

"Are you okay?" he asks when I'm done.

"Yeah... fine."

"Let's eat," he says.

We walk over to a small bench a few feet from the parked bike. Another car drives past on the road, but then everything is quiet again. Kai bites into his food forcefully like he's angry with it. I munch my chips.

"We'll take another road trip one day," he says, cracking his can open and sipping the bright orange energy drink. "This

stuff is poison, but at least it'll keep me alert."

"Another road trip, hmm?" I ask.

He smirks. He can't hide the seriousness in his eyes. He can't hide that dark *aura*, but the twitch in his lips feels significant. He's making an effort when he has every reason to keep his distance. He shared the most vulnerable parts of himself with me, his most vicious memories, and he's *not* closing off. It feels like a privilege.

"When the war's done," Kai says. "When we don't have to look over our shoulders, I'll take you someplace. Maybe somewhere we've already been before. Maybe somewhere new."

"Why would you want to go somewhere we've already been?"

I get the sense there's so much he wants to say. He leans over and gently brushes the hair from my face. It sends sizzling desire all through my body. "Because when we go there the second time," he says, "we'll be different people. The war will be over. Ryan—" He cuts himself off. He can't bring himself to say Ryan will approve of us. He can't even hint at it, the thing we both want so badly. "All of this will seem like a bad dream."

"I hope so," I whisper.

We eat without talking for a while. It gives me time to wonder if he was referring to something specific when he said he wanted to visit someplace we've been before.

Deep in my heart,

In a place I cannot let myself see,

A vivid piece of art,

Shows my man on one knee, looking up at me.

I know one question,

Is all it takes,

To put our love in its rightful place.

Is *that* what he's referring to? A proposal?

"You look so beautiful when you zone out like that," he says.

I can't stop myself from smiling. Guilt tries to throttle me and end the smile, but I don't let it. Soon, whatever we're building here could turn to ash. We might as well enjoy it while we can.

"So I'm ugly when I'm zoned in, huh?"

He grins. "You're even beautiful when you're fishing for compliments."

Soon, it's time to leave again. When Kai stands, his demeanor changes, becoming all business. He takes our wrappers to the trashcan and then gestures toward the bike. As I climb on, part of me wishes we could stay in this pocket of nowhere, pretending the rest of the world was just a dream.

Hours later, we stop at a gas station. Kai pumps and then turns to me. The closer we get to home, the more serious he's become. Now, he looks ready to fling himself into violence at a moment's notice.

"Come inside with me," he says, reaching out and then letting his hand drop. It's like he doesn't want to touch me when somebody we know could see us.

I will myself to reach out and touch his hand, but what if a Titan happens to be out this way? What if he sees us and tells Ryan before I have a chance to do it myself? I'd never stop feeling like the world's worst sister.

We walk into the gas station together, standing so close our shoulders almost touch. I plan to head over to the magazines and browse while Kai settles the gas bill. I remember our gas station games. I doubt we'll be having any laughs this time.

Before I can walk over to the stall, Kai says something in an urgent tone of voice. "Kay, get behind me."

I freeze when I hear Kai's tone change. We're standing in a gas station in the middle of the night, with nothing around us

but darkness and the lights of the road leading into the distance. We're in the desert, almost back home.

My legs carry me behind Kai's back before I can think about what's happening. I don't think about why as I do what he says, instincts guiding me, the Titan on his jacket staring. When I turn, I see the reason. The gas station attendant makes a moaning noise of terror. She's an elderly woman whose voice cracks in a specific way as if she's witnessed men fight before and doesn't want to see the brutality again.

It's the man from Vegas, the one who was following me. He wears a leather vest to show off his inflated arms purposefully. His blond hair is loose around his face, as though framing it, framing *him*. He looks angrier than the last time I saw him. He strides right up to Kai until Kai raises his hand.

"Close enough, Randall."

"My old friend."

Randall smiles, thin lips spreading across his face. Or maybe his lips seem thin because he's got such puffy features. I'm not judging, but heck, he's freaking me out big time.

"If you don't let me get the women clear," Kai says, "things are going to end very fucking bad for you. If you force me to fight while knowing Kayla or this innocent lady might get injured, it will end in death. I don't give a damn anymore. My brother is bleeding out in the hospital."

His voice shakes on *my brother*, and something stabs into my heart. It's a vicious and unfair instinct, the reflex to tell him he and Ryan aren't brothers, just best friends. Even as a figure of speech, it grosses me out, but this isn't the time or place.

Randall waves a hand, shakes his head, and laughs coldly. "The old bitch can go. The fat bitch stays."

I turn to the elderly lady. "Run, ma'am. Run right now."

"L-let her come with me," the old lady says, staring bravely at Randall

Randall reaches into his pocket and takes out a pistol. In a flash, Kai has done the same. The men aim their guns at each

other.

"Kay, take the lady and leave."

Randall smirks and laughs again. He sounds unhinged. "You're both coming with me."

"You're an idiot, Randall. Showing yourself like this. If you really wanted to get us..."

Kai trails off. Randal's laugh becomes even more crazed.

"What is it?" I whisper.

"There's someone else."

Suddenly, somebody sprints at me from behind the counter. They must've been crouched there ever since Randall walked in. Maybe they came through the back. They shove the old lady out of the way and then leap at me. I see a flash of denim. A denim shirt, nearly blood-stained, the world ending, my poetic, pointless mind pulses. Then, a solid arm coils around my middle, crushing across my chest. I shift against the person, registering the situation way too slowly.

Randall takes a few steps forward. The man with his arm around me is panting, his breath hot against my ear, but nothing like Kai's when *he* breathes over my skin.

Kai walks off to the side, keeping his gun trained on Randall but looking at me. Pain streaks through him. His green eyes are grim and focused, his chest rising and falling calmly.

I can't see the man holding me, but I can feel the sharp object pointed against my back. It's a cold, hard edge jabbing me and making me feel useless. The door whines open and closed as the elderly lady pushes into the night.

"She's going to call the cops," I say, struggling to keep my voice steady.

"Maybe," Randall says, "but we'll be long gone by then. Get the bitch in the car."

"Nobody has to die here," Kai says, keeping his gun firmly trained on Randall's head even when the man paces back and forth. There's something like desperation in Kai's voice. "I

don't think either of you are good men. You wouldn't be doing this if you were, but I don't want to kill you. I've killed men before, but I've never wanted to do it, never enjoyed it. Don't make me do it again."

Kai's voice cracks, and I think about the kid in the forest, the feral kid they forced to fight, and all the hell he had to endure.

"Don't be stupid," Randall says. "We've got you beat."

"You've insulted my woman. I was going to beat you badly for that. I wasn't going to kill you, but now this—putting her life in danger. I can't let that stand. Last chance."

"Your woman?" Randall says, sneering. "You know this is Ryan's little sister, right? I'm just checking. A second ago, you said you were his brother."

Kai stares bleakly.

"Enough games," Randall goes on. "The cops might be here soon. If you don't move, I'll have to ask my friend here to motivate you. That motivation might involve certain things being done to a certain fatty you might not like."

I ignore his words, telling myself they don't matter. I've rarely been bullied for my size. Being Ryan's sister has that advantage. Over the years, people have thrown those comments my way, and I've always just shrugged them off and told myself they don't matter. With Kai, I don't have to dismiss them. I can silently laugh at them. I know how much he wants me, how obsessed he gets. I know there's a connection between us that nobody else can understand.

"Last chance," Kai says.

Randall smirks. "You already said that."

Kai looks at the man holding me. "Let her go."

"No way. Not letting a prized piggy like this go. We've got a delivery to make. The best part is, we can have some fun with her first."

"Do you think you could?" Randall says, laughing darkly.

More hurtful words, and I push them all down, trying to think how we will get out of this. I know Kai is threatening them, but surely that's bluffing. There's nothing he can do, not when the man is holding me so close and hinting at all the bad things he will do, the knife pressing suggestively against me.

"Don't judge me. It's been a while. Anyway, that's what pills are for."

"Have you assaulted women before?" Kai says, his voice taking on an eerie calm tone, almost like he's mentally detaching from whatever's about to happen.

My frantic mind leaps around composing. It's how it's worked since I was a kid, ever since I first fell in love with words from the stories Kai would read me. He was a giant back then and somehow even more of a giant now.

Blood is in the air,

Taunting, trying to

Burst into this ugly world.

I don't even have time to think about if that's good or care because Randall is saying ugly things. He's talking about a woman he and the man holding me assaulted. I can barely listen as he talks about her age and the noises she made. All the while, he's grinning as if he's proud.

"Thank you for telling me that," Kai says when he's done.

"Yeah, yeah," Randall says, annoyed with Kai's lack of reaction.

"It's good to know I don't have to feel bad about what I'm about to do."

Randall gestures with his gun. "Get moving now, and stop pointing that damn thing at me."

"Close your eyes, Kay."

There's something urgent in his tone. My eyelids fall shut before I consciously tell them to. There's no way I could ignore him when he sounds so ready.

And then... an explosion. I'm screaming. There's something wet and warm dripping down my face.

CHAPTER TWENTY

K ai

"Keep your eyes closed," I tell her, ignoring the slumped-over mess of the dead bodies. Adrenaline still pumps through me from the suddenness of the shooting. It all happened in a second, maybe two, but it felt much longer. It felt like slow motion.

"O-okay," she whispers, shuddering all over.

I lean down—she slumped to the floor soon after the gunshot—gently take her by the hips and lift her up. "Don't open your eyes," I say as Randall's body twitches, as bodies sometimes do when their owners are no longer here.

"Are they gone?" she says, her voice so full of tragedy and pain I want to roar at the unfairness of it. She doesn't deserve this.

"Yeah," I tell her. "They're not going to hurt you. Nobody is going to hurt you, ever. *Ever*."

I lift her into my arms, smoothing my hand to the back of her head and gently guiding her face to my chest. She doesn't have to see the brutal side of the world. She doesn't have to know how nasty things can get. I don't want her ever to have to experience this.

Slowly, I carry her out of the gas station, pushing the door open with my shoe. I can hear sirens in the air. That's good.

The attendant called the cops. Carrying my woman across the street, I place her on the grass.

She slumps again. It's not her fault. I help lower her to the ground so she doesn't fall. Her limbs feel like Jell-O. Her instincts are trying to tell her that, any second, more dangerous men will appear.

"Can I open my eyes now?" she asks.

"I might have blood on me," I tell her.

She laughs humorlessly, more like she's pushing the pain aside as best she can. "I'd be a hypocrite if I judged you for that."

She opens her eyes, smiles up at me, and then the smile disintegrates into a pained sob. She seems pissed at herself for letting out the tears, looking like she's trying to fight them.

I kneel down. "It's okay," I whisper, reaching out and smoothing my hand over her back. I want to pull her into a proper hug, but I have to keep some of my attention on my surroundings. What if there's a third man?

As my woman cries like her heart is shattering, I gently stroke her back, scanning the road and the gas station, the sirens getting louder. Kay finally rubs her cheeks and sniffles, battling the sobs.

"Thank you," she says. "You saved my life."

"You don't have to thank me for that," I growl. "Saving you and protecting you is my job. No, more than that. It's my purpose, Kay."

She takes one of my hands in both of hers, holds it tightly, leans forward, and kisses me. I lean down and press my lips against her forehead, letting her feel all the love flowing through me.

"That's open and shut self-defense," Jimmy says, folding his arms in his leather jacket and staring at the cop. "Look at the

security tapes. He was trying to kidnap him and Kayla. He had every right to end those bastards."

The cop nods, taking notes. He's a young, serious man who's had dealings with Titans before. He knows we could make this charge go away if needed... if there *is* a charge. Then one of his colleagues emerges from the back and gives a subtle nod. Every non-biker looks at me as if I might spring into action again.

It was a quick draw, pulling my second pistol, aiming, firing, and not letting my feelings get in the way. I had to become like that kid in the forest, not thinking, not allowing myself to imagine everything going wrong. I couldn't think about the idea that, possibly, I'd miss and hit my woman.

They're taking her to the same hospital as Ryan so that she can process the shock. It cut my heart deeply when I heard her scream and the blood shower her face. There was no way I would have let these fuckers take my woman or do what they said they would do.

"Is there audio on the tape?" I ask the cop.

"Yes"

"Did you hear what Randall and his friend said?"

The man swallows. "They bragged about assaulting several women."

"I believed they were telling the truth."

We speak in the corner of the gas station, mess everywhere. It shocks most people when they realize how much blood and guts a person has.

"The club will pay for the cleanup, of course," Jimmy says.

He's around fifty, a friend of Ryan and Kayla's father. He's always felt like something of an uncle to me. He's got a shaved head and a giant gray goatee, bushy and wild, giving him a savage Viking look.

I wish I could be with Kayla, holding her close to me, whispering any reassuring words I could think of. However, there's no place for me there, not now that we're back with the

club. Our relationship has already split into two parts: the road trip era, where we could pretend the club and nothing else existed, and now, back into our regular world, with Titans watching us. We have to be far, far more careful.

"This war better be over soon," the cop grunts, closing his notebook.

"What war?" Jimmy says sarcastically.

The cop rolls his eyes. "If this shit carries on, they'll send the Feds. You'll never see my face again, and *they* won't be so damn friendly with you."

"Don't forget everything we do for the county," Jimmy says good-naturedly, as though two men aren't dead mere feet away.

"How bad are things?" I ask Jimmy before we climb onto our bikes.

The sun has set now. My soul feels numb from what I've done. It was necessary. I'd kill a thousand men if they threatened my woman, but it doesn't make me feel good.

Jimmy sighs, stroking his goatee. "They're pushing us hard, kid. I told Ryan we needed you here. I think this proves it. Fucking monsters, shooting him on Main Street. Could've hit a civilian."

"Ryan wanted me to protect his sister. That was his choice, and I would've continued doing it until this war was over if that's what I had to do."

"She's going to be safe with the club surrounded by men. That's the best place for her, leaving you free to help us. We need the help, kid. I wouldn't speak so frankly with anybody else, but we need that dog in you."

I clench my teeth and grip my hands around the handles of my bike. It's still got mud flecked on it from when I took us into the forest. So many memories of the trip return to me, strangely shimmering, as if they're from a long time ago. It's as if years have passed, not days. The eras feel separate.

"We're going to push these bastards from our town," I tell him. "We're going to travel to every location we've got and clear them the fuck out. We'll burn all their shit to the ground. We'll kill people if we have to. We'll do whatever it takes. You don't get to hospitalize a Titan and get away with it."

"A-fucking-men," Jimmy says, clapping me on the shoulder.

CHAPTER TWENTY-ONE

K ayla

I sit at Ryan's bedside, holding his hand as gently as possible, waiting for him to wake up. He's been in and out of sleep for the past two days, never able to say more than a few words, just telling me he's happy I'm here. He tells me he loves me and looks at me through bleary, terrified eyes, looking much younger than he is.

It's been two days since Kai shot those men in the gas station. I had my eyes closed, but I know he must've moved lightning-fast to do that. He must've pulled his second gun free so quickly, with far more vicious intent than anybody would guess for a man his size. Other than when he visits Ryan, I haven't seen Kai, but we're never alone. Other Titans are there. We can only steal glances at each other.

The late afternoon sun bleeds through the curtains behind Ryan. The machines beep quietly. I sometimes wish they were louder so I could hold on to the *beep beep beep* noise and tell myself his body is strong. He'll make it. Then slowly, he peels his eyes open. Even slower, a smile spreads across his lips. He looks so young as his eyes go wide.

"Hello, sis. Still here?"

I try to return his smile, but my heart is breaking, shattering right down the middle as I think about the first time I kissed his best friend. More than kissed him. The steaminess, the declaration of forever.

"I'm not going anywhere."

"Is that why you stink so bad, huh?"

I laugh, prodding him playfully and softly. "You're one to talk."

"Bullet, gut. Bad combination."

"You seem more lucid than last time."

He nods shortly. "Can I get some water?"

"Of course. Sorry. What am I thinking?"

I go to the corner of the room, grab a bottle of water, and bring it to him.

"Don't be so hard on yourself," he says as I unscrew the cap.

When I motion to help him drink it, he groans, shaking his head. He reaches up, takes the bottle, and carefully brings it to his lips. Some drips down his chin, but not much. This is usually where he'd fall back asleep, but he seems stronger now. He lays the bottle down and sits up, wincing, eyes open.

"You can yell at me now if you want," he says with a grin. "I know I shouldn't have lied."

"I'm not going to yell. I understand why you did it. You were protecting me, and you were right. I never would've left on Dad's anniversary if we didn't have that fight."

"Who told you?" Ryan asks, and I realize my mistake.

He doesn't officially know that *I* know about the lie. When he said I could yell at him, he could've been talking about the lie that he knew Dad was sick. I can't do anything except tell him the truth. The guilt has been doggedly chewing at my sense that I'm a good person, a great sister, somebody who can look in the mirror proudly, without shame.

"Kai. Randall—that man, the hitman, whatever he was—was following us."

"Kai saved your life," Ryan says, his smile getting sleepy as his head falls back. "I'm not mad he told you. He did the right thing. He always does the right thing. He's the most capable man I've ever known."

"He is," I whisper, my voice cracking. "He's the best."

Ryan tilts his head and raises his eyebrow. "Are you okay?"

I rub my cheeks. "I'm fine. Happy you're awake."

"Is that all?" he asks, staring at me.

"Why are you looking at me like that?"

"Like what?"

"Like you're trying to read my mind."

He chuckles, but it sounds labored. "It's just this tone you get when you talk about Kai. I think they're pumping me full of drugs. I shouldn't be saying any of this."

It feels like I'm on a tightrope, hands held to my sides as I attempt not to fall.

"Do you still have a crush on him?" Ryan asks, and I fall.

I collapse backward in my chair, wringing my hands, trying to laugh and pretend it's all a big joke. Panic rises, and bad poetry flows endlessly, a busted fountain in my mind.

"It's okay," Ryan says dreamily. "You don't have to be ashamed."

"How did you know?"

"I could just tell."

"Did *he* ever know?"

"No," Ryan says. "He was clueless. He saw you as my kid sister, nothing else, but I always knew you had a thing for him."

"Weren't you mad?"

"Why would I be?"

"He's your best friend."

"It's not my decision who you fall for. Anyway, girls get crushes all the time. It's not a big deal." I swallow, massaging my forehead, knowing I shouldn't say this without Kai here. I can't keep listening to those beeping machines—reminders of what Ryan suffered—and lie to him.

"What if it wasn't just a crush?" I ask. "What if it was more than that? What if we wanted to be together?"

I leave the hospital room with a pit in my belly, Ryan's words bouncing around my mind. Ryan said he wanted to be alone after our conversation. "I need to rest." That was his excuse, but I could tell that the real reason was he didn't want to look at me anymore.

He did his best to hide it, but I can't ignore the fact I've betrayed him. We both have. Me and his best friend. Oh, God, and now... I can't even think about the next bit.

Natasha springs to her feet when I enter the waiting room.

"You're home?" I gasp, rushing forward and pulling her into my arms.

She squeezes me tightly. "I couldn't let you go through this alone."

I almost break down in sobs again, like after the gas station showdown. Despite showering since then, I can still feel the gore, the mess. We sit together in the corner of the waiting room, away from the Titans who are keeping watch over the hospital, over *me*.

"How's he doing?" Natasha asks.

"Physically, he's doing better," I reply, "but mentally... Well, it's not like I'm helping him."

"What?" Natasha gives my hand another squeeze. "Seeing his little sister has given him a boost. I'd bet on that."

"I don't know," I sigh. "I told you I betrayed Ryan but didn't tell you all the details." I lower my voice, though the closest Titan isn't close enough to hear. "If I did, you might feel differently."

"Lay it on me, then," Natasha replies. "Don't hold anything back."

It's like the emotions are trying to restrict my speech. Like after the gas station, when I tried to smile, and the sobs broke through anyway. After a steadying breath, I lean close to Natasha, telling her in frantic whispers about the kisses, the steam, and the fact he called me *his* woman. I tell her about him finding the notebook—all of it. Finally, I tell her what happened with Ryan and our plan.

"What if Kai doesn't answer the way Ryan wants?" Natasha says quietly.

"I don't know," I reply, my belly getting tighter, all the nerves conspiring to twist me up inside. "I guess I just have to hope and pray because, honestly, I don't think I can let him go now. Yet I can't imagine a life without Ryan in it either."

"You won't have to choose," Natasha says, but she doesn't sound convinced.

How could she be? I've broken one of the unwritten rules of life, a rule everybody should know. A sister doesn't go after her brother's best friend. It doesn't matter if she's crushed on him for years and thinks she loves him. All that matters is loyalty, but I *am* loyal. To my man. To our future. To the poetry of our connection.

"I hope so," I whisper. "Kai has to come back in one piece first. It's not like this war is over."

"Everybody's saying now that Kai's home, there's no way the Bribones stand a chance."

"I hope so," I say again. "If something happened to him..." I bite down. I can't finish the thought.

If I told Natasha how I'd really feel if Kai got hurt, she'd think I was melodramatic. If I told her my atoms would pull apart, my future would fracture, and my soul would implode... Yeah, even for a poet, she'd think I was over the top.

CHAPTER TWENTY-TWO

K ai

I crouch behind a rock, looking at the warehouse, my body pumping with fire, adrenaline, and readiness. Before a job, I used to think about nothing. I'd empty my mind just like I did as a kid, not letting myself think at all, thoughts and fears and everything else slipping from my mind.

However, now, I think of my woman. I think about the future. Instead of crippling me, it makes me even more determined and focused. Anybody who thinks they'll steal that from me is goddamn deluded.

"Are we clear on the plan?" I ask as Jimmy crawls up next to me, wincing slightly as he keeps his posture low. More Titans are getting ready for the battle about twenty yards behind us.

Jimmy swallows. "Yeah, Kai. You want us to set it on fire before you go in?"

"It needs to be chaotic," I tell him. "That's where I work best. If the place is burning, they'll make mistakes. They'll rush outside where you and the others can pick them off."

"But what about you?" Jimmy asks.

"I'll be fine," I snap. "I've got a..."

A reason to live now, I almost say, but I don't let myself finish that thought. It's time to let the other men see the cold Kai, the

animalistic Kai, the operator who will do any damn thing to keep this club, this town, and my family safe.

"What if one of those bastards gets lucky?" Jimmy asks.

"They won't," I snap. "A fight is all about small moments, Jimmy. Half seconds of hesitation. Hell, less than that. That's where fights, guns or fists, are won and lost. I learned that lesson hard and early. The flames won't completely distract them, but it'll be enough to confuse them for a second, and that's all I need."

Maybe it's the same with love. It happens in the small moments when a person forgets to hesitate and forgets to doubt. Perhaps that's how it slips away, too. A hesitation leads to doubt, leading to a man never doing what he knows he *should*.

I close my eyes for a moment, almost laughing at myself. So, I *should* have thrown myself at my best friend's sister the first time I knew how badly I wanted her? Is that what I'm thinking?

"Kai," Jimmy says uncertainly. "Are you good?"

I open my eyes, grit my teeth, and nod. "I'm ready. These bastards will regret the day they ever stepped foot into *our* fucking county."

"Wh-who are you?" the biker whines, crawling across the burning warehouse, searching for his gun. "What are you?"

I ignore the flames hissing all around me. The heat burns against my face and cheeks as the flames consume the floor, walls, and furniture, heating the metal machinery. Soon, the fire will reach the drugs stacked in the corner and reek for miles and miles into the desert.

I catch up with the biker, grab him by the scruff of his jacket, and haul him to his feet. Dragging him out of the warehouse, I toss him into the dust with the other Bribones, five of them cuffed and seated in the dust.

"You shouldn't have shot my friend," I growl, laying my pistol against the Bribone's knee. "This is a warning. We're taking a kneecap from each of you. That'll teach you to stay the fuck away from our town. If you come back, it won't just be a kneecap next time."

The man gazes up at me, terror flooding his eyes. He's got a face covered in gang tattoos, but he doesn't look dangerous as I shove the gun up against his knee.

"I've got it on got authority that you men have done some terrible things to people who don't deserve it. You should count yourselves lucky."

The first man screams, the gun vibrating in my hand. Jimmy and the other Titans stare impassively as I make my way down the line, the warehouse making a *whooshing* noise as the flames consume more and more of it.

Jimmy said I didn't have to be the one to do this, but he was wrong. Each shot obliterates more of the guilt I feel, more of the regret. Calling it *regret* is a lie because I can't fully wish away what I did with Kay. I can't even partly wish it away, honestly.

So, instead, I go down the line. I shoot these rapists and murderers and monsters in the knee. Deep down, part of me hopes they return and send more men. They'll force me to become even more of a monster—anything to make me forget Kay's lips, her touch, her love.

I pull the trigger.

Ryan seems healthier, sitting up in the hospital bed with more color in his cheeks. I find it difficult to look at him for too long. I constantly question myself. Every action, reaction, and moment that would've been completely normal before.

"I've got word they're retreating," Ryan says. "They want a truce. They're demanding one hundred grand."

"They were going to make a hundred times that pushing their crap," I say, staring down at my hands, my knuckles bloodied and cut from two days of fierce fighting.

"It's a consolation," Ryan replies. "If they leave without nothing..."

"It wounds their pride. I get it. Fine. Pay them, but if they ever come back—"

"They won't," Ryan says. "My contact wouldn't come outright and say it, but you've put the fear of God in them, Kai. They've started talking about you almost like you're some mythical figure."

"I did what had to be done," I grunt, the hospital quiet, the window dark, a few stars visible. "This club saved me. It's only right I returned the favor."

"You've been going at it like a demon."

"Maybe a demon's what it takes," I growl. "Look what they did to you. Shot you in front of civilians and put innocent people in danger. Nobody would say they don't deserve it."

"I agree with that." Ryan leans forward, seeming more like his old self. "But *you*, how are you doing? It can't be easy. You once told me God played a trick on you, making you so good at violence because you've never enjoyed it. Even during boxing, you'd get that look in your eye, the rage. Not just rage at what happened to you, but hell, man, rage at the fact you had to throw another punch. Now you've had to handle this alone."

"I've had Jimmy and the others."

"But the burden of doing what had to be done. Making the hard choices."

He's looking at me in a way that makes me suspicious. I'm not sure of what exactly, but the feeling is there. It's as if he's peering deep into my soul, seeing memories from the road trip a week ago, not even, and yet it feels like an age. It feels like I've lived ten goddamn lifetimes since then. That's what happens when I don't touch and taste my woman. Hold her.

"We couldn't let them take our town, our county," I snarl. "They *put you in the hospital*. They're lucky that all I took was kneecaps."

"I'm not talking about that. I'm thinking of a different hard choice."

Ryan leans forward, his shoulders tight in the hospital gown. He's always been a fierce bastard but looks downright demonic now. That's what he called me, a demon, but it applies to him even more.

"I'm going to ask you something, and I need the truth, Kai. We don't lie to each other. That's not something we do. It's not something we've ever done."

I swallow, sitting upright. I've got to face this like a man, look it bravely in the face, and know that whatever happens, I'll have to accept the consequences, even if it means letting Kay go.

No, no, no.

A thousand bikes roar in my mind, far fiercer than the bike she sat on in that prairie before everything shattered. Just the shining golden grasslands surrounded us, pleasure between us, hunger, and certainty.

"Ask me," I tell him.

"If you had to choose between your relationship with Kayla and your friendship with me, which would you choose?"

Suddenly, I stand up. I don't even mean to. The question is too blunt, too violent. It's like he's just punched me in the mouth with it. I walk to the window, then turn when I hear the door open behind me.

"Have you asked him yet?" Kay says with tears in her eyes.

I almost melt at the sight of her. She's wearing those damn denim overalls, just like when this started, her hair tied up with a few messy strands here and there. Her cheeks are flushed, but not with lust, with pain.

"You told him," I say.

"I had to." She rubs a tear from her cheek in classic Kay fashion, like she's pissed at herself for the emotion. "I couldn't lie to him anymore."

"I told her to wait, Kai," Ryan says. "I knew you had to focus on this mess. She wanted to tell you I knew."

"And this is your question," I growl. I clench my hands into fists, feeling the fire and the rage from the past couple of days come back, licking at me like flames in a drug-filled warehouse. "You're going to make me choose."

"I have to know," Ryan says. "You've never lied to me, not before this. Do you want to know what I mean when I say choose?"

I return to the bedside and force myself to sit. My body is trying to burst into action as if it thinks there's another battle to fight. "Sure."

Kay sits on the opposite side of the bed. It takes everything I have not to reach over and touch her, wrap my hand around hers. Kiss her, taste her again, the only thing that makes all this violence worth it. The only person I ever want. Goddamn, I'm longing for those grasslands.

"If you choose me, you agree to never touch or look at Kayla again. We'll pretend the road trip never happened. You'll swear that you'll let the relationship go."

I swallow, thinking of the practicalities of seeing her around town. Maybe seeing her find another man, settle down, and have kids. She says I'm the only one for her, but she deserves love. She deserves a family. Could I stand by and watch as she did that with somebody else? I might end up killing the man.

"And if I choose her?" I say.

Ryan stares at me coldly. It's the same way he looked when he told me about his dad, the same pain in his eyes. "You and Kayla leave town and never come back. You find somewhere to start a family together. You try to be happy and never tell your kids about me."

"So they'll never meet their uncle?" I roar, jolting to my feet again.

I can't help it. I know I'm being too loud, letting the fury lead me too much. But the thought of our children never meeting Ryan, never having their uncle in their lives...

"Our children deserve to know you, Ryan. They deserve to have you in their lives."

"So it's true? You want kids?"

Kayla opens her mouth as if to talk, but Ryan glances at her. She closes her mouth. I catch the quick exchange. She agreed to let him do the talking, but I can see the urge to speak bubbling up in her.

"Yes," I tell Ryan. "I never planned on any of this, but without a doubt. I want as many children with Kay as she'll give me. I know how insane that sounds."

"It's stranger coming from you than from you, Kayla," he says, turning to his sister.

"Why?" I ask.

Ryan shrugs. "I always knew Kayla had a crush on you."

"You did?"

"It was obvious. You never noticed because you just saw her as my kid sister."

"Of course I did," I snarl. "What else would she be? Do you know how stunned I was when I saw her when I returned? I didn't even think she was Kayla at first. I thought I was imagining it. I can't explain it."

"You've never really dated. You've never had girlfriends. You've never been in love."

Kayla gasps. "Ryan!"

"It's the truth," I say calmly. "Before you, I didn't think I'd ever settle down. I stopped even trying to date years ago."

"But you risked everything for Kayla," Ryan says. "Our friendship. Your place in the club."

"Yes."

"So choose, Kai," he says fiercely. "Kayla or me. I deserve that much. You've been intimate with my little sister. You're the best friend I've ever had. I deserve an honest choice."

I walk around the bed, standing near Kay, near the door. I'm ready to punch a hole in the wall. It's my instinct. Those forest fights... I was never allowed to cry or show anything except teeth and blood, the will to keep going, and the will to hurt and silently suffer. Then Kay came along and cracked open my heart, my hope.

"An honest choice," I say quietly.

Ryan nods.

Don't make me, I almost say, but he's right. He deserves better than that. He deserves the truth.

"Kayla," I tell him, but I can't wait for his reaction. Turning, I push the door open and stride into the hallway. I can't believe I just did it. I ended the best friendship I've ever had. There's no going back now. There's nowhere to run and nothing to do except ride and get away. Too many fucking demons chasing me—demons chasing demons.

"Kai, where you heading?" Jimmy calls over.

I climb onto my bike, start the engine, speed out of the lot, and down the road, kicking up dust. I don't know where I'm heading, except it has to be away from here. It has to be away from what I just did.

As I pick up the speed, I shout into the wind. I shout like I think my voice will crack the road down the middle and open a pit. Let me fall in. Let me forget. I want a life with Kay. I hunger for it more than anything, and I meant my choice. I choose *her*, but I've never imagined my life without Ryan. It hurts. It hurts badly.

I keep riding, not even thinking about where I'm going. Maybe the bottom of a goddamned ditch. That's where I belong for doing this. It's the only place that will stop me from doing it again. Kay belongs to me. Nobody, not even her blood or my best friend, can change my mind, but the pain is brutal.

So maybe that's the only way. I pick up speed, surging down the long, lonely roads of our little piece of America. The wind rushes against my face. I'm not wearing my helmet. On the side of the road, hell, it's like the phantoms of the old man and Ryan are looking at me. The old man who watched us fight and taught us, and now I'm here wanting his baby girl so badly I know only a bullet could stop me.

Faster, I push the gas, outrunning Ryan, but he appears ahead of me. I'm not losing it. I can't *really* see him. It's just all this agony inside, twisting me up. I blink, and he's still there, but he's a teenager now. He's got that cocky smirk on his face. People said we could've been brothers. We had the same smile.

"I knew you'd betray me, Kai. I knew you'd grow up to be a bad guy."

I push even harder, wishing there were more Bribones in the town so I could let out some of the rage. I'd take more than kneecaps this time. I'd take the pain out on them. Maybe I should keep going. Push past one-twenty, one-forty. Keep on and on until I hit something, and that cocky smirk gets wiped off my face.

Then another phantom appears. This is a feeling, not a vision, not madness. It's the sensation of my woman's arms wrapped around my waist, just like she has been the whole trip. I imagine her pushing herself against me. I remember each sweet moment we've ever shared, from the banter at the gas station to that golden field in Nebraska. With Kay in my thoughts, I slow down and bring the bike to a stop at the side of the road.

I'm panting hard, and there are tears in my eyes.

CHAPTER TWENTY-THREE

R yan

"You're probably wondering why I've gathered you all here today," I say, looking across the main function room of the clubhouse. All the top-level men are here. Jimmy stands off to the side, leaning against the wall, watching me closely. *Gathered here today...* It sounds like a wedding already.

"Maybe you've heard the rumors," I go on, "or maybe you haven't, but I'll set the record straight regardless. It's true. Kai is with my sister, Kayla."

I wait for that news to settle in. Dad always used to talk about never rushing ahead too fast as a leader. Before he passed, he gave me a lot of lessons, enough to set me up with what I'd need to lead this club into the future. The whole time he was dying, he kept it to himself. Man, life's a bitch.

"We all know I could take this news very poorly," I go on. "The only high-level Titan who isn't here is Kai. He has plans with Kayla and doesn't need to be here for this. I can make the message clear without him. Blood has been spilled over less. The most fucked-up shit imaginable has been done to people when it comes to family and..."

Love, I almost say, but this room is filled with hard men. It's better to keep the talk practical. "Relationships," I go on. "But you all need to understand something. Without Kai..." I wince as my wounds try to make me sit down, but I won't let them. Pain meds pump through me. "Many of us wouldn't be here

today. We all know Kai's got a dog in him. We all know that, without him, those bastards might've taken more of us. Don't get me wrong, fellas, we would've won either way..."

Some of them nod at this. Personally, I'm not sure it's true. They might've overwhelmed us if Kai hadn't come home and led the final charge against the Bribones,

"But Kai ended things quickly," I growl. "He's a good man. He's like a brother to me."

Jimmy picks this up right on cue. Dad taught me something else. "A good leader doesn't gather his men unless he's almost certain how the meeting will go."

"Doesn't that make it worse?" Jimmy says, like we planned. "He's your righthand man, and he went behind your back."

"But he didn't go behind my back," I growl. It's a lie, but it's necessary. "Before anything happened between him and Kayla, Kai did the right thing and asked for my blessing. He offered up his own life. He said to put a bullet in his head if I felt he'd betrayed me."

Respect gleams in the men's eyes. Part of me wonders if Kai should've done this and asked me upfront, but I know more about their relationship now. It was sudden and intense. The need was immediate. Kai told me it was like being struck by lightning. He tried to fight it, but he couldn't. He told me he loves her way too much for that. It's genuine *love*, and Kayla feels the same.

I wish I could tell the men simply this: "I've never seen either of them happier. I've never seen Kai smile in such a carefree way, even when we were kids."

"Maybe some of you, especially those with sisters, think I should've taken him up on his offer," I go on, "but this is Kai. He's saved all of our asses more times than we can count. He's a good man. He's loyal, and he made something clear. He intends to marry Kayla and make an honest woman of her, and Kayla feels the same. *That...*"

I slam my hand on the table, ignoring the agony it sends twisting through me.

"Means that, one day soon, Kai and I are going to be family. He's going to be my brother-in-law. This makes the club stronger, fellas, not weaker. Kai is a good man who will do his best by Kayla. I've given him my blessing. When they return..." I don't mention where they're going, but I have to say the purpose. "It's very likely they'll be engaged to be married. If any of you have a problem with this, I want to hear it now."

I take a step forward, looking over at the men. Thankfully, none of them seem like they're going to cause a problem. In fact, a few of them are smiling.

"Nobody?" I say. "Because, injured or not, I'm still ready to draw a circle about this."

That gets a few laughs from the more experienced members. It's a callback to the days when my old man ran the club. If two members had a problem, they'd draw a circle with chalk and swing knuckles until one of them quit and left the circle. It's been years since anything like that went down.

When it's clear nobody will cause problems, I gesture to the door. "All right, good. Get back to work."

I wait until everybody but Jimmy is gone and sit at the table, letting out a long, shaky breath.

"You okay, boss?" Jimmy says, sitting opposite me.

"Painkillers are a joke," I tell him, "but I'll be good. Just need a couple of weeks."

Jimmy nods. "I don't doubt it, but I meant... about Kai and Kayla. Are you really good with that?"

I look at him closely. "Earlier, you said you were happy for them."

"I am," he replies. "Kai deserves some joy in his life, and so does Kayla, especially after your dad passed, but I have to be sure you mean it for the club's sake. There's going to be no fallout over this?"

I get it. Jimmy's on the older side. He doesn't want any more war.

"I meant it," I say passionately. "I mean it. When Kayla first told me, sure, I was shocked. It was like a punch in the gut, but that was before she told me exactly how she felt. That was before her eyes started to water when she talked about the children she and Kai want to have together."

Jimmy sighs, finally letting a smile spread across his face. "Your nieces and nephews will have Kai as their dad—your best friend. That's something special in my book. That's a bond most men will never experience."

"You're right," I reply, the same broad smile on my face. As I think of the future and all the laughter and love, it's enough to force a lot of the physical pain to drift away. "As far as wanting the best for Kayla, who will look after her better? Who will protect her more fiercely than him? Who will fight harder if anybody ever tried to hurt her or their family?"

"Nobody," Jimmy says with a sense of certainty. "Kai's always had that animal in him, that darkness, but lately, he seems different."

"He could still bring that darkness out," I say.

"He'll always have that, but now he has another side to him, too. It's like yin and yang, you know? Kai and Kay? Looking at them, they're like two halves of a whole."

I smile even wider, with even more happiness. "You're right, Jimmy. I couldn't say this before in front of the others. It'd make me look weak. You know what the life is like. The truth is, the more I think about it, the more certain I am they were made for each other."

"There was a time you would've been called crazy for that."

"You're right, and if somebody brought up this sort of business in a bar, hell, I'd probably think the same. A brother shouldn't let his best friend take his sister, but it's Kai. It's just different. He's a good person. Somehow, he is. He shouldn't be. You've seen that look in his eyes."

Jimmy takes out a cigarette. "Got that dog in him."

"Always has," I reply, "and now, if anybody ever tries to hurt Kay..."

Jimmy grins. "They'll get bitten. Real bad."

"Exactly."

I head into my office when I hear the cell phone ringing. There's a photo of me and Kai and Dad on my desk, me and Kai grinning on the fishing boat, Dad staring stoically, like always. It's Kay.

"Afternoon, my lovely sister," I say, trying to hide the pain in my voice. That speech took way too much out of me.

"I wanted to let you know that Kai says he's planned another trip," she says. "So we'll be gone for a couple of days."

I have to make a new effort now not to let her know *I* know anything. "Oh, right?"

"Why don't you sound surprised, huh, Ryan?"

Her voice is full of suspicion. It's the fun sort of suspicion she used to get as a kid when she and Mom would run around the house doing one of their *investigations*. Kayla went through a detective phase, which she doesn't even remember, but I do. She'd have that big grin expanded in her magnifying glass.

"I am," I tell her.

"Hmm... something tells me you already knew."

Of course, I already knew. Kai's a good man. He asked me if he could propose to my baby sister. He was sitting beside my hospital bed, wringing his hands, looking at the floor. Then, once he'd said the words, he looked up. Like Jimmy said, he's a demon, a dog to everybody else, but I see the boy when I look at him. "We'll be brothers, Ryan," he said.

"Is that why you're doing this?" I asked.

"No. Hell no. I'd marry her no matter who her family was, but I'm not going to complain. Family."

I repeated the word—family. There's no such thing as too much.

"Ryan?" Kay says, drawing me back to the present.

"I'm here," I reply. "Have fun on the trip, and be safe."

"I'm with Kai," she says. "I'm always safe, and trust me. I *know* something's going on, but I won't even think or say it just in case I'm wrong. Am I... wrong?"

I laugh. "You haven't even said what you think it is!"

She laughs, too. "Okay, maybe it's... No, I don't want to say it. Hang up on me, Ryan. Please."

"Okay, but only because you forced me. Love you."

"Love you too. Wait, what is—"

I hang up. A moment later, she texts me. *Thanks xx*

CHAPTER TWENTY-FOUR

K ayla

"You shouldn't have been so tough with him," I snap. "You didn't have to phrase it like that."

"I needed the truth," Ryan says.

I rub my cheeks, standing at the window, watching the cloud of dust Kai kicks up settle. It feels like it's been years since he wrapped his arms around me, since I felt his lips on mine, the reassuring beat of his heart.

"I'm going to go to his house and tell him."

"What if he's not there?"

"I'll wait for him."

Ryan sighs. "Fair enough, Kay, but I'm sending some Titans with you just in case he's not there. They'll wait with you."

"Won't that be obvious?"

Ryan laughs gruffly. "Do you think we can keep this a secret now? You heard him. He made his choice. I've never seen him like that before."

"Really?"

"I never knew he could care about a person that much. Don't get me wrong. He loves Dad and me and the club, but how he looked at you seemed real, Kay. It was like you said."

"We belong to each other," I whisper, more tears trying to swell and slide down my cheeks. "I know it must be so weird for you, but it's true."

"What if you're wrong? What if it's not forever?"

"It is."

"If you break up..."

"It's forever," I say firmly. "What we have goes beyond words. It goes beyond common sense. It goes beyond any of that. It's not even something we feel. It's something we *know*."

"And it's not just a crush?"

It was never just a crush, I almost say, but that would be taking it too far. That would up the awkward factor for Ryan, but it's the truth. It's always felt like destiny, like something that, when it happened, was *meant* to happen.

"It's real," I tell Ryan. "I wish you hadn't gone at him so aggressively, with all that stuff about moving away."

"I had to know his honest choice. I wasn't lying about that. I had to know that he was serious about you. How else could I judge?"

"Fine, I get that, but now you've upset him."

"That's the thing, Kayla. Before you, before this relationship, I'd never seen him upset. Angry, maybe. Pissed. Ready to take on the world, but not like that. I think he had tears in his eyes when I made him choose."

"I think so, too," I whisper, "but I doubt he knew. I'm going after him. I love you."

Ryan and I hug, and then I go outside and try to call Kai. Predictably, there's no response, so I hop in my car and drive to the outskirts of town, to Kai's house, as four Titans follow me on motorcycles. I've only ever been to Kai's house a few times, a simple one-story that sits on its own at the end of a long road, with few people around to disturb him and his memories. When I get there, I wait in the car, looking at the dark windows and the lack of plants or decorations.

One day, we will have so much light, joy, and happiness. Children will run everywhere with big grins on their faces, with hints of Kai in their green eyes and traces of me in their hair color.

I turn at the knock on the window. It's Jimmy or Uncle Jimmy, as I used to call him, though we're not related. He's been a fixture in my life for as long as I can remember.

"He was in a hell of a mood when he tore out of that hospital," Jimmy comments.

I climb from the car and sit on the hood. Jimmy stuffs his hands in his pockets and stares at the house. When he frowns, his big gray beard shifts around. Behind us, I can hear the other Titans talking quietly.

"Did he and Ryan have a fight?" Jimmy asks, looking at me closely. "Or did something happen on that road trip?"

I feel the heat of a flush against my cheeks, not from shame, regret, or anything like that. It's from the club thinking I'm a terrible sister, a monster who would betray her own brother.

"Why do you ask that?"

Jimmy sighs. "Kai's had the devil in him. He does his duty when we've had to fight in the past. He's the best soldier we've ever had. He's also one hell of a leader when it's time, but lately, this is different. It's like he has a purpose. He's fighting like a man who..."

Jimmy stops himself, glancing behind us at the other Titans. Somewhere in the dark surroundings, an animal wails.

"It's okay. You can say it."

Jimmy moves closer, lowering his voice. "Did something happen out there... between you two?"

"What if it did?" I reply. "What if we're planning on being together? What if Ryan gave his blessing? How would the club feel about that?"

"If Ryan gave his blessing? I think everybody would stand by you both. Kai's loved. That's the truth. Everybody loves him. He's a man many look up to. He's loyal. He's smart. He's a

good person, despite this life, despite the fighting. He's a good man."

I let myself smile, then turn when I hear a motorcycle. It's Kai, his body seeming huge in the leather jacket, his eyes narrowed and fierce, and his hair messy from the ride without a helmet. I let out a shuddering noise the second I see him, my resolve almost cracking.

"You can leave us now, right?" I ask Jimmy.

"Aye," he says. "You're safe with Kai."

Kai stands at the entrance to his small, plantless garden, more a patch of dirt than anything. He's watching the Titans ride away, his hands trembling slightly at his sides.

I stand beside him, sneaking glances at his fierce features in profile. He stares and stares, and then, when they're gone, he turns to me. I expect him to be angry, but suddenly, his hands are on my hips. He pulls me right up against him, letting me feel his heat, his fire, all the passion between us.

Dormant for an age,

But now we're together.

Out of the cage,

It feels even better.

I'm kissing my man, our tongues connecting in a collision of bliss. His hands sink deeper into my hips.

"I meant it," he says passionately. "I choose you. I hate myself for it. I hate that I'll never see Ryan again."

"Wait," I gasp, squeezing my hands against his chest. "That was a test. I told him not to do it. I *told* him, Kai, but he said I had to do what he asked. He said I owed him that, and he was right. I did. After what we did together, but it was a—"

"Wait, slow down." He takes my hand, squeezing it warmly. "Let's go inside. You can explain."

We go into his small kitchen, which looks into the town, a few lights blinking in the night. Kai pours us both a glass of water, and then we sit together at the table, his hand resting possessively on my leg.

"A test," Kai says.

"When I told him about us, about what we said, our connection."

"Our connection is the most real thing I've ever felt," Kai growls. "We belong together. We're going to have a family together. I don't give a damn if I sound like a stuck record. It's the truth."

"I know that. I told him," I say, "but he wanted to be sure. He said if you chose me while thinking the choice was real, you meant it because you always say your friendship with him is the most important thing."

"It was," he says gruffly.

"Was?"

Kai turns and leans down. Our lips touch, and then we're lost in the kiss. He slides my hand up his leg, then shudders, moving away slightly. He places his hands on the table.

Miraculously, there's a smirk on his lips. "If I keep touching you before we finish talking, there won't be any talking."

I smile, feeling lit up for the first time in days, like there's a fireworks show inside me. It's the bright joy of being with my man again, of knowing we never have to be apart.

"So Ryan doesn't want us to leave?" Kai asks.

"No," I reply. "He said he's never seen you like this before. He sounded *happy* for us, and Jimmy guessed something was up. He said, with Ryan's blessing, the club would support us. I think... I think we might be able to be together, Kai. I think it's possible."

He stands up, then grabs my chair and turns me. When he leans down to pick me up, I feel weightless, soaring in his arms and wrapping my legs around him. I squeal in delight at his calm strength. He places me down on the kitchen counter,

kissing me passionately. Pushing his body against mine, I feel the lust in his body, his length grinding against my core.

"We're wearing too many clothes," I whisper between kisses, even as nerves try to stifle my words.

"Be careful what you say," Kai growls, his fingers sinking into my hips. "I won't be able to stop myself from claiming your perfect, hot pussy if I strip you naked. I'll take your cherry and fill you with my come."

I stroke my fingers down his face, locking eyes with him. "And start a family, right?"

"We could conceive our first child today," he growls. "This could be it, Kay. The beginning of the rest of our lives."

"The beginning was on the road when I heard your bike's engine behind me."

"When I saw you as a silhouette in the sun. Yeah, you're right, firecracker, that was the beginning."

I hold his face softly, feeling the heat thrumming through him. "What if I'm not a firecracker in bed?" I murmur. "Will you still want me?"

"You don't have to *be* anything except who you are," he says, claiming my hips with more force. "This isn't a performance. You're not trying to prove anything to me. Just being you, Kay, that's enough. It's more than enough. You're the only woman I ever want. Ever need."

"Forever?" I whisper.

He smiles, leaning in for another kiss. "Forever."

We're all over each other again. As we sink passionately into the kiss, he lifts me up, his hands propped on my ass and my legs wrapped around him. My thighs ache, but it's worth it to feel his length crushing through the denim, previewing his hardness, his urgency. He carries me up the stairs, kicks open the bedroom door, and lays me on the bed.

Standing at the end, clothed in darkness, he looks ready for anything. Slowly, he walks across the room, switching on the

light. His bedroom is simple, like a barracks, with a few photos of him and Ryan, Dad, and other Titans on the wall.

"This place could use a lady's touch," I say when he returns to the bed.

He smirks, leaning down. "That's exactly what I was thinking."

CHAPTER TWENTY-FIVE

K ai

I pull her overalls down her curvy body, revealing her hips since her white shirt is riding up. She has a few marks on her gorgeous hips as if previewing how her perfect body will respond when pregnant. It makes me even harder, somehow, my rock-hard dick leaking hot precome.

Once I've got her overalls completely off, I shudder, standing at the edge of the bed and looking down at her naked legs. She still has her socks on, her thick calves taking shape as she points her toes. It's like nerves and lust are warring inside of her. I groan when I see a spot of wetness on her panties.

"Everything off," I growl.

"That's funny," she says, with a cute, sassy head tilt. "I was just about to say the same thing."

I smirk as I remove my jacket and pull my shirt over my head. She gets all excited. Her eyes open wide when she sees my bare torso. It's a hot-as-fuck look that tells me how eager and ready her youthful body is.

My woman, my princess, my queen, my ride-or-die. I can't refer to her as *bitch*, even in my thoughts. She's my ride-or-die soulmate.

I strip naked, my cock springing free, precome glistening on the end. I only notice that because I follow her gaze. Her mouth opens, her chest rising and falling as she unclips her bra. A groan escapes me when her tits spill free, thick veins moving through them. I growl and leap onto the bed, taking one breast in my hand and sucking her nipple. I swirl my tongue around it, tasting her, as I bring my hand to her underwear with my other hand. She gasps when I roughly pull them down.

"I need your fucking pussy," I snarl, then suck her eager nipple again.

I guide my hand to her sopping virgin entrance, rub her wetness from her hole to her clit and all over her swollen, eager lips. She's talking to me wordlessly. Each moan and twitch in her hips tells me to keep going and give it to her with more passion. Pausing, I bring my hand to her mouth, leaning up to look properly at her. Her hair falls across the sheets, so messy and sexy, free from her ponytail.

"Suck," I tell her. "Get me good and wet for your innocent little slit."

"I won't be innocent for long," she whispers, then leans forward, sucking on my finger.

Seed burns up my shaft as I watch her bobbing her head up and down. I feel her soft lips on my finger.

"Good girl," I growl, finally letting go of the darkness, the pain, the war.

There's only my woman's wet, needy hole and how she twitches and moans as I push my finger inside her. I lean back, giving me the perfect vantage point as she writhes from side to side, her hands clawing at the sheets.

"Rub those big tits instead," I snarl. "But when you're going to cream for me, you let them go. I want to watch them jiggle for me. Fuck, you're so *thick*."

I snap, losing control, leaning down and sucking her nipples almost aggressively. I massage and own and claim her tits, sucking her ripe fertile nipples, squeezing them gently so they get hard and excited for me. At the same time, I fuck her tight hole with my finger. I move faster and faster. In gunfights, sometimes, time loses all meaning. A split-second decision

becomes years. I've never experienced that anywhere else except with my woman.

She gasps and moans as I own her nipples and her pussy at the same time. Finally, I lean back again. I can feel her walls quivering around my finger like they're driving her closer and closer to the edge. I can see it in her fluttering eyelids, her mouth open as she gasps and whimpers.

"Keep your hands off your tits," I tell her, staring at the way they shake, shimmering for me, her fleshy body, her perfect fullness.

I gasp as hot precome leaks out of me, a wave of it. For a second, I think I've come, wasting my seed, but I'm still rocksolid.

She moans as the orgasm squirts out of her eager hole. She soaks my finger, turning the gray sheets darker as wave after wave of lust spills out of her. She vibrates like a bike in overdrive, whimpering. Then she sits up and stares at me with her mouth wide open.

"I don't... I've never done that before," she whispers.

"It's so fucking sexy," I snarl.

"Is it?"

In answer, I go down between her legs and indulge myself in her pussy. I lick her all over. She's so wet that my tongue slips from her lips to her clit, her hole, and inside her soaked entrance. This must be destiny giving her the wettest orgasm of her life because it's time. We're going to make a baby together.

I tongue her hole, then climb up the bed, planting my fists on either side of her body. She reaches up and claws onto my arms, staring into my eyes, nodding as she bites her lip.

"That better mean you're ready." My voice thrums like a bike. "I'm taking that tight virgin hole. I'm fucking you however I like. I own your body. Every inch. Forever. Say it, Kay. Say it now."

"You own me," she gasps adorably. "Every inch. Forever. I promise."

Reaching down, I grab my shaft. I know I'm close to losing it when I feel how the seed rushes around the place I touch, warm on the surface. I guide myself to her, pressing myself against her slick wetness. My tip slides up to her clit. She whimpers in that way I love so damn much. It's like every moment of pleasure is a surprise, a treat.

"Do you think you could come again?" I groan. "From this?"

She digs her fingernails into my arms with more pressure the quicker I rub myself against her clit. She nods, gasping louder. I keep going, obsessed with getting her youthful pussy as wet as possible, captivated by her moans. Each one is a gift. She starts to shake when I slip down and accidentally slide into her just an inch.

"Oh, *fuck*," I growl, knowing I can't return to her clit now, knowing I've got to stay here, where I belong.

Her walls close tightly around my tip. I'm tingling like crazy already, right at the end of my cock, as if my come just wants to explode this second. She's not gasping anymore. She makes a grunting noise. I clear my vision and look at her face. She's biting down.

"Are you..."

"Keep going," she moans. "It's big. Oh, it's so big."

When she says, *keep going*, my feral instincts guide me to push deeper into her. I stare down at my dick disappearing beneath her sexy-as-hell belly. I'm claiming her, inch by inch, as she whimpers, gasps, and gives me more perfect moans.

She slides her hands up my arms to my shoulders, clinging on as I push even more inside her. I'm so big that I must be filling her up. Her hole finally grips my base tightly, properly squeezing on. Her body is trying to keep me there and make me come inside her right now.

"You're h-huge," she whispers.

"You can take it," I growl.

She has to. She has to take every inch until I've exploded inside her.

"It's... Oh, do that again."

I pull out of her a bit, then slide in as slowly as possible. She probably doesn't realize how difficult it is for me not to give in to the savage inside, to savage *her* body. If I fully gave into the hunger inside of me, I wouldn't be able to stop myself from pulling out and then slamming into her slit until she's whimpering, creaming, and soaking the fucking sheets.

But it's her first time. I listen to her body. I slide out, then slip in. She moans and shifts against me, nodding.

"Like that, firecracker?" I growl.

"Y-yeah," she moans. "Oh, Kai."

I almost lose it when she moans my name like that. We rock together, with me slipping a little more out with each thrust. We do this until the rhythm takes me almost all the way out, my dick kissing her hole, my tip burning with all the come trying to explode from me.

Then I drive back into her harder than I have yet. Her gasp tells me she likes it. So does her smile, her eyebrows raised, almost as if she's shocked by how good it feels. I slide out and push in again, her pussy flowering for me, just enough to start drilling her hole, but she still feels so damn tight.

She rocks on the end of my dick, bouncing up and down in time with me. All the while, she's got that pretty, astonished look on her face, her mouth open as her moans take shape. They go from slightly nervous to fully immersed in the pleasure, and when I look down, I think I see why. Evidence of her virginity spills out. She sees and winces.

"Kai..."

"Don't be ashamed," I tell her. "You're giving yourself to me."

"Forever," she whimpers, reaching up and touching my face. "Yeah?"

"Forever," I growl, grinding into her. "For. Ev. Er."

With each syllable, I slam into her harder. I end up collapsing against her as she wraps her arms around me, and we bounce together, lost in the feeling, my cock owning her pussy over and over.

"Ah, ah." Her fingers claw against my back, cutting repeatedly, but I don't give a damn. The marks will be a reminder of her first time, evidence of her passion. "Yes, yes, yes."

I try to lean back, but she holds me tighter. "No, Kai. Please."

"I want to watch you cream for me."

"Stay here with me."

I turn my face, kiss her cheek, and find her mouth. We slow our pace as we kiss passionately, lost in each other. Her hips twitch, and then I feel her orgasm seeping down my cock, her hot wetness spreading. Kissing becomes impossible when she starts moaning. I lean back just enough to watch the blush spreading across her cheeks and down her chest. Her body shakes and shivers and, fuck yeah, *jiggles* for me. She's trembling all over.

At the end, I lean back, watching her as she bounces up and down. Hell, she knows what she's doing. As her orgasm nears its end, she grabs her tits, pushes them together, and squeezes so her breasts flush like her cheeks.

"Come..." She pauses for a moment as if nervous. Then she says it, and she almost finishes me. "In me. Come in me, Kai. Please come in me."

"Fuck, fuck," I roar, my head cloudy, my heart slamming so hard. "Keep saying that."

"Come in me," she moans. "Oh, yeah. Come in me. We can start a family. Together."

"Together..."

I collapse atop her, drilling her so hard now. She pulses against me. Seed rushes up my shaft. It bulges in my length, and then it explodes. All the pleasure fixates on the tip of my cock, a single searing point, my mind bright with a thousand visions of my woman. Right at the end, she's wearing a wedding dress. She's smiling and gesturing to me, to the future.

"Jesus," I say, drawing in a shaky breath as I roll aside.

I pull her into my arm and stroke my fingers through her hair.

"That was the best first time anybody has ever had in the history of first times."

I laugh, feeling more carefree than I can ever remember. I let the laughter take me, not caring if I sound crazy. She laughs in the same crazy way, both of us caught up in it, lost to each other.

I love her. I love her so damn much. I almost say it, but I need to speak to Ryan first. I need to show him how much his support means to me and how serious I am, but it's the truth. I love her so damn much.

"I mean it," she says, giggling. "How can you deny that, huh?" "I'm not arguing."

"What were you thinking about just then?" She trails her fingertip up my chest. "You got this dreamy look in your eyes."

"I did?"

I love you. I love you. I love my best friend's little sister.

"Yeah," she says, "and now you're getting all awkward about it."

I smirk and kiss the top of her head. "Maybe I want my lady to give me time. Maybe I need to make some arrangements. Maybe, if you're getting the hint, you'll understand."

"I'm getting it. I think I am." She sounds giddy. "But I don't want to say it. What if I'm wrong?"

"It involves rings and—"

"No, don't spoil the surprise."

I laugh and kiss her again, feeling intoxicated. "It can't be a surprise. I knew the second I saw you on that road that you

were the woman for me. I didn't have to think about it. Now, I'm more certain than I've ever been about anything."

"What? Because we had sex, and I was, frankly, a ten out of ten?"

"You're a ten out of ten, all right," I say passionately, "but just for me."

"Of course. Always. Whenever I say stuff like that, I only mean for you."

"I like reminding you," I smirk, squeezing her shoulder. "I like you knowing that you're my lady. Just mine."

"If I'm right about what I was thinking..."

"I think you are."

She tightens her hand against my chest. "Then my answer would be—"

"Don't say it," I tell her. "Don't spoil the surprise."

She laughs softly. "Do you really think there's going to be a surprise?"

"Every day with you is a surprise," I tell her. "Every smile. Hell, every moment. Everything we do, it's a surprise. How perfect it is. How perfect *you* are."

"Thanks for being so nice to her, man," imaginary Ryan says. "Thanks for taking care of her."

Silently, I reply that I always will, and soon, I'll tell him in person.

CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX

K ayla

We ride across Nebraska together, the yellow prairies stretching around us, reminding me of the first time we came here. It's been two weeks since the road trip, since the war, and since Ryan gave us his blessing.

That's two weeks of Kai and me being together openly, without Ryan, the club, or anybody judging. It's been the brightest two weeks of my life, waking in my man's arms, sometimes in the morning so we can start the day together. Or in the middle of the night, when I can listen to his heartbeat.

The war's over. We won. The town is returning to normal—the Titans watching over, keeping the peace, and nobody more than my Kai.

Ryan is slowly getting better. He's walking with a cane now. The injury is healing, and there's no sign of infection. Every time he sees me and Kai together, he smiles. The other day, I heard him and Kai talking in the kitchen. I wasn't eavesdropping, exactly. All the doors were open, and I was upstairs. Anyway, it's stuff Ryan has said to me before.

"It was weird at first, seeing you kiss her, but the weirdest part, Kai, is how *not weird* it seems. I look at you, and I see two people in love. I see a couple. Nobody would question that you belong together. That's the part that freaks me out."

"How *not* freaky it is?" Kai said, and I could hear the smile in his voice.

He's been smiling far more than he used to ever since he had his talk with Ryan.

Now, we're returning from Illinois. Parting with Dad's watch was painful, but I know why Ryan wanted to do it. The Emily Dickinson book is worth a lot of money, enough to make a real contribution to our family. Kai wanted to go sooner, but I said I had to stay behind until Ryan was healthier.

Kai comes to a slow stop at the side of the road.

"Why have we stopped?" I ask as butterflies dance in my belly.

After our first time, he hinted about a proposal. I'm almost certain that's what he was talking about. Since then, he's given no sign that was it, and I haven't pushed him. It's been simply enough being together, but now, those feelings return, flurrying through me.

We step off the bike. Kai removes his helmet, his messy hair bobbing around his head. He's been working out a lot lately, sometimes after we have sex. He does naked pushups as I watch him. It's making him fill out his leather jacket even more, everything bulging, swelling.

I take off my helmet and toss my hair out.

"K-Kai?"

"I think this is the exact spot," he says, a warm smile on his lips.

I'm already close to tears. Please, let me be right.

"I think it might be."

"The place we told each other," he says passionately. "The place we learned, hell, we're both crazy."

"You're damn right we are," I say, smiling widely, my cheeks aching with all the love bursting out.

"Here," he says. I almost scream when he reaches into his pocket, expecting the ring box, but it's a small package. "Open

I peel away the brown paper. My heart shudders. It's Dad's pocket watch.

"But I've got the book in my bag," I whisper. "I thought we traded."

"I paid for the book. You're my lady, and you deserve to have something to remember your dad by. I've been living cheap for years. I own that old house. I've got money saved. I'll take care of you and support you in whatever you choose. I love you, Kay."

The pocket watch *tick, tick, ticks* like a heartbeat, and I wonder if I've heard him correctly.

"I love you so much," he continues, and I know I'm hearing him right. "I wanted to wait until today. *The* day. You were such a good little sister, waiting for Ryan to get better."

"I love you too," I say, moving closer to him.

He raises his hand, trembling, his smile twitching. "If I kiss you now, I won't be able to stop. First, I must tell you that you're the most beautiful, kindest, strongest woman I've ever met—the best person I've ever met. After what happened at the gas station, you recovered. You focused on your brother. On *us*."

My thoughts flash back to the sudden violence. "You're strong, Kai. After what they forced you to do..."

I don't know all the details of the days following the standoff, only that the other men look at Kai like he's some kind of god. There's an aura around him, dark and broody, that tells the entire world he's not a man to be messed with.

"It's behind us now," he says, reaching into his pocket again. "I only care about the future."

He lowers himself to one knee, making me scream, with nobody around to hear. I cover my mouth with my hands, leaping up and down.

"Kayla Lewis..." He opens the ring box, showing a large, glittering rock and a sparkling white gold band. "Will you

marry me?"

"Yes," I yell. "Oh my God, yes, a million times... yes, yes, yes."

He laughs, smiling, looking almost boyish as he takes the ring from the box and guides it toward my finger.

All around us, the landscape glistens, bright golden. Yet it's pale compared to the love shining inside me, whelming until nothing else exists. There's only this moment, the cold metal of the ring against my finger, his lips as we kiss, embracing like...

We never want to let go,

Alone together always.

Because we are one, just us,

Existing as the world stands still.

I'm crying as we kiss, holding him tighter, knowing I'll relive this moment a thousand times.

EPILOGUE

K ai

"Is that all you got?" Ryan says, laughing as I jab the heavy bag.

He's standing behind it, steadying it. He's far healthier than he was just one month ago. The world seems different from before the road trip, brighter somehow, though summer's nearing its end. There's this light inside me, making laughter come easier.

The memories of the forest, all that hell, the bloodshed, and the violence. It all fades away as I chuckle and toss Ryan a wink. It's sheer joy just being here with my best friend as my fiancée checks on the lasagna inside the house. It feels so perfect, especially with the sun setting.

"Take it easy," I tell Ryan.

He grins, walking around the bag and leaning against my garden fence. It's freshly painted, and I've arranged some flowerpots around the edge. Since my woman moved in, I've got much more motivation to make the place look good.

"I feel fine," he says. "Healthier than a horse."

"That's because you're not human," I tease. "That shot would've killed most men."

"No, Kai," he says, shaking his head.

"It would have. Trust me."

"No, you're right, but I didn't survive because I'm tough. That's not how injuries work, and you know it. I was lucky. I'm here. I get to witness this."

"You sound drunk."

Ryan grins, taking his beer from the ground and waving a casual toast before sipping. "Maybe a little," he chuckles, "but I mean it. Every time I come here, I'm so happy you found each other."

"It's so surreal hearing you say that," I reply, shaking my head like I always do.

I keep expecting to wake up back at the gas station. It turns out I didn't take out Randall and his criminal goon. I didn't save my woman. Instead, I'm bleeding. My soul's trying to keep me going by feeding me my perfect life, but it's real. Ryan's smile is real.

"It's the truth," he says. "I never thought I'd say it, but it is..."

He trails off, looking over my shoulder. I see my fiancée standing with an object in her hand, shaking all over, tears in her eyes. I rush to her, thinking about war and violence. Then I get closer and see the big smile on her gorgeous lips. A happy flush spreads across her face, her eyes sparkling, joy beaming from every inch of her.

"Tell me," I say, taking her hand, the one not holding the test.

"It's positive," she says, voice cracking. "We're going to be parents. Ryan, Ryan, you're going to be an uncle."

Ryan rushes over, then stops, looking at me as if I'll resent him being part of this moment. I wrap my arm around him and pull him into a hug. The three of us embrace. Kay's crying softly, my eyes stinging as I think about our son or daughter. The start to the life I wanted the first time I saw her on that dusty road, framed by sunlight.

EPILOGUE

B aby Fletcher

"I'm not a baby anymore, Uncle Ryan."

I wrap my arms around Uncle Ryan's big, strong body. He's so big and sturdy and carries me around pretty good. We're going to the best place ever, the garage. My little sister is sleeping, not my *first* little sister, Jasmin. She's the new one, the crying one, baby Lola.

Lola is very cute and cries and eats a lot. Mommy and Daddy say I was like Lola, but I tried to get in her crib once, and it didn't work very good.

"Okay, big man Fletcher, then. How does that sound?"

I laugh at Uncle Ryan's funny voice. We're walking past the park, and lots of people stop to say hello and tell me I'm cute. They also say hello to Uncle Ryan and talk about motorbikes and stuff like that. I like the sunshine and the clouds, so I look at them, but not right at the sun. That's a baby move, and I'm big man Fletcher now.

"Uncle Ryan, do you like me or Lola or... or Jasmin more?"

My sister's name was really hard to say once, but it isn't so bad now.

Uncle Ryan laughs. It's so cool to get him to laugh like that. "Still trying to get me on this question, eh, kid?"

"Big man Fletcher!" I remind him.

"Sorry, sorry. Big man Fletcher."

"Is it 'cause Lola is the smallest and cutest and cries a lot?"

"All of you are miracles, Fletch. That's the thing. I look at you, and I see my dad's eyes. I see Kai in you, too. I see my little sister. It's the same with all of you, little pieces of our family."

"But why m-m-m..."

"Miracles?"

"Yeah!"

"When you're older, you'll learn about how your mom and dad met. You'll learn things that make you wonder how they ended up together. You'll see why I think it's a miracle. They had every reason to fail, but look at them now, Fletch."

We walk around the corner. The garage is just right there! Uncle Ryan is still talking, but I'm mostly looking at the cool, shiny bikes and how big the wheels are. There are all these cool big men with their beards and arms all inky with the needle that Daddy used on his arm ink, too.

Uncle Ryan says, "Little sis is earning money as a poet. Do you have any idea how hard that is? And ever since he proposed, Kai's been a fiend for the business side of the club. He's franchised our brand to garages all over the state, let alone the county. He's making us all rich without... ah, the other stuff."

My smile is getting bigger and bigger and bigger and, yep, bigger when we walk into the main garage, the stinky area with the oil and the metal. It's like I'm inside a big, giant metal monster machine.

"All while raising a family," Uncle Ryan says, putting me down. He ruffles my hair and grins. "You didn't hear a word I said, did you?"

I put a big, big smile on my face. "Yeah, Uncle Ryan, I did."

"Oh, so you know I asked you what bike you want to sit on first, huh?"

I'm getting all bubbly inside. That's what Mommy says. You feel bubbles when something really cool is going to happen, but you have to, uh, stay... calm. Stay calm so the bubbles don't pop, and you can have all the fun.

"Yes, Uncle Ryan."

He chuckles, scooping me into his arms.

EPILOGUE

K ayla

Fletcher paces up and down in front of my tall French windows.

Since having six kids, we've moved into the growing suburbs one town over. We're still within riding distance, meaning the kids always see their uncle, aunt, and cousins.

I smile as I watch Fletcher pacing. He seems like he's becoming a young man now, with his thoughtfully knitted eyebrows and wavy black hair reminding me of his dad's. However, Kai's is turning more deliciously silver by the year.

When we told Fletcher he didn't have to choose between bikes and poetry, it was like a spark lit in him. "I'm going to be like one of those warrior poets, Mom. You'll see. Tough and smart and sensitive. Can a man be all those things?"

Just then, his dad walked in. The old Kai might've said no, might've said a man has to seal parts of himself away, but Kai is tough and sensitive in equal measure.

He can bring the beast out in him, the Titan, especially in the bedroom. When he spanks me and tells me I'm naughty for my crush, I feel the savage. When he holds me gently or quietly climbs out of bed when our youngest, Kayleigh, starts to cry, I feel the soft, comforting warmth.

"What if I can't think of an opening line?" Fletcher says, running a hand through his hair. "What, Mom?"

I grin. "You remind me of your dad when you do that."

Fletcher goes to the window and sticks his head out. Kai is in the pool with the kids. We'll join them in a few minutes after I've helped Fletcher with his homework. "Dad, Mom said I'm more handsome than you!"

"She said *what*?" I hear Kai roar in the pretend monster voice our youngest kids love. Then I hear their beautiful, precious giggling, their laughter that brings with it a thousand moments of motherhood.

"Speak from the heart," I tell Fletcher once he's turned back to me, a mischievous smile on his face.

Fletcher runs his hand through his hair again. "I'm like a... uh, lonely bike, always riding. Then I met you, and my heart, it stopped hiding. I've got a passenger now and, uh, its name is... love. Mom?"

"Keep going," I whisper.

"Its name is love. There's no brighter light than us. Mom, you're crying."

"It's just... How did I make you? It's brilliant, Fletch. Really."

He walks over to me, leaning down—already so tall—and wraps his arms around me. "I love you, Mom."

"I love you too."

THE END

Want more? Check out my latest release Kidnapped By My Mom's Ex <u>here</u>, or subscribe to my newsletter <u>here</u> to get a free, new, original story and stay up to date.

TOP READS

Looking for your next read? Here are my top 10 reads:

1) Kidnapped By My Mom's Ex

2) Kidnapped by My Best friend's Dad

3) Texting My Mom's Ex

4) Hot for My Step-Uncle

5) Crushing on The Billionaire

6) Kidnapped by My Dad's Best Friend

7) Texting The Tattooist

8) The Accidental Text

9) Crushing on My Brother's Best Friend

10) Stealing The Bratva Bride

Turn the page to get a sneak peek of Kidnapped By My Mom's Ex>

KIDNAPPED BY MY MOM'S EX

Lena

I sit on the couch, the note in my hands, the note that basically tells me they're going to kill my mom. They don't come right out and say it, whoever these assholes are, but I get the message.

We need your daddy's wallet, or you can say goodbye to Mommy. We will send a courier tomorrow at six p.m. to collect the wallet.

The message is written in jagged, almost angry handwriting. They're talking to me like I'm a kid, some scared twenty-one-year-old coward who will bend the second I see this, but I don't even know what they mean. I run my thumb over the words *daddy's wallet*.

I look around at the middle-class living room. The window looks out onto the suburbs. It's a Saturday morning, and a few children are riding their bikes on the street, making that part of me ache, the one that always longs for a family. But I can't think about that now.

This place, the expensive coffee table, the fancy wallpaper, it's all new. We moved in two years ago, five years after Dad died in a plane crash. The crash has been turned into a Netflix show since then. It was a huge tragedy for the world, but it obliterated Mom. She cried all day and night. In our neighborhood, we had to find a way to make money, not just to pay rent but because we were robbed, too.

I stepped up. I worked illegally, cash-in-hand jobs. I tied my hair up in a cap and wore overalls to the warehouse and hoped none of them noticed or cared I was a girl, a *teenage* girl. I had to grow up fast. Then, just like that, we were in a new world—this suburban paradise. I'd always assumed Mom's ex had given her the money. Just before we moved, she'd had a brief month-long relationship with a rich kingpin-type guy, Jamie King. I get the sense this type of cash is nothing to him.

With his dark hair, his strong jaw, those sharp blue eyes, and that smirk on his lips when he glanced my way as if he liked what he saw... No, I can't think about him, either. Although, I might have to call him. The cops were reluctant to register my mom as a missing person. Mom had a girls' trip to Vegas but was supposed to return the day before last. They probably assumed she was on a bender. This note would change their mind, but what if the kidnappers somehow find out?

I stand and grit my teeth. I have to know if Jamie's the one who gave Mom the cash for us to live here. My skin shivers just thinking about him, which is distracting and *not* what I should be doing.

I remember walking into the warehouse, the man laughing at me when I asked for a job and giving me one almost as a joke. Then, the look in his eyes months later when I worked hard and never missed a shift. Not that I liked the work, but I proved myself.

I don't know who's taken my mom. I don't know what they mean by my dad's *wallet*, but I've got a theory. If Jamie didn't pay for this place, then something to do with dad's *wallet* did, whatever that ultimately means. That's why people do things. I learned that the first time somebody broke into our house and took my battered old MP3 player. People are driven by money.

Walking into the foyer, I flip through Mom's address book. She was weirdly proud when she bought this chic table and the leather-bound address book, though she had a cell and had never used an address book before. It was just nice to see her smile. When she told me a barefaced lie about some distant uncle leaving her the money—she actually said this—I turned

off the critical part of my mind. I just accepted it to see her smile. Maybe that was a mistake.

When I find Jamie's number, a tight feeling grips me. I almost feel my legs getting weak. It was so hard not to stare at him the few times he and Mom were around the house together or when he came to pick her up in that ominous black car with the tinted windows.

He was always wearing a sharp suit, his dark hair combed back, old-fashioned, with streaks of silver in it. He had an expensive, shiny watch on his wrist, wearing it casually as he leaned against the car as if nothing mattered. I wanted to run out there and touch the top of his chest, where he'd left a couple of buttons undone.

But nope. My hands are shaking. I'm sitting on the bottom step, I realize. I've stumbled over here. Dammit, this is stupid. I'm on the verge of tears. Mom's missing, and here I am, thinking about her ex.

I take a few moments to gather myself, breathing slowly. Returning to the book, I pick it up, typing Jamie's number into my cell. I don't press *call* right away. I'm terrified I will say something I don't mean to. We never spoke much, literally just *hey* and *hello*.

No, it's time to get it together. Mom could be anywhere, held by anyone. I need to check this clue off the list.

>One-click Professor Ink

NEWSLETTER

Get a free, new, original story NOW by joining my mailing list and staying subscribed.

CLICK HERE >> Get a FREE book now

A MAN WHO KNOWS WHAT HE WANTS

Book 1: Baby Lust

- Book 37: SEAL's Justice
- Book 38: Royal Romance
- Book 39: Doctor Mountain Man's Special Delivery
- Book 40: Crocodile Dan D
- Book 41: Mountain Man's Secret Baby
- Book 42: Doctor Bad Boy's Secret Baby
- Book 43: Cop's Babysitter
- Book 44: Nanny for the Cop Next Door
- Book 45: Small Town SEAL's Saving Grace
- Book 46: Cop's Fake Fiancée
- Book 47: Billionaire's Nanny
- Book 48: Cowboy's Babysitter
- Book 49: Steamy
- Book 50: Brother's Best Friend
- Book 51: Possessive Professor
- Book 52: Firefighter's Babysitter
- Book 53: Soldier's Secret Baby
- Book 54: Ward's Independence Day
- Book 55: Doctor Next Door
- Book 56: Possessive Policeman
- Book 57: Coached by the MMA Fighter
- Book 58: Boss's Babysitter
- Book 59: Virgin in New York
- Book 60: Rock Star's Baby
- **Book 61: Possessive Protector**
- Book 62: Possessive Australian
- Book 63: Best Friend's Brother
- Book 64: Possessive Cowboy
- Book 65: Summer Romanced
- **Book 66: Possessive Prince**
- Book 67: Lovers's Enemy
- Book 68: Cop's Best Friend
- Book 69: Possessive Firefighter
- Book 70: Football Next Door
- Book 71: Doctor December
- Book 72: Possessive Canadian
- Book 73: Blue Collar Billionaire
- Book 74: Possessive K-9 Cop

Book 77: Possessive Boston Irish American MMA Fighter
Book 78: Halloween Next Door
Book 79: Possessive Russian
Book 80: Baseball Mine
Book 81: Cop's Caribbean Captive
Book 82: Instalove Island
Book 83: Dad's Best Friend
Book 84: Thanksgiving with Dad's Boss
Book 85: Possessive Italian Neighbor
Book 86: Possessive Portuguese
Book 87: Possessive Christmas Cop
Book 88: Russian's Obsession
Book 89: Possessive Doctor's Christmas
Book 90: Possessive Parisian Pilot
Book 91: U.K. Boxing Day
Book 92: Jealous Russian Stalker
Book 93: Italian Mountain Man
Book 94: Aggressive Russian
Book 95: Possessive Valentine
Book 96: Possessive Hunter
Book 97: Dad's Russian Mafia Friend
Book 98: Russian Teacher
Book 99: Australian Obsession
Book 100: Russian Next Door
Book 101: Dad's Irish Friend
Book 102: Nanny for the Russian Mafia
Book 103: Best Friend's Dad
Book 104: Basketball Babymaker
Book 105: Possessive Veterinarian
Book 106: Brother's Fireman Friend
Book 107: Brother's Canadian Cowboy Friend
Book 108: Summer Vacation with Dad's Best Friend
Book 109: Dad's Italian Mafia Friend
Book 110: Dad's Irish Mafia Friend
Book 111: Dad's Football Friend
Book 112: Possessing His Dancing Queen

Book 75: Possessive Brazilian

Book 76: Hockey Obsession

	Book 113	3: Brother	's Cor	Friend
--	----------	------------	--------	--------

Book 114: Halloween With Dad's Best Friend

Book 115: Claimed By Her Boss

Book 116: Possessive Rider

Book 117: Dad's Ex-Biker Buddy

Book 118: Possessive Undercover Cop

Book 119: Falling For Her Boss

Book 120: Claiming His Fashionista

Book 121: More Than Dad's Best Friend

Book 122: Thanksgiving With Dad's Best Friend

Book 123: Bossy Italian

Book 124: Christmas With Dad's Mafia Friend

Book 125: Maid For The Italian Mafia

Book 126: Nutcracker

Book 127: Cowboy Cerrone

Book 128: Chef's Kiss

Book 129: Claimed By The Russian

Book 130: Bought By The Italian Mafia

Book 131: Hot Nerd

Book 132: Dad's Italian Mafia Boss

Book 133: Mine

Book 134: Taken By The Thief

Book 135: Curves Ahead

Book 136: Her Mafia Valentine

Book 137: Doctor Valentine

Book 138: Maid For The Irish Mafia

Book 139: Winning Her Curves

Book 140: Dad's Cartel Best Friend

Book 141: Dad's Greek Mafia Friend

Book 142: Lawyer's Obsession

Book 143: Attending Her Curves

Book 144: Maid for the Russian Mafia

Book 145: Priest

Book 146: Claimed By Dad's Best Friend

Book 147: His Curvy Office Obsession

Book 148: Easter with Dad's Best Friend

Book 149: Veterinarian's Obsession

Book 150: Curves For Her Older Boss

- Book 151: Mob Lawyer's Curves
- Book 152: Maid For The Doctor Next Door
- Book 153: Possessive Forest Ranger
- Book 154: Nurse For The Russian Mafia
- Book 155: Dad's Fireman Friend
- Book 156: Russian Mountain Man
- Book 157: Possessive Italian Doctor
- Book 158: Dad's EMT Best Friend
- Book 159: Claimed By The Publisher
- Book 160: Mr. CEO
- Book 161: His Curvy Castaway Obsession
- Book 162: Claiming His Reunion Obsession
- Book 163: Claimed By Dad's College Friend
- Book 164: Dad's Detective Best Friend
- Book 165: Attending The Russian Mafia
- Book 166: Dad's Biker Best Friend
- Book 167: My Dad's Russian Mafia Friend
- Book 168: Possessive Landlord
- Book 169: Gardener For The Mafia
- Book 170: Possessive Fighter
- Book 171: Claiming Her Sweet Curves
- Book 172: Possessive Camp Counselor
- Book 173: Claimed By Dad's Italian Best Friend
- Book 174: Possessive Neighbor
- Book 175: 4th of July With Dad's Best Friend
- Book 176: Claimed By Her Enemy
- Book 177: Bodyguard's Obsession
- Book 178: Falling For The Player
- Book 179: Possessive Alpha Cop
- Book 180: Her CEO
- Book 181: Falling For Her Dad's Boss
- Book 182: MMA Fighter's Obsession
- Book 183: Possessive Lawyer
- Book 184: Claimed by the British Rockstar
- Book 185: Summer Obsession
- Book 186: Paris with Dad's Best Friend
- Book 187: Claimed by the Possessive Fireman
- Book 188: Possessive Trucker

Book 189: Falling for Dad's Enemy

Book 190: His Undercover Maid

Book 191: Her Innocent CEO

Book 192: Bratva Boss's Babysitter

Book 193: Sold to the Bratva Boss

Book 194: My Dad's Best Friend

Book 195: His Cabin Obsession

Book 196: Driver's Obsession

Book 197: His Unexpected Love

Book 198: London with Dad's Best Friend

Book 199: Hot Neighbor

Book 200: Maid for the Hollywood Heartthrob

Book 201: The CEO and the Wedding Planner

Book 202: Claimed by the Italian

Book 203: Dad's CEO Boss

Book 204: The Mob and His Messenger

Book 205: Rome with Dad's Best Friend

Book 206: Haunted by Her Curves

Book 207: Her Vampire

Book 208: Bidding for Her Curves

Book 209: Claiming His Student

Book 210: CEO's Dog Trainer Obsession

Book 211: Pool Girl

Book 212: Possessive Writer

Book 213: Maid for the Mafia Informant

Book 214: Thankful for Him

Book 215: Madrid with Dad's Best Friend

Book 216: My Best Friend's Dad

Book 217: Taming Her Beast

Book 218: All I Want For Christmas is You

Book 219: Falling for His Captive

Book 220: My Christmas Carol

Book 221: Preacher's Daughter

Book 222: Her Hitman

Book 223: Claimed by Her Best Friend's Dad

Book 224: My Roommate's Dad

Book 225: His To Claim

Book 226: Matchmaker Backfire

Book	227:	Saved	<u>by</u>	the	<u>Hitman</u>

Book 228: Valentine's with My Best Friend's Dad

Book 229: Lost and Found

Book 230: Electing For Her Curves

Book 231: Barcelona with Dad's Best Friend

Book 232: Claiming His Forever

Book 233: Hearts On Campus

Book 234: Intern for My Best Friend's Dad

Book 235: Paris with the Billionaire

Book 236: Open Heart (Dr. Love)

Book 237: Meet Me In Monaco

Book 238: Maid for the Hitman

Book 239: My Best Friend's Navy SEAL Dad

Book 240: Groomed For Love

Book 241: Model for the Mob

Book 242: Vegas with Dad's Best Friend

Book 243: Goldie Locks

Book 244: Driving the Mob

Book 245: Hollywood Hearts

Book 246: Caring for the Bratva

Book 247: Dr. Good

Book 248: Curves, He Wrote

Book 249: Picture Perfect Love

Book 250: Ranger Ben

Book 251: His Princess

Book 252: Down Under With Dad's Best Friend

Book 253: Falling For Dad's College Rival

Book 254: Dear Soldier

Book 255: His Shooting Star

Book 256: Malta with My Best Friend's Dad

Book 257: Not My Neighbor

Book 258: Trapped with My Best Friend's Dad

Book 259: Love in London

Book 260: Crashing into Love

Book 261: My Protector

Book 262: The Inheritance Clause

Book 263: Claimed by the Hollywood Heartthrob

Book 264: Never the Bride

Book 265: Dear Mr. Author

Book 266: Lessons From My Best Friend's Dad

Book 267: Fit For Me

Book 268: Loving Dad's Best Friend

Book 269: His Little Stowaway

Book 270: Date for the Boss

Book 271: Dear Mr. Hunk

Book 272: The Dare

Book 273: Gamer Love

Book 274: Unexpected Love

Book 275: Not My Romance

Book 276: My Ex's Dad

Book 277: Claimed By The Best Man

Book 278: Wrong Car, Right Guy

Book 279: The Accidental Text

Book 280: His Next Trick

Book 281: My Dad's Rival

Book 282: Rock My Love

Book 283: Inked By My Best Friend's Dad

Book 284: My Heart

Book 285: Mr. Judge

Book 286: Developing Her Curves

Book 287: The Love Boat

Book 288: My Sister's Man

Book 289: Falling For My Dad's Friend

Book 290: Tell Me Everything

Book 291: No Complaints

Book 292: Miss Taken Identity

Book 293: Texting the CEO

Book 294: Inn Love

Book 295: Taking Care of the Mobster

Book 296: Creamed

Book 297: My Brother's Best Man

Book 298: Loan Shark Love

Book 299: The Forbidden Man

Book 300: Burning For Him

Book 301: Texting My Dad's Best Friend

Book 302: The Man in The Painting

Book 303: Falling for the Photographer

Book 304: Crushing on My Dad's Best Friend

Book 305: Taming the Playboy

Book 306: High Roller

Book 307: Sleepover with My Best Friend's Dad's

Book 308: Wrong Place, Perfect Time

Book 309: Tempting to Touch

Book 310: Her Scent

Book 311: Dirty Talk with My Dad's Best Friend

Book 312: Loving the Scot

Book 313: Becoming His Cowgirl

Book 314: Forgetting Christmas

Book 315: Puppy Madness

Book 316: He Loves Me Lots

Book 317: Crushing On My Brother's Best Friend

Book 318: Claimed By The Detective

Book 319: Playing For Keeps

Book 320: Claimed By The Killer

Book 321: Falling for My Mom's Boss

Book 322: Kidnapped By My Dad's Best Friend

Book 323: The Australian's Obsession

Book 324: Hot For My Step-Uncle

Book 325: My Forbidden Crush

Book 326: Crushing on The Billionaire

Book 327: Kidnapped by My Best Friend's Dad

Book 328: The English Billionaire's Obsession

Book 329: Stealing the Bratva Bride

Book 330: Falling for My Dad's Killer

Book 331: Claimed by Mr. Ice

Book 332: Kidnapped By My Mom's Ex

Book 333: Riding My Brother's Best Friend

BRATVA BEAR SHIFTERS

Book 1: Dad's Russian Mafia Bear Best Friend

Book 2: Babysitter For Dad'd Russian Mafia Bear Friend

Book 3: Dad's Bratva Bear Friend

LAIRDS & LADIES

Book 1: Possessive Highlander

Book 2: Taken By The Highlander

Book 3: Highlander Alpha

RUSSIAN UNDERWORLD

Book 1: Brooklyn Bratva

Book 2: British Bratva

Book 3: Bratva Billionaire

Book 4: Bratva Babysitter

Book 5: Bratva Boss

IRISH WOLF SHIFTERS

Book 1: Dad's Irish Wold Shifter Friend

Book 2: Claimed By The Irish Wolf Shifter

Book 3: Claimed By The Enemy

INKED BY LOVE

Book 1: Inked by My Best Friend's Dad

Book 2: Inked by the Mafia Man

Book 3: Inked For Life

Book 4: Inked by My Sister's Ex

Book 5: Marked By Ink

Book 6: Inking The Billionaire

Book 7: Inking the Solider

Book 8: Inking My Crush

TEXT ME YOU LOVE ME

Book 1: The Accidental Text

Book 2: Texting The CEO

Book 3: Texting My Dad's Best Friend

Book 4: Texting My Dad's Best Man

Book 5: Texting My Hot Tutor

Book 6: Texting Mr. Hollywood

Book 7: Texting The Tattooist

Book 8: Texting My Mom's Ex

COLLABORATIONS

- *Alpha's Arms (Makes My Heart Race Book 7)
- *Winter Kisses: An Instalove Possessive Holiday Romance
- *Her Ride (Men of Valor MC)
- *Ringing His Bells: A Filthy Dirty Christmas

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Follow my Amazon Author page for more
A Man Who Knows What He Wants
and other series

CLICK HERE >> Flora Ferrari Author Page

